
PENSION COMMITTEE
10.00 am

FRIDAY 18 JUNE 2021

REMOTE MEETING PAPERS





PENSION COMMITTEE
TIME: 10.00 am
DATE: Friday 18 June 2021
VENUE: Remote Meeting 

A G E N D A

ITEM TOPIC CONTACT

1.  Apologies Andrea Griffiths

2.  Appointment of Chairperson Andrea Griffiths

3.  Appointment of Vice Chairperson Andrea Griffiths

4.  Declarations of Interest - Andrea Griffiths
Members of the Committee are invited to declare any financial or 
pecuniary interest related to specific matters on the agenda.

5.  Public Questions - Andrea Griffiths
To answer any written questions about matters that are within the 
powers and duties of the Committee. The closing date/time for the 
receipt of questions is 10.00am on 11th June 2021.  Please email 
any questions to Andrea Griffiths, Democratic Services Officer 
Email: andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk

6.  Members' Questions - 
To answer any written members’ questions. The closing date/time 
for the receipt of questions is 10.00am on 11th June 2021.  
Please email any questions to Andrea Griffiths, Democratic 
Services Officer Email: andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Andrea Griffiths

7.  Minutes - (Pages 1 - 10) Andrea Griffiths
To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 
5th March 2021.

8.  Gloucestershire Pension Fund Quarterly Update - Part 1 
(Pages 11 - 78)

Matthew Trebilcock

That the Committee notes in accordance with the regulations, the 
Funds position as at 31 March 2021 and the performance of the 
investments.

mailto:andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.griffiths@gloucestershire.gov.uk


9.  Risk Register (Pages 79 - 94) Matthew Trebilcock
That the Committee note the changes to the risk register.

10.  Governance Review (Pages 95 - 166) Matthew Trebilcock
The Committee is asked to consider the report recommendation.  

11.  Exclusion of the press and public Chairperson
Resolved

 That in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 the public be excluded from the 
meeting for the following agenda items, because it is likely 
that if members of the public were present there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in 
paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the 
public interest in withholding the information outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information to the public.

12.  Exempt Minutes (Pages 167 - 178) Andrea Griffiths
To approve as a correct record the exempt minutes of the 
meetings held on 5th March 2021.

13.  Gloucestershire Pension Fund Quarterly Update - Part 2 
(Pages 179 - 198)

Matthew Trebilcock

The Committee is asked to note the detailed performance reports 
and Fund governance update.

NOTES

(a) MEMBERSHIP – Cllr Matt Babbage, Cllr Mark Mackenzie-Charrington, 
Cllr Alan Preest, Cllr Wendy Thomas, Cllr Colin Hay, Cllr Lynden Stowe and 
Cllr David Brown

COOPTEES -   Peter Clark and Cllr David Gray

(b) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification 
about whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the 
Monitoring Officer: Rob Ayliffe 01452 328506 /e-mail: 
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk prior to the commencement of the meeting. 

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

PENSION COMMITTEE
MINUTES of the meeting of the Pension Committee held on Friday 5 March 2021 
commencing at 10.00 am.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Shaun Parsons
Cllr Lynden Stowe
Cllr Ray Theodoulou

Cllr David Brown
Peter Clark
Cllr David Gray

Apologies: Cllr Rachel Smith

In Attendance: Matthew Trebilcock (Head of Pensions), Paul Blacker (Director of 
Finance), John Arthur (Independent Adviser), Julie West (Hymans) 
Daniel Kanaris (AON), Karen McWilliam (AON) and Andrea Griffiths 
(DSU). 

1. ANNOUNCEMENTS 

It was noted that this was last meeting of the Pension Committee under the current 
administration. The Chairman wished to thank all members of the Committee and 
Officers who had participated with great goodwill over the past four years.  

Cllr Stowe on behalf of the Committee wished to place on record, the Committee’s 
thanks for Cllr Theodoulou’ s chairmanship over a number of years. He felt that Cllr 
Theodoulou had done a wonderful job of chairing the Pension Committee and his 
knowledge and expertise had placed the Pension Fund in a much better position, 
than it was 12 years ago.  In addition, he was also Chair of the Brunel Oversight 
Board and this was very much a testament to his personal skill set and his 
dedication to this Committee.  Cllr Stowe added that he would be a tough act to 
follow as a Pension Committee Chairman.  

Cllr Parsons agreed with Cllr Stowe and added that Cllr Theodoulou’ s skill set was 
shown in the fact that the Pension Fund was now in a very good situation, 
compared to the deficit position when he first arrived.  He thanked the Chairman for 
his efforts.  

Cllr Hay concurred with the previous comments and added that it had been a great 
and interesting committee to be a member off and it was helped by good 
chairmanship and he appreciated Cllr Theodoulou skills.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

Peter Clark wished to extend his thanks to Chairman, as he had made it very easy 
for a non expert, non councillor to be involved in the Pension Committee meeting 
and had always allowed questions no matter how foolish.  

The Chairman thanked the Committee for their kind words.  

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST - 

No declarations of interest were made

3. PUBLIC QUESTIONS - 

The following question was submitted by Chloe Turner and the Head of Pensions 
provided the response on the Committee’s behalf: 

“Question: What steps are the Committee taking to persuade the Brunel Pension 
Partnership to divest of its remaining 2.9% investment in fossil fuel related assets?

Reply: The Gloucestershire Pension Fund aims to deliver stronger investment 
returns over the long term, protecting our interests through contributing to a more 
sustainable and resilient financial system, which supports sustainable economic 
growth and a thriving society.  

The Brunel Pension Partnership manages the investment of the assets of the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund, in conjunction with nine other Funds in the South 
West of England. As such, Brunel will own and maintain a Responsible Investment 
and Stewardship Policy on behalf of their clients.

The current Brunel policy on Engagement & Divestment states:

‘On the issue of divestment, Brunel supports divestment from specific fossil fuel and 
other carbon-intense companies, if they present a material investment risk – such 
as due to ‘stranded assets’ – but this is based on analysis by our asset managers. 
Brunel expects managers to take these decisions independently.

In addition, we have committed to review this approach and, indeed, the holdings 
themselves; and to evaluate whether companies are taking steps to manage 
climate risks and to enable our overall alignment with the Paris Agreement. Brunel 
set out clear expectations for its asset managers and a deadline of 2022 for 
reviewing companies – our climate stock take is due in 2022.  The criteria to 
evaluate companies and managers is being developed with our clients. It will take 
into account different investment mandates and starting points, but always with 
reference to Paris alignment.

We chose not to use exclusion lists with our active managers.  Instead, we require 
them to analyse the companies and other entities they invest in, and to justify their 
investments in those companies with higher greenhouse gas emissions. We do not 
currently issue exclusion lists because what is most needed is change in the way 
investment managers work. Simply enforcing exclusions, or requiring divestment 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

from specific stocks or sectors, will not compel investment managers to develop 
their capacity on climate change or to drive change in the companies they hold. 
Climate then becomes a technical operational matter, not an investment priority.
However, we acknowledge that we may need to take other action and have 
reserved the right to implement specific, and stock-specific, exclusions as part of 
our Climate Stock Take in 2022.’

The Fund supports this policy and looks forward to working in collaboration with the 
nine other Funds and Brunel on the outcomes of the Climate Stock Take in 2022.”

4. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS - 

No Members’ questions were received.  

5. MINUTES - 

The minutes of the meeting held on the 29th January 2021 were approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chairperson.  

Resolved 

That the public minutes of the meeting held on the 29th January 2021 be 
approved as a correct record.  

6. GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND QUARTERLY UPDATE - PART 1 

The Head of Pensions presented an overview of market valuations and an update 
on the performance of the Fund, as at 31 December 2020.

Members noted that by the end of the quarter the market value had increased by 
£193.4m, to £2.842bn, which is back above pre-Covid levels. It was reported that 
performance for the fund for the quarter was 7.2%, and the benchmark was 6.4%, 
therefore the fund had outperformed the benchmark by 0.8% .  It was noted that 
Appendix 1 provided the full performance figures.  The Fund returned 7.8% for the 
year which was ahead of its benchmark and over three years returned 5.9% 
annualised, which was slightly below the benchmark but was still in excess of the 
desired return.  

Appendix 2 on page 17 detailed the strategic asset allocation of the Fund as at the 
end of December 2020.  The Committee approved the new strategic asset 
allocation  at its January 2021 meeting, however this changes were not reflected in 
this analysis.  Members were advised that a more detailed update regarding the 
transition to the new strategic asset allocation  would be provided under Agenda 
Item 14.  

The report showed the position of the allocations of the underlying portfolios, it was 
explained that amber signified those actual strategic asset allocation which were 
outside of its target range.  It was noted that Global High Alpha was currently  c6% 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

over its allocation.  It was noted during the quarter, the following investment activity 
had taken place: 

- £14m investment into the Brunel UK Property Portfolio 
- £50m investment into the Brunel International Property Portfolio.  

Members were advised that Hermes EOS were appointed by the Brunel 
Partnership, to engage and apply the partnerships voting and engagement strategy.  
Page 7 to 10 of the report gave an overview of the voting statistics and the 
engagement that Hermes EOS actually undertook with companies on the Funds 
behalf.  It was noted that they had engaged with 368 companies in the quarter, over 
a range of issues, including ESG related matters.

Members questioned the term engagement, officers explained that it related to 
direct communication with members of the board and the senior management team, 
in addition discussions were followed up with correspondence.  In essence it was 
activity outside of the Annual General Meeting (AGM) and would be a meeting with 
an agenda including areas of concern.  

In terms of voting, officers explained that the majority of votes against or abstaining   
referred to resolutions like board structure and executive remuneration, etc. 
Members felt this area of the report required more context as to what the opposed 
resolutions actually related too.      

The Independent Advisor suggested that quite often voting against a resolution 
related to a combined Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (CEO) role, 
reappointment of independent directors, remuneration, or a share option scheme 
would be good examples. The Independent Advisor cited the circumstances of the 
resignation of the Chair/Chief Executive of Rio Tinto, as an example.   

Members felt it was necessary for the shareholders to have engagement and have 
qualitative discussion about the issues. The Committee agreed that Officers should 
feedback to Brunel and request more substance around the voting numbers. (MT to 
pursue with Brunel) 
 

The Committee were advised that the Fund was in a positive position at 106.9% 
funded at the quarter end.   

Julie West, Hymans Actuary gave a detailed explanation of the funding position 
calculation.  Members were informed that the funding position had improved since 
the formal valuation, liabilities had grown as the Actuary would expect with the 
accrual of new benefits.  However, assets had grown by a greater amount in the 
return over the period since the last formal valuation.  The Actuary reminded the 
Committee that it was worth noting that this was very much a snapshot in time and 
in effect a backward looking position.  

The Actuary advised Members that it was a bit early to say how things might look in 
a years time, when the next formal valuation is due.  

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

The Head of Pensions referred Members to page 12 of the report, which gave an 
update on the administration performance.  It was recognised that the Covid 
pandemic had impacted on working practices, however the Pensions Administration 
Team were still performing well.  In terms of the targets there was a slight reduction 
in some of the activities in terms of the number of estimates and number of leavers 
but this was an effect of the pandemic situation. The Head of Pensions anticipated 
numbers would increase when organisations return to normality over the next 
twelve months.   

The Committee were notified that the 95k Cap regulations had been revoked by 
Government.  It was noted that the Government still intended to apply a cap on exit 
payments and it was anticipated that new regulations would come forward in the 
summer of 2021.  

In response to a question relating to the funding chart on page 21 of the report, it 
was explained that the funding levels for March 19 to December 20, reflected the 
volatility of the funding level, on a rolled forward basis since the last formal 
valuation.  

Members required clarity on the cash flow chart, the actuary confirmed that it 
referred to projected cash flows of the benefits that the Fund is expected to pay and 
is in effect the liabilities that the actuary reported on.  The Actuary confirmed for the 
benefit of the Committee that the fund was also cashflow positive at this time..  

Members welcome the new report layout and thanked the Head of Pensions  for 
making the report more accessible to all.  In response to a question, it was 
explained that reporting  would continue to be developed and would be covered in 
the Business Plan going forward.  

Resolved
 
That the Committee noted the market value and quarterly performance of the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund as at 31 December 2020

7. RISK REGISTER 

The Head of Pensions explained that the risk register was a live document and 
therefore it was important for it to reflect the discussion carried out by the 
Committee. 

Members were informed that since the risk register was last considered by the 
Pension Committee in December 2020, a number of changes had been made, 
these were highlighted in yellow and the new narrative was shown in bold red.  

It was noted that in December the residual risk ratings for risks F1, F2 and F4 
relating to the Pension Fund investment strategy and deficit position, were 
increased due to the impact of COVID-19. Members noted that these risks had now 
returned to their previous levels based upon the current overall funding level, as 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

determined by the Actuary and the completion of the review of the Fund Equity 
Strategy as part of its Strategic Asset Allocation. 

The residual risk rating for F6 had also been increased, as this related to pay and 
inflation exposure. It was recognised that we may enter a more inflationary 
environment as a result of coming out of the Covid pandemic, but also that Officers 
undertake a review of how the Fund can mitigate that inflation risk appropriately 
through its investment strategy and its risk management strategies.  That proposed 
review would be undertaken over the next few quarters and then brought back to 
Committee with any recommendations for consideration..  The Head of Pensions 
explained that inflation exposure was one of the greatest risks that the Fund faced.   

The Independent Advisor informed the Committee that over the past few quarters 
he’d been raising the issue of inflation with the Committee. He explained the real 
issue was that the Covid pandemic had been devastating from a health and 
financial point of view for many people but actually the majority of people had got 
through unscathed and may well actually have been forced savers over the period.  
He continued to give the Committee a detailed analogy of the impact of inflation on 
the global market.  

During the discussion it was suggested that perhaps there should be a separate 
risk about pension inflation exposure across all elements of the Fund, as opposed 
to just on the investment side.  The Head of Pensions agreed to take this point 
away for review and potential inclusion in the Risk Register.  (MT Action)

It was reported that the G5 Risk had remained at a medium risk as the agreed 
additional team resources had yet to be recruited.   It was noted that the recruitment 
of the agreed resources also applied to the maintaining of Risks A/R 1.1 and 1.2 at 
a medium level at this time.  

G7 related to the loss of experience on the Pension Committee/Board and/or the 
lack of adequate training, resulting in a negative impact on governance 
arrangements within the Gloucestershire Fund.  As a result of these factors, G7 & 
G5 would be monitored due to the forthcoming elections in May 2021.  

In response to a question, the Actuary explained that it was a bit early to give a 
clear view, as on one hand life expectancy had shortened and the impacts of long 
term Covid were unclear, however there was also the other school thought that it 
could do the opposite due to increased hand washing measures, people worked at 
home more often, so to that extent there was less transmission of any disease, for 
example rates of flu this year were historically low.   

The Actuary reviews the life expectancy assumptions at each valuation and there 
were two parts to that, in what life expectancy was expected to be right now and 
what could happen if in the future.  

Resolved 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

That the Committee noted the risk register, and supported the increase and 
proposed review in relation to F6 and the reduction in residual risk ratings for 
risks F1, F2 & F4 and the continued increased position relating to residual 
risk ratings for risks G5, A/R 1.1 & 1.2.

8. REGULATORY STATEMENTS 

The Head of Pensions presented the report in detail.  Members were advised that 
the main proposed revisions to the Funding Strategy Statement (FSS) were based 
on the new Employer discretions that had been introduced and must be captured to 
enable the Fund and Employers to utilise these discretions.  In respect of the 
Investment Strategy Statement (ISS) the proposed revisions reflected the decisions 
made by Committee at its meeting on the 25th January 2021.  

The Actuary added the circumstances under which employers may request to 
review contributions in the past was quite limited, however in line with the new 
regulations it now gave more flexibility.  

In response to a question, the FSS was part of a suite of policy statements which 
the fund was required to have and took account of ESG for long term investment 
stability. It was noted that the ISS covered ESG in greater detail but also worked 
alongside the FSS.    

It was noted this work was being undertaken to update the fund's Investment 
Strategy Statement in response to the decisions the committee made in January 
2021, in respect of the equity strategy.   So the predominant change on this 
document was to the equity asset allocations table..  

In response to a question, The Head of Pensions explained once approved, the 
documents would be recirculated to employers, uploaded on the Fund website and 
included in the Funds Annual Report for 2020/21.  

Resolved 

That the Committee unanimously approved the Funding Strategy Statement 
and the Investment Strategy Statement.  

9. TRAINING STRATEGY 

The Head of Pensions explained that the training strategy had been developed in 
conjunction with Hymans Robertson to ensure that good practice had been 
identified and incorporated into the strategy.  

The Actuary advised the Committee that it was a positive step to put a training 
strategy in place, especially with a potential new Committee to be formed after the 
Council elections in May 2021.  

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

Members added that periodic refresher training would be beneficial for all members.  
It was noted that the Local Government Association (LGA) training sessions were 
useful as it enabled members to gain an outside view of other authorities.  

In terms of the pension regulator toolkit, it was noted that it was tailored more too 
private companies and that perhaps a training session with all of the Funds, which 
make up the Brunel Pension Partnership would be advantageous.  

The Head of Pensions explained that the aim of the strategy was to look at multiple 
ways of delivering training both through internal and external means.  Members 
welcomed an assessment of training needs and suggested that perhaps joint 
training with neighbouring authorities could be good practice.  

Resolved 

That the training strategy for the Gloucestershire Pension Fund be approved.  

10. GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND BUSINESS PLAN 2021/22 

The Head of Pensions presented the report in detail.  

During the discussion, members requested a more detailed breakdown of the 
budget schedule, in relation to the Investment Management Expenses.  The Head 
of Pensions agreed to circulate more detailed analysis of these expenses in due 
course.  (MT ACTION) 

Resolved 

That the Committee approved the Business Plan for 2021/22 and noted the 
current outturn position of the 2020/21 Business plan contained within the 
report.  

11. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

Resolved
 
That in accordance with Section 100 A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following agenda items, 
because it is likely that if members of the public were present there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 
of Schedule 12 A to the Act and the public interest in withholding the 
information outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information to the 
public.

At this juncture the Committee took a brief adjournment.

12. EXEMPT MINUTES 

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

The exempt minutes of the meeting held on the 29th January 2021 were approved 
as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 
Resolved
 
That the exempt minutes of the meeting held on the 29th January 2021 be 
approved as a correct record.

13. ADMISSION AGREEMENTS 

Councillor Brown declared he was a member of Gloucester City Council.  

The Head of Pensions presented the report in detail.  

Resolved 

That the Committee approved the Officer’s recommendation.  

14. GLOUCESTERSHIRE PENSION FUND QUARTERLY UPDATE - PART 2 

The Head of Pensions presented the report in conjunction with the Independent 
Adviser and gave an overview of market valuations and an update on the 
performance of the Fund, as at 31st December 2020.

Resolved
 
That the Committee noted the market value and quarterly performance of the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund as at 31st December 2020

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 12.43 pm

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Agenda Item 8 

 

Pension Committee 
18 June 2021 

 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund update – Part 1 
Quarter ending 31 March 2021 

 
Report of the Head of Pensions 

 
 

Summary 
 

This report summarises the Fund’s funding position, market value, asset allocation, 
investment performance for the quarter ending 31 March 2021.  

 

Administering authorities, under the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management 
and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 must keep under review the performance of 
their investment managers. This report fulfils this requirement. 

 

This report also summarises the Funds administration performance and activities up to the 
same period. 

 

 

Fund Performance 
 

Over the quarter to 31 March 2021, the Fund’s total market value increased by £55.378m, 
to £2,898.248m.  
 
Over the quarter, total Fund assets produced a positive return of 1.9%, compared to a 
target of 2.3%, underperforming the strategic benchmark by 0.4%. 
 
Performance over the 3 years to 31 March 2021 was 7.6% slightly behind the benchmark 
by 0.2%, with the last 12 months providing a return 3.5% ahead of the benchmark of 26.6% 
 
A detailed investment performance report is attached as Appendix 1 to this report. 
 
 
Market Commentary 
 
The opening quarter of 2021 was an eventful one from many perspectives. For financial 
markets, a big story was the bond market sell off that saw longer dated yields move notably 
higher, particularly for US Treasuries. The approval and rollout of vaccines helped underpin 
economic sentiment. Global equity markets enjoyed strong gains with the MSCI World 
Index returned 3.7% in GBP. The MSCI Emerging Markets Index trailed somewhat in rising 
1.4% in GBP as a stronger US dollar and high COVID infection rates in some regions hit 
sentiment. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 8



 

Agenda Item 8 

 

 
The UK stock market, as measured by the UK FTSE All Share (ex-Investment Trusts) index, 
gained 5.6% in GBP in Q1 as the tailwind from its well organised vaccine program helped 
offset the January/February lockdown and some lingering trade issues resulting from 
Brexit. Approximately 60% of adults have now received at least one vaccine dose. Sterling 
continued to strengthen on hopes for the economy and as the Bank of England appeared 
to rule out negative policy rates.  
 
The strong performance of Europe’s stock markets belied the deterioration in infection 
rates that necessitated an extension of restrictions on activities. Overall, the Europe (ex UK) 
Index returned 2.5% in GBP. The US equity index achieved a positive GBP total return of 
4.9%, ending Q1 2021 near its record high amid a new $1.9 trillion stimulus package and a 
rapid rollout of vaccinations. Investors favoured stocks seen as beneficiaries of faster 
economic growth; energy and financials attracted support. Markets also saw some 
turbulence as buoyant risk appetite among a cohort of investors spurred a number of 
individual stocks sharply higher and prompted some concern about ‘bubble’ valuations. 
 
Japan’s stock market advanced 1.2% in the first quarter. While the economy grew by an 
annualised 11.7% in the final quarter of 2020, Japanese GDP shrank by -4.9% for the full 
calendar year. In the wider Asia-Pacific region, the ex-Japan index was up by 2.9% in GBP 
terms.  
 
Global bonds posted losses for the first quarter as optimism for the post pandemic 
economy spurred investors away from fixed income instruments amid expectations that 
rebounding growth and the effect of stimulus measures and increasing demand could stoke 
higher inflation. Government bonds in the US and UK, countries where vaccine rollouts are 
more advanced, experienced significant sell-offs that saw yield curves steepen. The, ICE 
BofA £ non-Gilt Index, returned -4.1% over the quarter while the, FTA UK Government Bond 
5+ Year TR Index, returning -9.6% and the, FTSE UK Gilts Index Linked Government (5+ Y), 
returning -7.0%  
 
Among commodities, industrial metals and oil prices were lifted by economic optimism, 
while gold retreated against the backdrop of increased investor risk appetite and rising 
bond yields.  
 
The US dollar and British pound were among the stronger currencies, reflecting vaccination 
progress and speculation about tighter monetary policy. The euro lost 4% versus USD and 
about 5% against sterling; the Japanese yen lost about 7% on the dollar.  
 
On cash markets the UK three-month LIBOR returned 0.0%. 
 
The MSCI/AREF UK All Balanced Property Index returned 2.2% over the quarter. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



 

Agenda Item 8 

 

 
 
Investment Strategy and Activities 
 
Strategic asset allocation reflects the new strategy to be implemented as part of the 
Investment Strategy Review (approved April 2020); as a result, a number of asset classes will 
be underweight or overweight for an interim period until the portfolio is fully constructed. 
 
A detailed asset allocation report is attached as Appendix 2 to this report. 
 
During the Quarter the following investment activity took place: 
 

• Rebalancing of the Strategic Asset Allocation by reducing the allocation to the 
Brunel Global High Alpha portfolio by £135m to bring the portfolio to within its 
target allocation range, with the proceeds being allocated into the Diversified Risk 
Fund, awaiting future drawdown for the private markets allocations. The cost of this 
rebalancing was £364k, equivalent to 27bps of the value of the transaction. 

• Strategic Asset Allocation change of transitioning £168m from the LGIM Developed Equity 
Passive allocation to the Global Sustainable Portfolio to bring the portfolio towards its 
target allocation. The cost of this transition was £168k, equivalent to 10bps of the value of 
the transition. 

• Top up allocation to Brunel Private Markets portfolios to achieve strategic asset 
allocation targets, based upon anticipated cashflows: 

o Private Equity  - £10m 
o Private Debt  - £40m 
o Infrastructure - £50m 

 
 
 
Voting Statistics 
 
Hermes Equity Ownership Services (EOS) are the Partnership’s engagement and voting 
overlay provider. The following contains a summary of the voting activities undertaken in 
line with the Partnership’s policy and guidelines during the quarter, on behalf of the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund, to promote global best practices. 
 
Over the last quarter Hermes EOS made voting recommendations at 104 meetings on 1,036 
resolutions (108 meetings and 749 resolutions in the previous quarter). 
 
At 36 meetings they recommended opposing one or more resolutions, recommended 
voting with management by exception at three meetings and supported management on 
all resolutions at the remaining 65 meetings.  
 
 

Page 13



 

Agenda Item 8 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



 

Agenda Item 8 

 

 
 
The issues on which EOS recommended voting against management or abstaining on 
resolutions are shown below. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 15



 

Agenda Item 8 

 

Engagement Statistics 
 
Over the quarter, EOS engaged with 418 (368 in the previous quarter) companies held in the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund portfolios on a range of 1,409 (1,062 in the previous quarter) 
environmental, social and governance issues and objectives. 
 
 
Engagement by region 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 16



 

Agenda Item 8 

 

 
 
Engagement by theme 
 

 
 
 
Brunel Pension Partnership – Responsible Investment and Stewardship outcomes report 
2021 
 
Committee previously commented that the above information on voting and engagement, 
while useful in understanding that stewardship and voting is being undertaken, does not 
convey the effectiveness of the engagement that is being undertaken on the Funds behalf. 
As development continues on the reporting on these matters that the Committee will 
receive, attached at Appendix 3 is the 2021 Brunel Responsible Investment and Stewardship 
outcomes report. This report contains case studies and further statistical analysis which the 
Committee may find useful at this time. 
 
Brunel provide an outcomes report on an annual basis, and this report will be made available 
to Committee on an ongoing basis.  

Page 17



 

Agenda Item 8 

 

 

Funding position 
 
The past service position of the Fund has improved since 31 March 2019. This can be 
considered in two ways:  
 

• Based on a level of investment return of 4.1%, the fund currently has sufficient assets 
to pay all accrued benefits. The amount of additional assets has increased from £41m 
to £409m; or 
  

• The investment return required to have sufficient assets to pay all accrued benefits 
without further payments has decreased from 4.1% to 3.2%. The likelihood of 
achieving the required return has increased from 71% to 80%.  

 
However, prudent expectations of future investment returns have fallen from 4.2% to 4.1% 
based on the Fund’s current investment strategy (and a 70% likelihood of success). This will 
increase the cost of providing benefits that continue to be earned in the future. 

 
A detailed update on the funding position as at 31 March 2021, prepared by the Funds 
actuary, Hymans Robertson is attached as Appendix 4 to this report. 
 
 

Fund Administration 
 
The Pensions Administration Team to effectively continue to administer the Fund and pay 
accurate benefits in a timely manner, whilst retaining robust checking and authorisation 
processes, have maintained an office presence throughout the pandemic. In order to deliver 
the key services whilst protecting the health of staff, the decision was taken from the outset 
to divide the Pension Administration team into two sub teams. These teams work on a 
rotational basis of one week in the office, followed by one week working at home. 
 
Under this arrangement the management and staff of the pension administration section 
have worked through the different tasks and workloads of the section, dividing them into 
those that can be completed effectively and securely from home, and those that require an 
office presence for effective delivery. 
 
An additional step that was implemented from the outset, to further improve staff safety, 
was to separate the “in office” team across the office space of not only the Pensions Section, 
but also of a neighbouring vacant office. This has delivered an effective service whilst also 
ensuring substantial “social distancing” from the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic.  
 
It must be recognised that these current working practises are enforced due to the 
pandemic and have impacted on operational delivery. However, the steps undertaken have 
mitigated the impact on the service delivery. We will continue to monitor the balance 
between service delivery and staff safety as further restrictions are lifted. The current 
performance figures are below.  
 

Page 18



 

Agenda Item 8 

 

 
Table 1 – Summary Performance 

 
 
Table 2 – 2020/21 Performance to 31 March 2021 
 

Service 
Standards – 
Processing 
tasks within 
internal targets 

Target 
Achievement 

No. 
Processed 

No. 
processed 

on time 

Actual 
achievement 

Average 
days taken 
(averaging 
all cases) 

Average 
days taken 
(averaging 

cases 
exceeding 

target 
ONLY) 

Estimates to 
employees (15 
days) 

90% 534 482 90% 9 not 
available 

Retirements 
and lump sums 
(15 days) 

90% 872 701 80% 12 19 

Refunds Paid 
(15 days) 

90% 424 395 93% 10 20 

Death Grants 
Paid (8 days) 

90% 89 62 70% 10 17 

2020/21 
Annual Benefits 
Statements 
issued within 
the statutory 
deadline 

100% N/A N/A N/A N/A 100% see 
note 1 

“Transfers Out” 
Paid (15 days) 

90% 136 132 97% 6 22 

 

 

Service Target  2017/18 
(Actual) 

2018/19 
(Actual) 

2019/20 
(Actual) 

2020/21 to 
31/03/2021 

Estimates to employees 
(15 days) 

90% 85% 96% 98% 90% 

Retirements and lump 
sums (15 days) 

90% 75% 69% 61% 80% 

Refunds Paid (15 days) 90% 96% 98% 99% 93% 

Death Grants Paid (8 days) 90% 74% 82% 67% 70% 

Annual Benefits 
Statements issued within 
the statutory deadline 

100% 100% see 
note 1 

100% see 
note 1 

100% see 
note 1 

100% see 
note 1 

“Transfers Out” Paid (15 
days) 

90% 92% 98% 99% 97% 

Page 19



 

Agenda Item 8 

 

 
Table 3 – 2019/20 Performance (full year) 
 

Service 
Standards – 
Processing 
tasks within 
internal 
targets 

Target 
Achievement 

No. 
Processed 

No. 
processed 

on time 

Actual % 
achievement 

Average 
days 
taken 

(averaging 
all cases) 

Average days 
taken 

(averaging 
cases 

exceeding 
target ONLY) 

Estimates to 
employees 
(15 days) 

90% 739 724 98% 8 not available 

Retirements 
and lump 
sums (15 
days) 

90% 983 603 61% 13 19 

Refunds Paid 
(15 days) 

90% 649 641 99% 7 23 

Death Grants 
Paid (8 days) 

90% 76 51 67% 7 10 

2019/20 
Annual 
Benefits 
Statements 
issued within 
the statutory 
deadline 

100% 34434 see 
note 1 

34434 see 
note 1 

100% N/A N/A 

“Transfers 
Out” Paid (15 
days) 

90% 194 192 99% 4 16 

 
 
Table 4 - 2018/19 Performance (full year) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Service Standards – 
Processing tasks within 
internal targets 

Target 
Achievement 
% 

No. 
Processed 

No. 
processed 
on time 

Actual % 
achievement 

Average 
days 
taken 

Estimates to employees (15 
days) 

90% 615 587 96% 7 

Retirements and lump sums 
(15 days) 

90% 858 592 69% 13 

Refunds Paid (15 days) 90% 620 609 98% 7 

Death Grants Paid (8 days) 90% 79 65 82% 7 

2017/18 Annual Benefits 
Statements issued within the 
statutory deadline 

100% 34,617 see 
note 1 

34,617 see 
note 1 

100% see 
note 1 

N/A 

“Transfers Out” Paid (15 days) 90% 147 144 98 5 

Page 20



 

Agenda Item 8 

 

 
Table 5- 2017/18 Performance (full year)  
 

Service Standards – 
Processing tasks within 
internal targets 

Target 
Achievement 
% 

No. 
Processed 

No. 
processed 
on time 

Actual % 
achievement 

Average 
days 
taken 

Estimates to employees (15 
days) 

90% 571 485 85% 10 

Retirements and lump sums 
(15 days) 

90% 768 575 75% 11 

Refunds Paid (15 days) 90% 448 429 96% 6 

Death Grants Paid (8 days) 90% 61 45 74% 7 

2016/17 Annual Benefits 
Statements issued within the 
statutory deadline 

100% 31,190 see 
note 1 

31,190 see 
note 1 

100% see 
note 1 

N/A 

“Transfers Out” Paid (15 days) 90% 132 122 92% 7 

 
Note 1 - Regarding Annual Benefits Statements, all of the year end returns from all employers were received by 
the Administration Team within the statutory deadline. All returns were matched to the member records held 
within the Administration team, and where a definitive match was made, 100% of the Annual Benefit 
Statements were distributed to active and deferred members by the statutory deadline. 

 
 
Business Plan 2021/22 

 
The following is an update on the Key Tasks/Work Plan which formed part of the agreed 

business plan for 2021/22.  

Comments on each topic are contained within the table. For the amber items, this 

represents that these activities are yet to commence, but these activities are scheduled to 

take place over multiple quarters: 

 

Governance 

Task 2021/22 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Review of Risk Register ✓ - 

completed 

✓ ✓ ✓ 

Approval of External Audit Plan ✓ - 

completed 

   

Implement outcomes of the Funds 

Governance Review 

 ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Review and approve Business Plan    ✓ 

Annual review against The Pensions 

Regulators Code of Practise 

   ✓ 

Approval of audited Fund accounts  ✓   

Page 21



 

Agenda Item 8 

 

Approval of Annual Report  ✓   

Review Policy Statements  ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Training Needs Analysis ✓ - launched 

and ongoing 

   

 

Funding 

Task 2021/22 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Review of ongoing funding position ✓ - completed ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Cash flow modelling   ✓  

 

Investment Management 

Task 2021/22 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Monitor Fund performance ✓ - 

completed 

✓ ✓ ✓ 

Responsible Investment Reporting ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Asset transitions to Brunel Portfolios ✓ - 

completed 

   

Review the inflation exposure on the 

Fund and implemented agreed 

recommendations 

✓ ✓ ✓  

Review the Funds Investment Strategy 

Statement 

   ✓ 

Procure consultancy support in 

preparation for the next full strategic 

review in 2022/23 

   ✓ 

Review the Funds Responsible 

Investment Policy 

  ✓ ✓ 

Review the recommendations of the 

Taskforce for Climate-related Financial 

Disclosure (TCFD) and requirements for 

UK Stewardship code signatory status 

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

 

 

 

 

Page 22



 

Agenda Item 8 

 

Administration 

Task 2021/22 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Issue Annual Benefit Statements to active 

and deferred members 

 ✓   

P60’s distributed to pensioner members ✓ - 

completed 

   

Recruitment of agreed additional 

resources 

✓ - ongoing ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Annual pension in payment and CARE 

accrual increase exercise 

✓ - pension in 

payment 

completed, 

Care accrual 

ongoing 

   

Annual submission of HMRC Event report    ✓ 

Issue notices to employees for breaches 

of HMRC Annual Allowance limits 

  ✓  

Provision of data to actuary to produce 

financial accounting required for 

employer accounts 

✓ - 

completed 

✓ ✓  

Reconciliation of membership data for all 

employers 

✓ - ongoing ✓  ✓ 

Review and correct data errors  ✓ ✓  

Process and reconcile membership pay 

and contribution data for year end 

✓ - ongoing ✓   

Data quality assessment for the Pensions 

Regulator 

 ✓   

Possible implementation of McCloud 

judgement  

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Possible implementation of revised 95k 

cap regulations 

 ✓ ✓ ✓ 

 
 

Recommendation 

That the Committee notes in accordance with the regulations, the Funds position as at 31 
March 2021 and the performance of the investments. 
 

Contact Officer 
 
Matthew Trebilcock – Head of Pensions (01452 328920) 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 1

Performance vs Benchmark @ 31 March 2021
Market Value 

31.12.20
Market Value 

31.03.21

Asset Class Manager Inception Date £000's £000's
Actual 

Performance %
Benchmark %

Actual 
Performance %

Benchmark %
Actual 

Performance %
Benchmark %

Actual 
Performance %

Benchmark %

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Mandates

Equities

UK Active Equity Brunel Nov-18 356,894            373,224               4.6 5.6 27.5 24.9 - - 3.4 3.0

Emerging Market Equities Brunel Oct-19 172,678            176,328               2.1 1.4 46.1 42.8 - - 13.6 13.9

Global High Alpha Equities Brunel Nov-19 555,203            436,140               3.1 4.1 50.0 39.1 - - 23.9 13.5

Sustainable Equities Brunel Sep-20 85,130              254,269               0.2 3.7 - - - - 9.4 12.6

Low Carbon Equities Brunel - LGIM Jul-18 64,873              67,369                 3.8 3.9 39.0 39.2 - - 11.5 11.6

Passive Developed Equities (Unhdg) Brunel - LGIM Jul-18 161,451            -                       3.0 2.9 37.8 37.9 - - 10.7 10.7

Passive Developed Equities (Hdg) Brunel - LGIM Jul-18 157,802            167,613               6.4 6.4 50.2 50.4 - - 11.3 11.4

Smart Beta Brunel - LGIM Jul-18 247,687            263,530               6.4 6.4 34.2 34.4 - - 7.9 8.2

Total Asset Class 1,801,718        1,738,473            

Fixed Interest

Global Fixed Interest WAMCO Apr-05 395,919            381,223               -3.7 -4.1 9.5 7.0 4.0 3.9 6.0 6.3

Global Multi Strategy FI WAMCO Sep-11 206,456            201,044               -2.7 0.5 15.3 2.2 2.7 2.6 3.6 2.6

Total Asset Class 602,375            582,267               

Alternatives

Diversifying Returns Fund Brunel Jul-20 84,899              217,761               -1.5 0.0 - - - - 0.0 0.0

UK Property Brunel Apr-20 188,689            193,097               2.2 2.2 1.7 2.5 - - 1.7 2.5

International Property Brunel Apr-20 13,309              13,773                 4.0 -3.9 -4.1 -2.9 - - -4.1 -2.9 

Infrastructure - Cycle 1 Brunel Apr-18 10,393              11,071                 -2.7 0.2 3.6 0.7 - - 1.8 1.0

Infrastructure - Cycle 2 Brunel Apr-20 4,067                5,069                   -1.2 0.2 - - - - -1.4 0.3

Private Equity - Cycle 1 Brunel Apr-18 9,890                10,768                 -2.4 3.7 -1.6 39.6 - - 14.1 15.7

Private Equity - Cycle 2 Brunel Apr-20 -                    640                       - - - - - - - -

Private Debt Golub Capital Partners Jul-17 32,006              31,710                 1.0 1.3 -5.3 5.3 8.3 5.7 6.2 5.7

Private Debt Arcmont Asset Management Aug-17 33,362              33,360                 1.3 1.3 6.7 5.3 7.3 5.7 7.1 5.7

Venture Capital Yorkshire Fund Managers/TVP Oct-17 4,628                4,856                   5.8 - 4.6 - -2.4 - - -

In-house Cash In-house Cash 54,030              50,922                 - - - - - - - -

Fund Manager Cash Fund Manager Cash 3,504                4,481                   - - - - 0.2 - - -

Total Asset Class 438,777            577,508               

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Total 2,842,870      2,898,248         1.9 2.3 26.6 23.0 7.6 7.8 7.8 8.1

3 Years 
Annualised Return

1 Year 
Total Return

3 Months 
Total Return

Since Inception
 Annualised Return

P
age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 1 .

Fund Asset Allocation vs Strategic Asset Allocation @ 31 March 2021

Market Value
31 Mar 21

Target Allocation Range
Fund Asset 
Allocation
31 Mar 21

Variation from 
Target

Variation from 
previous quarter

Asset Class Manager(s) £000's % +/- % % %

Equities

UK Active Equity Brunel 373,224                   12.0 2.0 12.9 0.9 

Emerging Market Equities Brunel 176,328                   6.5 1.5 6.1 -0.4 

Global High Alpha Equities Brunel 436,140                   13.0 2.0 15.0 2.0 

Sustainable Equities Brunel 254,269                   10.0 2.0 8.8 -1.2 

Low Carbon Equities Brunel - LGIM 67,369                      4.0 1.0 2.3 -1.7 

Passive Developed Equities (Hdg) Brunel - LGIM 167,613                   0.0 0.0 5.8 5.8 

Smart Beta Brunel - LGIM 263,530                   9.5 1.5 9.1 -0.4 

Total Asset Class 1,738,473                55.0 3.0 60.0 5.0 

Fixed Interest

Global Fixed Interest WAMCO 381,223                   14.5 1.5 13.2 -1.3 

Global Multi Strategy FI WAMCO 201,044                   7.5 1.0 6.9 -0.6 

Total Asset Class 582,267                   22.0 2.0 20.1 -1.9 

Alternatives

Diversifying Returns Fund Brunel 217,761                   0.0 10.0 7.5 7.5 

UK Property Brunel 193,097                   7.5 1.0 6.7 -0.8 

International Property Brunel 13,773                      2.5 1.0 0.5 -2.0 

Infrastructure Brunel 16,140                      5.0 1.0 0.6 -4.4 

Private Equity Brunel 11,408                      3.0 1.0 0.4 -2.6 

Private Debt Golub/Arcmont/Brunel 65,070                      5.0 1.0 2.2 -2.8 

Venture Capital Yorkshire Fund Managers/TVP 4,856                        0.0 0.0 0.2 0.2 

Cash In-house Cash/Fund Manager Cash 55,403                      0.0 0.5 1.9 1.9 

Total Asset Class 577,508                   23.0 2.0 19.9 -3.1 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund Total 2,898,248                100.0 0.0 100.0

 Moving further away from target
 Moving closer to target
 Stable against target

P
age 27



T
his page is intentionally left blank



2021
Responsible Investment and 

Stewardship Outcomes 
For the year ending 31 December 2020

Page 29



Delivering stronger investment returns over the 
long term, protecting our Clients’ interests through 
contributing to a more sustainable and resilient 
financial system, which supports sustainable 
economic growth and a thriving society.

Brunel Pension Partnership Limited (Brunel) is one of eight national 
Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) Pools, bringing together 
circa £30 billion investments of 10 likeminded pension funds: Avon, 
Buckinghamshire, Cornwall, Devon, Dorset, Environment Agency, 
Gloucestershire, Oxfordshire, Somerset, and Wiltshire.

We would like to acknowledge the significant support and contribution of our 
clients to our work on Climate Change, Responsible Investment and Stewardship 
underpinning our mutual commitment to investing for a world worth living in.

Brunel is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct authority as a full-service MiFID firm.  
We use the name ‘Brunel’ to refer to the FCA-authorised and regulated company. Company registration number 10429110 . 
Authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority No. 790168.

We believe in making long-term 
sustainable investments supported by 
robust and transparent processes

We are here to protect the interests of 
our clients and their beneficiaries

In collaboration with all our stakeholders 
we are forging better futures by 
investing for a world worth living in

3

Executive Summary

greater carbon efficiency than 
benchmark for the Brunel Aggregate 
Portfolio – up from 15% a year earlier 

22%
Recognised as leaders in RI, Climate 
and ESG in Europe and globally

by 2050, 50% carbon emission 
intensity reduction by by 2030

Leaders Net-zero 

world’s largest mining companies 
asked to review their relationships 
with First Nations communities and 
indigenous peoples

company meeting voted at, 1,666 
votes against or abstain

issues engaged on at 881 companies 
achieving 1,050 milestones

78 3,101 1,046

Reduction in water intensity (38% 
below investment benchmark) by 
Robeco (Brunel Low Volatility)

carbon saving and 254 jobs 
from Secured Income Portfolio 
greenhouse project

Females on board in UK Active 
and 28% in Global High Alpha – 
improvement in all active equities 

20%35% 75%

Reporting pilot underway of our appointed listed market fund 
managers are currently achieving 
or committed to cost transparency.

SDGs 100%
Coalition of investors focuses on 
25 companies 

Cybersecurity

3Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  

P
age 30



54

Message from our Chair Introduction from our CEO 

Welcome to our 2021 Responsible Investment and 
Stewardship Outcomes Report for the year 2020.

We launched this report last year to show our clients, 
shareholders, employees and the broader industry how we 
are performing against our own principles and targets. We 
advocate strongly and publicly for industry change across a 
number of areas, and we believe it is fundamental that we 
look at ourselves first of all.

The extraordinary events of 2020 enabled a strong spotlight 
to be shone on several of the issues covered in this report, 
among them, diversity & inclusion, human capital and 
climate change. We welcome the added scrutiny that has 
resulted. Indeed, we believe Brunel is strongly positioned for it, 
given both our extensive reporting practices and, on climate 
change more specifically, our involvement in enabling the 
launch of the Institutional Investors Group on Climate Change 
ground-breaking Net Zero Investment Framework.

We remain focused on our broader aim of forging better 
futures by investing for a world worth living in. Inevitably, that 
means thinking about issues across a range of asset classes, 
industries and geographies, and then taking appropriate 
action. The results of those actions are strongly in evidence 
throughout these pages.

Denise Le Gal
Chair, Brunel Pension Partnership

Our second Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes 
Report reviews a year unlike any of us at Brunel have known, and 
one that none of us could have anticipated. Amid the changes, 
all companies have needed to respond nimbly to the crisis and 
to review their practices and performance. In short, the year has 
shown the value of just this kind of report, which enables us to 
go back to first principles and assess ourselves across several key 
metrics. As a result, even a global pandemic and lockdown has 
not prevented us from ensuring that our stewardship activities live 
up to our own high expectations.

Denise Le Gal
Chair

Laura Chappell
Chief Executive Officer

We set our goals and make our 
decisions as a partnership, an 
approach that equips us to engage 
effectively not just with clients and 
shareholders, but also with managers 
and the broader asset management 
industry. These interactions and 
collaborations are crucial in enabling 
us to meet the long-term fiduciary 
and responsible goals set by our 
partnership.

Our Responsible Investment (RI) 
approach is built on three pillars: 
to integrate sustainability criteria 
into our operations and investment 
activities; to collaborate with others 
across the industry and support 
effective policymaking; and to be 
transparent in our activities. These 
three pillars underpin our operations, 
providing a bedrock for our team, our 
clients and our managers.

Despite the global disruption of 2020, 
Brunel was able to deliver widely 
on our plans through the year. By 
year-end, we had transitioned most 
of our clients’ assets into Brunel 
funds. We also launched a number 
of new funds, including a Sustainable 
Equities Fund that positively targets 
sustainable investments, a Diversifying 
Returns fund, and a Global Small 
Cap fund. We completed Cycle 
1 of Private Market investments 
(35% of which are in renewables) 
and embarked on Cycle 2, which 
has a dedicated sub-mandate for 
renewable energy opportunities.

We have worked closely with 
managers to ensure they embed our 
RI principles across our portfolios, 
in line with how we designed the 
portfolios. Manager selection is a 
central part of our RI, Stewardship 

and Climate policies. We examine 
how managers embed ESG principles 
into their investment process. We 
also look at their company culture, 
not least in the area of diversity & 
inclusion. We have continued to work 
with the Diversity Project and the 30% 
club to encourage a more inclusive 
culture – broader social movements 
in 2020 have offered a timely 
reminder of how much work remains 
to be done in this area. Although 
Brunel has too few employees to be 
obliged to report on diversity, we 
report on this area voluntarily.

Winner:  
Pension Fund of the Year,  
Environmental Finance Awards 2020

54Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  

P
age 31



76

Contents

The Big Challenge  
Page 8

Investment principles

Systemic risk and Brunel’s priorities

Client and beneficiary insights

Governance and oversight

Bringing it altogether 
Page 14

Chief Investment Officer viewpoint

AUM breakdowns

Climate change  
Page 18

Striving for Net Zero

Net Zero Investment Framework

Delivering on climate targets

Tax and Cost 
Transparency 
Page 33

CACEIS case study on cost 
transparency

Diversity and Inclusion 
Page 35

Delivering on gender targets 

Action taken on ethnic and other 
forms of diversity matters

SDGs 
Page 40

Enhancing reporting and stewardship

Human Capital  
Page 42

Mental heath and Modern Human 
Slavery

Responsible 
Stewardship  
Page 46

ESG and Climate in manager 
selection - Multi-asset credit 
case study

Voting actions and policy update

Engagement for change

ESG data

China - ESGs risk  
in China 
Page 50

Cyber  
Page 59

Assessing digital rights and corporate 
accountability

Cyber security coalition

Supply Chains  
Page 65

Plastic pollution

Water

Biodiversity, communities and 
landuse

Partnerships &  
affiliations

Additional Carbon  
metrics & benchmarks

Our climate ambitions were 
expressed in our work with the 
Institutional Investors Group on 
Climate Change, when we co-
piloted the Net Zero Investment 
Framework ahead of an industry 
consultation. Faith Ward, our Chief 
Responsible Investment Officer, was 
named Chair of the IIGCC at the 
end of 2020. Having ensured Brunel’s 
commitment to achieving Net 
Zero before 2050, Faith was closely 
involved in outreach to asset owners 
ahead of the formal launch of the 
framework in 2021. That outreach 
continues to mobilise asset owners 
and managers ahead of COP26 
in the autumn. We have also been 
closely involved in work with both 
the TPI and TCFD in developing good 
practice in climate investing.

I am delighted to see how our 
determination to change the industry 
in this area is already bearing fruit, 
ahead of Brunel’s own Climate 
Stocktake in 2022. To this end, we 
have begun work on Net Zero 
benchmarks, a major gap in the 
industry at present and one that 
prevents wholesale change. We have 
also been active in both shareholder 
engagement and voting, and our 
broader cooperation in this area has 
enabled significant climate policy 
changes at both HSBC and Barclays.

Responsible Stewardship and 
Responsible Investment cover 
many areas, among them water, 
biodiversity, cyber risk, cost 
transparency and supply chain 
risk. We review each of these in 
this report, since abuses or laxity 
in these areas can have grave 
consequences, and often severe 
social impacts. Focusing on climate 
risk to the exclusion of social factors 
is insufficient, and we are committed 
to integrating social risk and impacts 
into how we operate and invest.

Our role as a pension pool makes 
it imperative for us to address 
these issues holistically, in line with 
client needs, so that the interests of 
pensioners, planet and people are 
considered together. We believe 
this is the right approach, but we 
also believe it will enable us to 
reduce investment risk and deliver 
strong investment returns over the 
years ahead.

A year of disruption has given us an 
exceptional opportunity to ensure we 
are doing all we can to invest for a 
world worth living in.

Laura Chappell
Chief Executive Officer, Brunel 
Pension Partnership 

7Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  6Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  

P
age 32



98

The Big Challenge

Responsible investment (RI) is 
central to how Brunel fulfils its 
fiduciary duty. As responsible 
investors, we recognise 
that every company or 
asset we invest in operates 
interdependently with the 
economy, civil society and 
the physical environment. 

One of the biggest challenges 
therefore is trying to decide what 
exactly to do – where is the best 
place to target the resources you 
have, particularly when faced with 
a multitude of seemingly equally 
important risk and opportunities 
from one perspective or another. So 
how does Brunel go about deciding 
on its responsible investment and 
stewardship priorities?

The starting point for all our work is 
our Investment beliefs, which were 
drafted in collaboration with our 
clients. Brunel’s shareholders (and 
clients) are nine Local Authorities 

and the Environment Agency. These 
organisations are at the forefront 
dealing with consequences, whether 
that be flooding, environmental 
degradation, fly-tipping, waste 
collection or social care, to name 
but a few. That our approach 
to investment considers these 
impacts and externalities1 is entirely 
unsurprising but incredibly important.

Speaking to our clients directly, to 
their employers through AGMs and 
forums, and working with other 
stakeholders individually or in groups, 
enables Brunel to be close to a range 
of stakeholder issues and concerns.

Brunel Pension Partnership Investment Principles   

•  Long-term investors

•  Responsible investors

•  Best practice governance

•  Decisions informed through experts and 
knowledgeable officers and committees

•  Evidence and research at the heart of 
investments

•  Leadership and innovation

•  Right risk for right return 

•  Full risk evaluation 

•  Responsible stewardship 

•  Cost effective solutions

•  Transparent and accountable

•  Collaboration

The complete wording for these principles is available on our website: www.brunelpensionpartnership.org

Size does matter, not just in 
financial terms but also in terms of 
impact. A small company, or small 
allocation to a company, can have 
disproportionately large impacts on 
risk. We see this a lot when looking 
at climate change, for example. So, 
whilst we do look at our financial 
exposure in an absolute sense, we 
also consider the materiality of the 
sustainability risk to that company, 
as well as the risk that the company 
and its operations may present to 
the broader economy and society. 
This is sometimes referred to as 
‘double materiality’. 

Another concept we have embraced 
as helping to define our priorities is 
that of the ‘Universal Owner’. Whether 
Brunel is big enough to be classified 
as a universal owner can be debated, 
but it is a useful framing in recognising 
that, as diversified investors, we 
are exposed to risks arising from 
the whole economy and from right 
across financial markets. Universal 
ownership recognises the impact one 
asset or component of our portfolios 
has on another asset (for example, 
flood risk in real estate exacerbated 
by climate change arising from 
coal fired electricity generation). It 
also recognises the impact to the 
economy and society more broadly. 
Our approach therefore seeks not 
only to contribute to managing risks 
relating to individual investments, but 
to benefit the market and economy 
more broadly.

1  An externality is a cost or benefit caused by a producer that is not financially incurred or received by that producer

2  E.Quigley, 2020, Universal Ownership and Systemic Risks - latest update on work https://www.cambridge.org/engage/coe/article-details/5fadc
442ad40b800113d6637

Source: World Economic Forum Global Risks Perception Survey 2020

The Global Risks Report 2021 12

The Global Risks Landscape 2021
How do survey respondents perceive the impact ↑ and likelihood→ of global risks?

Source: World Economic Forum Global Risks Perception Survey 2020

Visible area

111 555111

555

Methodology

Survey respondents were asked to assess the likelihood of the individual
global risk on a scale of 1 to 5, 1 representing a risk that is very unlikely to
happen and 5 a risk that is very likely to occur over the course of the next ten
years. They also assessed the impact of each global risk on a scale of 1 to 5,
1 representing a minimal impact and 5 a catastrophic impact. To ensure
legibility, the names of the global risks are abbreviated.

Risk categories

Economic

Environmental

Geopolitical

Societal

Technological

2.52.52.5 333 3.53.53.5 444

Likelihood→

333

3.53.53.5

444

Im
pa

ct
→

Average
3.28

Average

3.40

Climate action failureClimate action failureClimate action failure
Infectious diseasesInfectious diseasesInfectious diseases

Human environmental damageHuman environmental damageHuman environmental damage

Extreme weatherExtreme weatherExtreme weather

Biodiversity lossBiodiversity lossBiodiversity loss

Livelihood crisesLivelihood crisesLivelihood crises

Cybersecurity failureCybersecurity failureCybersecurity failure

Digital power concentrationDigital power concentrationDigital power concentration

Natural resource crisesNatural resource crisesNatural resource crises

Social cohesion erosionSocial cohesion erosionSocial cohesion erosion

Interstate relations fractureInterstate relations fractureInterstate relations fracture

Debt crises

Involuntary migrationInvoluntary migrationInvoluntary migration

Prolonged
stagnation

Digital inequalityDigital inequalityDigital inequality

Resource geopolitizationResource geopolitizationResource geopolitization

Asset bubble burstAsset bubble burstAsset bubble burst

Interstate conflictInterstate conflictInterstate conflict

Youth disillusionmentYouth disillusionmentYouth disillusionment

Geophysical disastersGeophysical disastersGeophysical disasters

Social security collapseSocial security collapseSocial security collapse

IT infrastructure breakdownIT infrastructure breakdownIT infrastructure breakdown

Public
infrastructure

failure

Tech governance failureTech governance failureTech governance failure

Weapons of mass destructionWeapons of mass destructionWeapons of mass destruction

Terrorist attacksTerrorist attacksTerrorist attacks

Commodity shocksCommodity shocksCommodity shocks
Adverse techAdverse tech advancesadvancesAdverse tech advances

Illicit economic activityIllicit economic activityIllicit economic activity

Mental health deteriorationMental health deteriorationMental health deterioration

Multilateralism collapseMultilateralism collapseMultilateralism collapse

Industry collapseIndustry collapseIndustry collapse

State collapseState collapseState collapse

Backlash against scienceBacklash against scienceBacklash against science

Price instabilityPrice instabilityPrice instability

The Global Risks Landscape 2021
How do survey respondents perceive the impact ↑ and likelihood→ of global risks?

Source: World Economic Forum Global Risks Perception Survey 2020

Visible area

111 555111

555

Methodology

Survey respondents were asked to assess the likelihood of the individual
global risk on a scale of 1 to 5, 1 representing a risk that is very unlikely to
happen and 5 a risk that is very likely to occur over the course of the next ten
years. They also assessed the impact of each global risk on a scale of 1 to 5,
1 representing a minimal impact and 5 a catastrophic impact. To ensure
legibility, the names of the global risks are abbreviated.

Risk categories

Economic

Environmental

Geopolitical

Societal

Technological

2.52.52.5 333 3.53.53.5 444

Likelihood→

333

3.53.53.5

444

Im
pa

ct
→

Average
3.28

Average

3.40

Climate action failureClimate action failureClimate action failure
Infectious diseasesInfectious diseasesInfectious diseases

Human environmental damageHuman environmental damageHuman environmental damage

Extreme weatherExtreme weatherExtreme weather

Biodiversity lossBiodiversity lossBiodiversity loss

Livelihood crisesLivelihood crisesLivelihood crises

Cybersecurity failureCybersecurity failureCybersecurity failure

Digital power concentrationDigital power concentrationDigital power concentration

Natural resource crisesNatural resource crisesNatural resource crises

Social cohesion erosionSocial cohesion erosionSocial cohesion erosion

Interstate relations fractureInterstate relations fractureInterstate relations fracture

Debt crises

Involuntary migrationInvoluntary migrationInvoluntary migration

Prolonged
stagnation

Digital inequalityDigital inequalityDigital inequality

Resource geopolitizationResource geopolitizationResource geopolitization

Asset bubble burstAsset bubble burstAsset bubble burst

Interstate conflictInterstate conflictInterstate conflict

Youth disillusionmentYouth disillusionmentYouth disillusionment

Geophysical disastersGeophysical disastersGeophysical disasters

Social security collapseSocial security collapseSocial security collapse

IT infrastructure breakdownIT infrastructure breakdownIT infrastructure breakdown

Public
infrastructure

failure

Tech governance failureTech governance failureTech governance failure

Weapons of mass destructionWeapons of mass destructionWeapons of mass destruction

Terrorist attacksTerrorist attacksTerrorist attacks

Commodity shocksCommodity shocksCommodity shocks
Adverse techAdverse tech advancesadvancesAdverse tech advances

Illicit economic activityIllicit economic activityIllicit economic activity

Mental health deteriorationMental health deteriorationMental health deterioration

Multilateralism collapseMultilateralism collapseMultilateralism collapse

Industry collapseIndustry collapseIndustry collapse

State collapseState collapseState collapse

Backlash against scienceBacklash against scienceBacklash against science

Price instabilityPrice instabilityPrice instability

The Global Risks Landscape 2021
How do survey respondents perceive the impact ↑ and likelihood→ of global risks?

Source: World Economic Forum Global Risks Perception Survey 2020

Visible area

111 555111

555

Methodology

Survey respondents were asked to assess the likelihood of the individual
global risk on a scale of 1 to 5, 1 representing a risk that is very unlikely to
happen and 5 a risk that is very likely to occur over the course of the next ten
years. They also assessed the impact of each global risk on a scale of 1 to 5,
1 representing a minimal impact and 5 a catastrophic impact. To ensure
legibility, the names of the global risks are abbreviated.

Risk categories

Economic

Environmental

Geopolitical

Societal

Technological

2.52.52.5 333 3.53.53.5 444

Likelihood→

333

3.53.53.5

444

Im
pa

ct
→

Average
3.28

Average

3.40

Climate action failureClimate action failureClimate action failure
Infectious diseasesInfectious diseasesInfectious diseases

Human environmental damageHuman environmental damageHuman environmental damage

Extreme weatherExtreme weatherExtreme weather

Biodiversity lossBiodiversity lossBiodiversity loss

Livelihood crisesLivelihood crisesLivelihood crises

Cybersecurity failureCybersecurity failureCybersecurity failure

Digital power concentrationDigital power concentrationDigital power concentration

Natural resource crisesNatural resource crisesNatural resource crises

Social cohesion erosionSocial cohesion erosionSocial cohesion erosion

Interstate relations fractureInterstate relations fractureInterstate relations fracture

Debt crises

Involuntary migrationInvoluntary migrationInvoluntary migration

Prolonged
stagnation

Digital inequalityDigital inequalityDigital inequality

Resource geopolitizationResource geopolitizationResource geopolitization

Asset bubble burstAsset bubble burstAsset bubble burst

Interstate conflictInterstate conflictInterstate conflict

Youth disillusionmentYouth disillusionmentYouth disillusionment

Geophysical disastersGeophysical disastersGeophysical disasters

Social security collapseSocial security collapseSocial security collapse

IT infrastructure breakdownIT infrastructure breakdownIT infrastructure breakdown

Public
infrastructure

failure

Tech governance failureTech governance failureTech governance failure

Weapons of mass destructionWeapons of mass destructionWeapons of mass destruction

Terrorist attacksTerrorist attacksTerrorist attacks

Commodity shocksCommodity shocksCommodity shocks
Adverse techAdverse tech advancesadvancesAdverse tech advances

Illicit economic activityIllicit economic activityIllicit economic activity

Mental health deteriorationMental health deteriorationMental health deterioration

Multilateralism collapseMultilateralism collapseMultilateralism collapse

Industry collapseIndustry collapseIndustry collapse

State collapseState collapseState collapse

Backlash against scienceBacklash against scienceBacklash against science

Price instabilityPrice instabilityPrice instability

Methodology

Survey respondents were asked to assess the likelihood of the individual 
global risk on a scale of 1 to 5, 1 representing a risk that is very unlikely 
and 5 a risk that is very likely to occur over the course of the next ten 
years. They also assessed the impact of each global risk on a scale of 
1 to 5, 1 representing a minimal impact and 5 a catastrophic impact. To 
ensure legibility,the names of the global risks are abbreviated.

How do respondents perceive the impact  and likelihood  of global risks?

Top Risks
by impact

Infectious diseases

Climate action failure

Weapons of mass destruction

Biodiversity loss

Natural resource crises

Human environmental damage

Livelihood crises

Extreme weather

Debt crises

IT infrastructure breakdown

Source: World Economic Forum
Global Risks Perception Survey 2020

Top Risks
by likelihood

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Source: World Economic Forum
Global Risks Perception Survey 2020

Extreme weather

Climate action failure

Human environmental damage

Infectious diseases

Biodiversity loss

Digital power concentration

Digital inequality

Interstate relations fracture

Cybersecurity failure

Livelihood crises

F IGU R E I I

Global Risks Landscape

This leads to the need to look at 
systemic risks as well as portfolio 
risks. Dr Ellen Quigley2, University of 
Cambridge, is a thought leader on 
how investors can address issues 
arising from universal ownership and 
systemic risk; and she presented to 
the Brunel Board as part of a half-
day workshop in November 2020. 
The purpose of the workshop was 
to assess our overall approach to RI 
and to develop our risk framework 
relating to climate change. The 
Board workshop also looked at 
Brunel’s priorities in relation to the 
UN Sustainable Development Goals 
as well as the work of the World 
Economic Forum (WEF), which 
produces a number of reports, 

including The Global Risk Report. The 
2020 Report, published in January 
2021, slices and dices risks in many 
ways; most importantly, it considers 
the interconnectivity of different risks. 
The extract below illustrates strong 
overlap with Brunel’s current RI and 
stewardship priorities (page 10). 

The outcome of the Board workshop 
was that our current priorities and 
approach to stewardship were 
appropriate and effective, but 
that we need to proactively seek 
additional opportunities to amplify, 
and add to, our work on biodiversity. 
Biodiversity is currently a sub-theme 
captured under supply chain 
management, but later in the report, 
we outline our next steps to respond 
to this request. 

Risk Perception Survey 2020
The Global Risk Report 2021, 
World Economic Forum

8Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  9

P
age 33

https://sdgs.un.org/goals
https://www.weforum.org/
https://www.weforum.org/


1110

Quarterly RI and 
Stewardship updates, 
portfolio dashboards, 

voting records and 
engagement highlights

Presentations, workshops, 
training, podcasts,  
blogs and articles

Policy and 
regulation

Best 
practice

Stakeholder 
views

Annual Brunel RI and 
Stewardship  

Outcomes Report

Climate change

UK policy framework 

Diversity and inclusion 

Human capital

Cost and tax transparency  

Cyber 

Supply chain  
management 

Top down
• Investment risks
• Client priorities

Bottom up from  
Brunel portfolios 
• Asset specific risks
• Event risk

Brunel RI  
Strategy 
delivered by

• Brunel Team
•  Asset Managers
•  Engagement 

providers
•  Partnerships and 

Collaborations

Brunel RI and Stewardship Priorities

The whole organisation uses 
resources like the WEF reports, 
daily news feeds, input from our 
asset managers and other service 
providers. Combined with talking to 
other investors, policy makers and 
academics at events and private 
meetings, it equips us to be aware 
of new and emerging risks. The 
opportunity to discuss such risks is a 
standard agenda item of both the 
Brunel Investment Risk Committee 

and the Brunel Investment 
Committee, and at a strategic level 
as part of Executive Committee and 
Brunel Board meetings (page 12).

Whilst we set our priorities, the 
exact magnitude of activity on 
different themes does vary year on 
year, but also adapts to changes in 
circumstances. The rise of COVID-19 
in 2020 added a new dimension to 
our priorities, and we had to make 
adjustments to our workplan.

Heart prints decorate 
Queen Square, Bristol, to 
support social distancing

We have had to navigate how 
companies approach effective 
shareholder engagement in a virtual 
world; the challenge of mental health 
in the workforce; and the problem 
of modern human slavery in supply 
chains. The risks linked to these issues 
were exacerbated by the various 
lockdowns imposed around the world 
– plans therefore needed adapting. 
Overall, the team just worked harder 
to absorb the increased activity, 
but some areas of legislation and 
regulation were put on hold, such as 
gender pay gap reporting in the UK. 

The probability of success is a key 
consideration in how we prioritize. 
Whilst this does not stop Brunel raising 
issues that may not have widespread 
traction in the investment industry, 
it does have an impact at the level 
of resourcing. However, we are 
informed and flexible enough to 
deepen our expertise on key topics 
when the need arises or when 
events highlight a topic’s urgency. 
One example was the death of 
George Floyd in 2020, which led to an 
outpouring of emotions in America 
and, subsequently, worldwide. His 
death shone a spotlight on racial 
inequality. Inevitably, it made us think 
more deeply about the issue in the 
investment industry, and dedicate 
more resources to this element of our 
Diversity & Inclusion theme. 

The timing of engagement is critical. 
Good timing enables us to galvanize 
widespread investor support for 
action, thereby massively increasing 
the effectiveness of our stewardship 
activity. This was demonstrated 
by the rapid investor-led response 
to the 2019 Brumadinho dam 
disaster in Brazil, which resulted 
in ground-breaking interventions 
and progress that will save lives in 
communities worldwide that live near 
tailings dams.

11Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  10Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  

P
age 34



1312

As illustrated in the diagram ‘Brunel 
RI & Stewardship Priorities’, we are 
heavily influenced by the views and 
concerns of our clients and their 
beneficiaries.

Brunel’s Client Group is made up 
of Client Fund Officers who put 
Responsible Investment updates on 
the agenda on a monthly basis. In 
addition, the Responsible Investment 
Sub-group meets monthly and acts 
as a forum for consultation and review 
of all RI and stewardship policies 
and reporting. It also provides an 

opportunity for deeper discussion on 
Responsible Investment topics. We 
specifically ask this group to assess 
whether our reporting, such as in this 
report, is what they need and is fair, 
balanced and understandable. 

We also believe that it makes our 
reporting ‘fair and balanced’, as well 
as more outcome and investment 
relevant, to report most of our metrics 
on a weighted average basis.3 

We conduct client workshops 
to enable deeper awareness or 
training on a particular topic. In 

2020, workshop topics included 
the requirements of the new 
stewardship code, and sustainability-
based investment outcomes 
and benchmarks.

The Brunel team also presents 
frequently at pension committees, 
investment sub-groups, employer 
forums and dedicated responsible 
investment training events. Taken 
together with Brunel Investor 
Days, these provide a great many 
opportunities to respond to questions 
and listen to clients’ areas of concern.

Board and Sub-committees

Operational 
Committees

Client Group

Responsible 
Investment  
Sub-Group

Brunel Oversight 
Board

Investment Risk Committee

Board

Operations 
Committee

Risk & Compliance 
Committee

Investment 
Committee

Executive Committee

Shareholder Group

Remuneration Committee
Audit, Risk & Compliance 

Committee

5

42

8

6 5 12 12

12

4+

x

4

Numbers of 
meetings a year

Client outcome focus

In 2020, Brunel clients conducted 
an independent assurance review 
of Brunel, which included an 
assessment on the Responsible 
Investment Service. On this latter 
part, 90% of clients rated it ‘good’ 
or ‘very good’4. We did, however, 
reflect on the qualitative feedback, 
including requests for portfolios 
aligned with the Paris Agreement 
across all asset classes and reporting 
on the Sustainable Development 
Goals. Both have been actioned in 
the latter half of 2020 and progress 
covered in this report, although work 
continues in 2021.

Walking the Talk
Our responsible investment policy commits Brunel to integrate RI in 
everything we do, including our own operations. There are examples of 
this throughout the report but, more broadly, we work in partnership with 
Future-Fit, a-not-for-profit organisation that aims to encourage business 
alignment with the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs); we have 
committed to sustainable leadership by become a Future-Fit ‘Pioneer’. 
Becoming a Pioneer demonstrated our commitment to embedding 
sustainability throughout our organisation and walking the talk across our 
own operations.  

We have made progress across a number of our Future-Fit goals and aim 
to improve where “minor” action was flagged in our Future-Fit assessment 
from 2019. 

3 Weighted average is an average resulting from the multiplication of each component by a factor reflecting its importance 4 Brunel Client Assurance Survey, conducted by Mercer, July 2020.

Stonehenge, Wiltshire

1312Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  

P
age 35



David Vickers
CIO

1514

88.5%

1.0%

 Developed Markets

 Emerging Markets

10.4%

0.2%

Brunel Asset Allocation 
Geographical Split

Breakdown of Brunel Assets Under Management

  Active Listed Equity

  Passive Listed Equity

 Property

 Infrastructure

 Other (DRF)

 Private Equity

46%

5%

32%

3%

8%

6%

As at 31 
December 2020

Bringing it all together – 
CIO perspective

In addition, after years of generally 
disinflationary trends it may have 
sown the seeds for eventual inflation. 
It has also helped, alongside other 
developments, to provide a renewed 
focus on sustainability. The spread and 
response to Coronavirus has certainly 
served to highlight issues of inequality 
and show how interconnected 
the world is both politically and 
financially, providing a timely 
reminder that one must build into 
models both “traditional” and ESG 
risks when making strategic decisions 
about how to deploy capital.

Looking forward the social, economic 
and investment landscape will be 
driven to significant extent by the 
conditions of today, not least the fact 
that International Monetary Fund (IMF) 
estimates that global debt stands at 
$270 trillion, or 350% of global GDP, a 
figure we have not seen since the end 
of World War Two. In conjunction with 
this it is also important to note that 
interest rates around the developing 
world are at or close to zero. That 
point is spectacularly important for 
medium term investment returns. The 
past decade of quantitative easing 
(government purchasing of assets), 
austerity and fiscal prudence drove 
yields lower and covid pushed them 
to all time lows. Indeed, by December 
2020 $18trn of government debt had 
negative yields (I.e., an investor paid a 
premium, as opposed to receiving one 
for giving the government money!)

are exposed to. We discuss the 
probabilities of these longer-term 
themes across our virtual desks and in 
our investment committees, tackling 
first the macro outlook and probability 
of events (as nothing should be 
taken as certain) and then discussing 
the likely impact on asset classes, 
thinking through what is priced in and 
ultimately working through the range 
of potential impacts on our portfolios. 
Fundamentally investment is about 
understanding all the risks that you 
are exposed to, formulating a view as 
to the distribution of potential returns 
and ensuring that the compensation 
on offer is appropriate. 

The ramifications of climate change 
have always been a long-term 
theme that we believe investors 
needed to embrace. However, it 
does feel that the conflux of new 
reporting requirements, change 
in US government policy, societal 
changes and evolving investor 
demands, which have driven capital 
flows, accelerated through COVID. 
The outcome being that these 
issues have grown in prominence 
to a greater extent than I have 
witnessed previously. What the 
response to covid has shown us is 
that where there is a political will, 
significant financing can be found 
and governments and corporations 
from every region can, largely, work 
together towards a common goal. 
It certainly provides a blueprint for 
tackling climate change, which 
hitherto was often put by some 
in the “too big to tackle” camp. 
However, whilst showing the way the 
debt burden created has arguably 
left governments in a worse state 
financially to put into place the 
funding, incentives and programmes 

that are needed to radically move us 
forward. It is estimated by National 
Grid that getting the UK energy 
network to net zero for example will 
cost the UK £3trn and that retrofitting 
insulating to the UK housing stock 
perhaps another £2trn so says the 
energy technological institute. 
Financing is clearly needed in order 
to achieve Net Zero ambitions. 
President Biden’s proposal of a new 
global tax regime therefore comes at 
an important time. 

Greening the economy will create 
winners and losers, but the path will 
not be smooth or linear, as despite 
these inexorable trends, valuations of 
‘clean or green’ stocks will inevitably 
run ahead of fundamentals and 
today’s energy stocks will not all be 
in terminally decline, many have the 
resources and increasingly the focus 
to be part of the solution. Successfully 
navigating the investment landscape 
as we transition to net zero will 
therefore require an understanding of 
the long-term themes, the relationship 
between technological feasibility 
and profitability, but also the interplay 
between medium term valuation 
considerations and shorter-term 
investment flows. This narrative all 
assumes that we achieve net zero, 
clearly there are significant systemic 
risks if we do not manage to achieve 
the Paris targets. As mentioned earlier 
there are many potential futures and 
as an investor, we must consider them 
all and think about both probability 
and magnitude of impact. 

As it stands today, governments, 
corporations and institutions that bind 
the economic ecosystem are not 
prepared for a warmer world, neither 
are current risk models, as they can’t 

easily deal with events they have 
not seen, specifically the potential 
of nonlinear event compounding, 
creating tipping points and thus 
cascading effects. Removing a 
relatively simple piece of the puzzle 
such as insurance can create 
catastrophic effects as we saw 
during the GFC. It is a very real threat 
that some business, property and 
risks become uninsurable under 
numerous and credible scenarios, 
creating a litany of stranded and 
impaired assets and business 
ecosystems. Working with our 
investment partners, academics and 
such focused groups like the 
Principles for Responsible Investment 
(PRI) and Institutional Investor Group 
on Climate Change (IIGCC) to trace 
these fault lines is truly important as it 
can shine a light on where a new 
series of systemic risks may lie. This is 
important as even though we are 
aligned achieving net zero in our 
portfolios, much like covid it will not 
matter if we do this in isolation, as in 
isolation our efforts are not enough. 

The global financial crisis (GFC) of 2008 left an indelible mark 
on financial markets; the scarring of the economic system, 
subsequent regulations and the actions of participants ultimately 
influenced the path of returns for the next decade. The outbreak 
of Covid and the government and central bank response is also 
likely to shape the future of the market, indeed the response 
function has in several ways accelerated the previous themes of 
debt and government intervention.

Why is this important? Developed 
market government debt is 
considered low risk and we use the 
term ‘risk-free rate’ as foundation 
to measure ‘risk’ other asset classes. 
As in any area of life, if you mess 
with foundations, you can expect 
significant knock-on impacts. As an 
example, if property offers a return 
of 5%, then that might be lower 
than historic returns but should be 
compared to what you can receive 
from a government bond which 
is close to zero. If suddenly you 
can receive 2% from the risk-free 
rate, then a 5% return doesn’t look 
as attractive. As such that asset, 
property in this example, has to 
adjust by falling in value until the 
compensation above the risk-free 
rate is restored.

It may well be inflation, or at least 
the expectations of inflation that is 
the biggest risk to investors meeting 
their outcomes. If the post GFC 
was a decade of monetary policy, 
arguably what has changed now 
is the introduction of traditional 
fiscal stimulus – using public debt 
to stimulate the recovery. Money 
during this crisis has been channelled 
directly to the consumer as opposed 
to the banking sector and money 
supply has increased markedly. This 
has sparked concerns of inflation as 
fiscal stimulus has fuelled retail sales 
and increased savings rates which 
could be unleashed as additional 
demand as societies re-open, all at 
a time when bottle necks and supply 

in some areas are still constrained. 
All of this is before the $1.9trn US 
stimulus package and infrastructure 
bill have flowed through to markets. 
This combined with a rebasing effect 
from the lows of last year has already 
and could continue to move the 
expectations of inflation higher. 

Some inflation would be welcome in 
order to erode the large debt burden, 
but the issue is that if inflation rises by 
more than is deemed comfortable 
by the market and the central banks 
it will drag bond yields and finally 
interest rates higher making the debt 
less financeable. 

As we think about these long-term 
themes it is important, we view them 
through the lens of the portfolios 
we have built for our partner funds 
and the factors that our portfolios 

  Frontier Markets

 Other

Next steps
•  Private Debt portfolio

to launch in 2021

•  Fixed income portfolios
to launch in 2021

15Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  14Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  

P
age 36



1716

Timeline

March 2018
First LGPS pool to become a  
signatory of UN backed Principles  
of Responsible Investment 

May 2018 
Five Year Responsible  

Investment Policy 

October 2018  
Launch of our Stewardship Policy  

End of 2018
Brunel’s First Annual Report and 
Financial Statements including TCFD 
& paygap report

July 2017 
Brunel Pension Partnership formed

November 2017 
Joined The Institutional Investors 
Group on Climate Change (IIGCC) 
and registered as Task Force for 
Climate related Disclosures (TCFD) 
signatory and supporter 

December 2017
Board supports joining Diversity 
Project and 30% Club

2030 target
50% reduction in carbon intensity

2050 target
Net Zero investment Portfolios 

2017

2018

2050

March 2021 
Signed the IIGCC’s Net Zero 
Investment Commitment 

2021 
Exploring Net Zero 
Benchmarks 

2021 
SDG Reporting in 
development 

October 2022 
Climate Change Stocktake

2020
2022

January 2020 
Public launch of Climate  
Change Policy

March 2020
UN PRI Transparency Report 

May 2020 
First Responsible Investment and 
Stewardship Outcomes Report 
published

Summer 2020
IIGCC’s Net Zero Investment 
Framework testing and consultation 

November 2020
Brunel is founding signatory 
to the Financing the Just 
Transition Alliance 

April 2019
Quarterly Portfolio dashboard 
reporting for ESG and carbon metrics

May 2019 
Climate Position Statement 

Brunel joins the Sustainability 
Accounting Standards Board (SASB’s) 
Investor Advisory Group 

September 2019 
Published our Tax  
Position Statement 

2019
2021

2030

1716Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  

P
age 37

https://www.unpri.org/signatory-directory/brunel-pension-partnership-bpp/2965.article
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/Brunel-Responsible-Investment-Policy-2019.pdf
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/Brunel-Stewardship-Policy-2018.pdf
https://www.fsb-tcfd.org/
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/Brunel-Climate-Change-Policy-rev01.pdf
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/Brunel-Pension-Partnership-PRI-Report-2020.pdf
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Climate-Change-Brunel-Position-Statement-2019.pdf
http://www.globenewswire.com/news-release/2019/05/22/1840845/0/en/SASB-Expands-Investor-Advisory-Group.html
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Brunel-Position-Statement-on-Tax.pdf


1918

Climate Change

Climate change presents an 
immediate systemic and material 
risk to the ecological, societal and 
financial stability of every economy 
and country on the planet. It has 
direct implications for our Clients and 
their beneficiaries. It is therefore a 
strategic investment priority for us.

Scientific evidence suggests that 
our climate is changing faster than 
at almost any point in history. The 
world is already at approximately 
1°C of warming above pre-industrial 
levels. This is causing more frequent 
and more extreme weather events, 
significantly affecting rainfall and 
sea levels, and impacting agriculture 
and food supply, infrastructure, 
flooding and water supply. That leads 
to rising migration and resource-
based conflict.

World governments have started 
to respond. The signatories to the 
2015 Paris Agreement committed to 
keeping global temperature rise this 
century to well below 2°C compared 
to pre-industrial levels, and to aim 
to limit the increase to 1.5°C. The 
signatories agreed to adopt and 
implement nationally determined 
contributions (NDCs) that set out the 
actions they would take to reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions, and 
to strengthen these efforts in the 
years ahead. 

Yet we are currently heading 
towards a world of 4°C of warming 
compared to pre-industrial levels. 
To avoid catastrophe, governments 
and all sectors of society (individuals, 
companies and investors, among 
others), will need to do much more. 
To transition to the low carbon 
economy, we must reshape of our 
economy, eliminate almost all fossil 
fuel use, and reach Net Zero by 2050. 

Using our strengths and our position in the market to 
systematically change the investment industry so that it is fit 
for purpose for a world where the temperature rise needs to 
be kept to well below 2°C compared to pre-industrial levels.

 Persuasion
We want the companies and 
other entities in which we invest 
and contract with to support 
the transition to the low carbon 
economy, and to ensure that they 
are resilient to the unavoidable 
impacts of climate change.

 Policy Advocacy 
We want policy makers to establish 
comprehensive and robust climate 
change policy frameworks that deliver 
significant reductions in greenhouse gas 
emissions, accelerate progress towards 
the low carbon economy, and enable 
effective adaptation to the unavoidable 
impacts of climate change.

Positive Impact
We want to enable investments in 
activities that directly support the low 
carbon transition and that enable 
effective adaptation to the unavoidable 
impacts of climate change.

Portfolio 
Management 
We want our investment 
portfolios to be resilient 
under a range of climate 
change scenarios 
(both mitigation and 
adaptation). We want to 
adopt best practices on 
climate risk management 
and to work with our 
managers to further 
improve and develop 
our processes.

Product Governance 
We want to increase the number 
and range of products available to 
our Clients and the wider investment 
market that deliver substantial 
climate change benefits.

Delivering & 
evidencing 

progress

Designing 
climate 

transition 
solutions

   
Po

licy                  Products

    P
e

rsu
a

sion        Positive Impact   
    

   
Po

rt
fo

lio
s 

C

LIM
ATE CHANG

E

Systemic 
change in the 

investment 
industry Investing 

where it 
matters

Convincing 
others to 
change

Making 
markets 

work

Brunel has 
committed to 
becoming Net 
Zero by 2050

18Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  19

P
age 38



2120

What action have we 
taken?
Following the launch of our Climate 
Change policy in January 2020 we 
have made significant progress 
against all five areas. Highlights 
include:

•   Investment in innovative 
climate solutions in our private 
markets’ portfolios (case studies 
throughout the report)

•  Significant milestones achieved 
in climate risk related corporate 
engagement (case studies 
throughout the report)

•  Breaking new ground in the 
integration of climate risk 
into manager selection and 
appointment – see the interview 
with Daniel Spencer, the portfolio 
manager for the Multi-asset credit 
portfolio (page 48)

•  Support of the development Paris 
Aligned Investment Initiatives Net 
Zero Investment Framework 

•  Excellent progress in 
decarbonising our listed equity 
portfolios working with our asset 
managers

•  Publication of a separate, 
Climate Action Plan Report 
based on the recommendations 
of the Taskforce for Climate-
related Financial Disclosure, 
supplementing our reporting in 
our Annual Report and Financial 
Statements on the governance, 
strategy and risk around 
climate change

The Paris Aligned Investment Initiative
We have been actively involved 
with the Institutional Investors Group 
on Climate Change (IIGCC) in the 
development of the Paris Aligned 
Investment Initiative. We have also 
been closely involved in drafting 
the Net Zero Investment Framework, 
which aims to set a global standard 
for investors to demonstrate they are 
Paris-aligned.

The Paris Aligned Investment Initiative 
had three main objectives: 

•  Develop working definitions of 
concepts, terms and pathways 
relevant to achieving Paris-
aligned portfolios 

•  Develop and assess methods 
and approaches for measuring 
alignment and the transition of 
asset classes 

•  Test the financial implications of 
aligning portfolios to the goals of 
the Paris Agreement, using real-
world portfolios and quantitative 
modelling 

Governance & Strategy
Net zero commitment  |  Beliefs, strategy & mandates
Climate risk assessment  |  Monitoring & reporting

Portfolio Reference Targets
Emissions reduction  |  Investment in climate solutions

Strategic Asset Allocation
Scenario Analysis  |  Portfolio optimisation
Asset class variants  |  Review constraints

Asset Level Assessment & Targets
Alignment & engagement targets & metrics 
Asset assessment criteria   |  Recommended methodologies

Implementing Alignment
Portfolio Construction  |  Engagement & Stewardship
Selective Divestment  |  Direct Management

Stakeholder & Market Engagement
Asset mangers or clients |  Data & service providers

Policy Advocacy
Global & national net zero policies 
Disclosure & shareholder rights

Portfolio and 
fund level
Structure for 
Alignment

Asset class level
Shifts alignment 
of assets to meet 
portfolio goals

External
Influences enabling 
environment to 
facilitate alignment

The project took an investment-
led approach and delivered 
recommended frameworks for 
achieving Paris alignment by 
decarbonising portfolios and 
increasing allocations to climate 
solutions. 

The Net Zero Investment Framework 
was released for consultation to 
the wider investment community 
in September 2020 ahead of being 
published in 2021. Brunel was also 
one of five investors that supported 
testing the methodologies supported 
by Avon Pension Fund.

The next phase of the project 
entails creating frameworks for 
infrastructure and private equity 
asset classes and will be used to 
develop guidance on how to support 
investors with implementation. A 
dedicated Paris Aligned Investment 
Initiative microsite has been 
established to support investors.

Climate risk and real estate

Net Zero Investment Framework – Testing the methodology 

We worked with three property 
managers that were able to provide 
data for a set of properties that 
represented a typical UK property 
portfolio. We then used that dataset 
as our ‘Brunel Test Portfolio’. When 

looking at the valuation impact 
under different climate change 
scenarios, the ‘Brunel Test Portfolio’ 
performed better under all three 
scenarios compared to a typical UK 
commercial property portfolio.

We also used the data to create 
a ‘Hypothetical Aligned Portfolio’, 
so that we had an approximation 
of a portfolio that has undergone 
sustainability improvements and 
green retrofits. The ‘Hypothetical 
Aligned Portfolio’ saw a lower level 
of value impairment under all three 

climate change scenarios versus 
the ‘Brunel Test Portfolio’ and typical 
UK commercial portfolio, illustrating 
the potential benefits of sustainable 
property. However, it still experienced 
a negative financial impact under all 
three climate scenarios. 

Assessing physical and adaptation risk as a result of climate change is one of 
our priorities for 2021 and beyond.

Adapted from IIGCC Net Zero Investment Framework: Portfolio Testing Results (March 2021)

Springbok solar farm, Kern 
County, California 

Springbok is a 448 Megawatt-
dc solar development in Kern 
County California, one of the 
largest solar developments 
in the world. The fund is 
invested, through Cycle 1, in 
the development through the 
Capital Dynamics Clean Energy 
Infrastructure VII-A fund. 

Sh
ar

e 
of

 p
or

tfo
lio

A        B        C        D        E        F        G        
100%

75%

50%

25%

0%

All UK non-domestic Brunel Current Brunel Aligned

C
ha

ng
e 

in
 v

al
ua

tio
n

(C
lim

at
e 

sc
en

ar
o 

re
la

tiv
e 

to
 c

ur
re

nt
 p

ol
ic

y 
ba

se
lin

e)

Forecast policy        Delayed        Immediate
0

-1

-2

-3

UK Commercial Brunel Current Brunel Aligned

Net Zero Investment Framework

Brunel was a founding signatory of the Financing the Just Transition 
Alliance which has the vision to identify concrete steps that the financial 
sector can take to scale up climate action which also delivers positive 
social impact, both in terms of maximising the social benefits of net zero 
and also making sure no one is left behind

2120Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  

P
age 39

https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/2021/03/26/annual-report-demonstrates-the-power-of-pooling/
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/2021/03/26/annual-report-demonstrates-the-power-of-pooling/
https://www.parisalignedinvestment.org/
https://www.parisalignedinvestment.org/media/2021/03/PAII_Net-Zero-Investment-Framework-1.0_Implementation-Guide.pdf
https://www.iigcc.org/our-work/paris-aligned-investment-initiative/
https://www.iigcc.org/our-work/paris-aligned-investment-initiative/


2322

Listed Equities – metrics and targets 

We integrate climate risk into 
the selection, monitoring and 
management of all our portfolios. In 
line with the Taskforce for Climate-
related Financial Disclosures (TCFD), 
we support the setting and tracking 
of metrics and targets against 
which to monitor and evidence 
progress. Brunel’s largest allocation 
is in listed equities, an area where 
there is sufficient comparable data 
to make target-setting meaningful. 
This is therefore where we have 
prioritised action. 

Metrics and targets for listed equities

•  Portfolio decarbonisation of our 
listed equity portfolios by no less 
than 7% per year from a fixed 
baseline of each respective 
portfolio benchmark emission 
intensity as at 31/12/2019 –
in cases where the market 
benchmark decarbonised 
more rapidly, parity may be an 
acceptable minimum

•  Fossil fuel revenues and exposure 
no greater than that of each 
respective benchmark

•  Climate governance using 
TPI, targeting all our material 
holdings1 to be at TPI level 4 or 
above by 2022

•  Engagement with our material 
holdings to persuade them to 
advance at least one level (up 
to 4*) per year against the TPI 
Management quality framework

Improving reporting on carbon metrics
We use carbon footprinting, 
alongside other tools, to provide 
essential analysis on the carbon 
performance of Brunel Portfolios and 
appointed managers. The data helps 
us identify major contributors and 
engagement opportunities.

We report on a Brunel Aggregate 
Portfolio using a customised 
benchmark composed in the same 
proportions as the investments (see 
appendix). We also produce detailed 
carbon metrics report for each Brunel 
Portfolio, examples are provided 
below, but all can be found in our 
Carbon Metrics Report. Each client 
also has a dedicated report relating 
to their holdings. All data is as of 
December 2020.

Working with our clients and 
responding to the request to provide 
more detailed metrics, we have 
made a number of enhancements 
to our Carbon Metrics Reporting 
over the past 12 months. This has 
included more granularity around the 
following metrics:

•  Carbon intensity broken down by 
scope 1, scope 2 and tier 1 scope 
3 emissions

•  Industry breakdown of fossil 
fuel related activities for various 
energy and extractives industry 
activities

•  Future emissions from reserves 
broken down by fossil fuel type

Our carbon footprinting incorporates 
scope 1, scope 2 and first tier scope 
3 emissions; the diagram illustrates 
what the different these terms mean.  

Purchased 
Electricity for 

Own Use

Scope 1, 2 and 3 definitions 

SCOPE 2 
INDIRECT

SCOPE 3 
INDIRECT

SCOPE 1 
DIRECT

CO2    SF4    CH4    N2O    HFCs   PFCs

Contractor Owned 
Vehicles

Outsourced 
Activities

Fuel
Combustion

Company 
Owned 
Vehicles

Production 
of Purchased 

Materials

Employee 
Business Travel

Product 
Use

Investments

Waste
Disposal

Scope 1 emissions account 
for all direct greenhouse gas 
emissions from the activities of 
an organisation. This includes 
activities on site such as the 
use of gas boilers for heating 
buildings, emissions from 
company vehicles, leaks from air-
conditioning units and emissions 
from any onsite processes such as 
cement manufacturing.

Scope 2 emissions are indirect 
emissions from electricity 
purchased and used by the 
organisation. These emissions are 
created during the production of 
the energy.

Scope 3 emissions are all other 
indirect emissions with the 
exclusion of scope 2 (see left). 
These emissions occur from 
activities or sources that the 
organisation do not directly own 
or control. These include activities 
such as business travel, employee 
commuting, waste and water 
services and investments. 

Springbok solar farm,  
Kern County, California 

2322Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  

P
age 40

https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/climate-change/


Weighted Average Carbon Intensity (WACI)
The WACI shows a portfolio’s exposure 
to carbon-intensive companies. This 
measure is determined by taking the 
carbon intensity of each company 
and weighting it based on its holding 
size within the Portfolio. The WACI is 
one of the measures recommended 
by the TCFD and is a useful indicator 
of exposure to transition risk, such 
as policy intervention or changing 
consumer behaviour.

As of 31 December 2020, the Brunel 
Aggregate Portfolio had an efficiency 
of 22% versus the Custom Benchmark, 
up from 15.4% on 31 December 2019. 

We outline the Weighted Average 
Carbon Intensity (WACI) of each 
of Brunel’s listed equities portfolios 
below. All active equity portfolios 
have achieved at least a 7% 
emissions intensity reduction. All 

index tracking funds, except low 
carbon, match their benchmark. 
The priority action for 2021 is looking 
at low-carbon, potentially net-zero 
benchmarks for all our index-tracking 
portfolios. As part of our product 
governance review, we are reviewing 
our low carbon index portfolio 
in relation to the products and 
opportunities in the market. 

0

100

200

300

400

500

Brunel Active 
Emerging 
Markets

Brunel Active 
Global 

High Alpha

Brunel Active 
UK

Brunel 
Aggregate

Brunel Passive 
UK

Brunel Passive 
World 

Developed

Brunel Global 
Sustainable 

Equity 
Portfolio

Brunel Global 
Smaller 

Companies 
Portfolio

Brunel Passive 
Smart Beta

Brunel Passive 
Low Carbon

Brunel Active 
Low Volatility

C
ar

bo
n 

In
te

ns
ity

 (t
C

O
2e

/m
G

BP
)

224

286

199

278

143

194

273

145

244

419 419

278 278
246 246

174

273

179

269

402

458

244

Portfolio       Benchmark

Portfolio
Carbon intensity 2020 vs December 
2019 Benchmark Baseline

Brunel Aggregate Portfolio -33.1%

Brunel UK Active Portfolio -29.6%

Brunel Global High Alpha Portfolio -52.4%

Brunel Emerging Market Equity Portfolio -29.4%

Brunel Active Low Volatility Portfolio -41.9%

Brunel Passive Low Carbon Portfolio -51.9%

Brunel Passive Smart Beta Portfolio -24.5%

Brunel Passive UK Portfolio -1.2%

Brunel Passive World Developed Portfolio -18.7%

Brunel Global Sustainable Equity Portfolio* n/a

Brunel Global Smaller Companies Portfolio* n/a

  Meeting target    Action underway

*Portfolios launched in 2020. We are in the process of establishing an appropriate benchmark date

2524

We aim to reduce the carbon intensity 
of our portfolios by 7% each year 

Invesco and Brunel Pension Partnership: Building a multi-factor, low-carbon UK 
equity portfolio
Over the past 18 months, we have been working 
closely with Invesco, one of our UK managers, in order 
to decarbonise our UK Active Equity Portfolio.

Invesco uses an approach called quantitative 
investing, also known as systematic investing. This 
approach uses proprietary modelling and data 
analysis to deliver the investment objectives. The 
solution to looking at the climate risk, therefore, had 
to follow the same quantitative approach, rather than 
using tools such as engagement with the companies.

Along with Invesco, we identified several project 
objectives, including: stable and predictable carbon 
emission reductions over time; minimal impact on 
expected performance; and the ability to quantify 
the low-carbon impact on portfolio risk and return. 
Exposures to quality, momentum and value factors 
were maintained, which was important because they 
represent the targeted factors of the strategy.

Invesco was able to develop a bespoke low-carbon 
solution within the existing multi-factor strategy, which 
has significantly reduced carbon emissions – and aims 
to keep them below that of the FTSE All-Share Index. 

The outcome from this work has been a significant 
reduction in the carbon intensity of the Brunel UK 
Active Portfolio from when first measured in March 
2019 when it was 362 tCO2e/mGBP). The Portfolio as of 
December 2020 was 199 tCO2e/mGBP – a reduction in 
intensity of 45% over this 21 month time period. 

Turning to relative efficiency, as of December 2020, the 
Brunel UK Active Portfolio had a relative efficiency of 
28.4% versus its benchmark, the FTSE All-Share Ex-IT – an 
improvement from an efficiency of 8.8% in December 
2019. Over the last 12 months the Portfolio saw a 
decline in carbon intensity, from 259 tCO2e/mGBP as of 
December 2019 to 199 tCO2e/mGBP in December 2020 
– a 23.2% reduction. 

Case Study: Portfolio Management – Working with our managers 
to achieve decarbonisation  

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350 400

Mar 
2019

Dec 
2019

Dec 
2020

Carbon Intensity (tCO2e/mGBP)

Relative Efficiency (%)

Portfolio       Benchmark        Relative  Efficiency

-15% -10% -5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30%5%0%

362

259

199

278

282

316

UK Active Equity

Brunel UK Active 
Portfolio - 45% emissions 
intensity reduction 
March 2019 to 
December 2020

2524Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  

P
age 41



2726

Brunel Emerging  
Market Portfolio
Following engagement with 
the Portfolio Managers, carbon 
intensity on the portfolio 
dropped from 522 tCO2e/mGBP 
in December 2019 to 402 tCO2e/
mGBP in December 2020 – down 
22.9%. Its efficiency relative to 
benchmark rose from 8.4% to 
12.2% over the same period.

Brunel Active  
Low Volatility 
Similar work saw carbon intensity 
in this portfolio fall from 259 tCO2e/
mGBP in December 2019 to 194 
tCO2e/mGBP in December 2020 
– a 25.1% reduction. Efficiency 
versus benchmark rise from 22.4% 
to 28.9% in the same period.

Future Emissions from Reserves

Future Emissions from Reserves

Weighted Average Carbon Intensity

Weighted Average Carbon Intensity

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

Fu
tu

re
 e

m
iss

io
ns

 fr
om

 re
se

rv
es

(M
tC

O
2)

Coal       Oil       Gas       Oil and/or Gas   

Portfolio Benchmark Portfolio Benchmark
2019 2020

0

100

200

300

400

500

600
Direct        Scope 2        Tier 1 Scope 3  

C
ar

bo
n 

in
te

ns
ity

(t
C

O
2e

/m
G

BP
)

86
79

90

401

80

68

97

293

101

221

72

364

41%
41%

Portfolio Benchmark Portfolio Benchmark
2019 2020

0.0

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

1.0

1.2

1.4

1.6

1.8

Fu
tu

re
 e

m
iss

io
ns

 fr
om

 re
se

rv
es

(M
tC

O
2)

Coal       Oil       Gas       Oil and/or Gas   

Portfolio Benchmark Portfolio Benchmark
2019 2020

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

Direct        Scope 2        Tier 1 Scope 3  

C
ar

bo
n 

in
te

ns
ity

(t
C

O
2e

/m
G

BP
)

69 51

73

210

67

59

49

165
41

86

43

147

41%
41%

Portfolio Benchmark Portfolio Benchmark
2019 2020

Fossil fuel-related activities 
It is important to identify exposure 
to business activities in extractives 
industries in order to assess the 
potential risk of ‘stranded assets’. 
Assets become “stranded” when 
they suffer premature write-downs, 
devaluations or conversion to 
liabilities – often due to changes in 
policy or consumer behaviour. 

For each portfolio, we identify the 
exposure to extraction-related 
activities by analysing the revenue 
exposure and potential emissions 
from reserves for fossil fuel related 
activities. These metrics highlight 
companies with business activities 
in extractives industries, as well as 
companies that have disclosed 
proven and probable fossil fuel 
reserves in the portfolio (see 
Appendix for definitions).

The Brunel Aggregate Portfolio 
(BAP) is less exposed to both fossil 
fuel revenues (1.4% vs 2.2%) and 
future emissions from reserves 
(24.8 MtCO2 vs 46.2 MtCO2) than its 
custom benchmark. Projected future 
emissions from reserves within the 
BAP have declined from 34.7 MtCO2 
in 2019 to 24.8 MtCO2 in 2020, due to:

•  decarbonisation of the Brunel 
portfolios (as discussed above)

•  asset allocation changes 
between portfolios due to asset 
allocation investment decisions 
by clients

•  additional Brunel portfolios 
launched in 2020 (Brunel 
Sustainable Equities and Brunel 
Global Small Cap)

All of Brunel’s active portfolios have 
reserves emissions lower than their 
benchmarks, except for the Brunel 
Global High Alpha Portfolio. The 
Brunel Low Volatility Global Equity, 
Brunel Sustainable Equities and 
Brunel Global Small Cap all have zero 
emissions from reserves. 

Turning to fossil fuel reserves 
exposures, each of Brunels active 
portfolios has a lower level of fossil 
fuel reserves than its respective 
benchmark thus reducing its 
exposure to potentially stranded 
assets. 

Future Emissions from Reserves

Industry Breakdown of Fossil Fuel Related Activities

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000
Coal       Oil       Gas       Oil and/or Gas   

Fu
tu

re
 e

m
iss

io
ns

 fr
om

 re
se

rv
es

(M
tC

O
2)

Portfolio Benchmark Portfolio Benchmark
2019 2020

0.0%

0.2%

0.4%

0.6%

0.8%
Portfolio       Benchmark

Coal Power 
Generation

Petroleum 
Power 

Generation

Natural Gas 
Power 

Generation

Crude 
petroleum 

and natural 
gas extraction

Tar sands 
extraction

Bituminous 
coal mining

Drilling oil 
and gas 

wells

Natural gas 
liquid 

extraction

Support 
activities for 
oil and gas 
operations

Energy Extractives

0.46%

0.26% 0.25%

0.70%

0.34%

0.07%

0.20% 0.18%

0.06%

0.12% 0.12%

0.07%

0.16%
0.11%

0.01% 0.01% 0.01% 0.01%

Revenue

Re
ve

nu
e 

ex
po

su
re

2726Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  

P
age 42



2928

Emissions from Reserves per million Invested

Reserves Exposure

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

9,000

Re
se

rv
e 

In
te

ns
ity

 (t
C

O
2e

/m
G

BP
)

Brunel
Active 

Emerging 
Markets

Brunel 
Active 
Global 

High Alpha

Brunel 
Active 

UK

Brunel 
Aggregate

Brunel 
Passive 

UK

Brunel 
Passive 
World 

Developed

Brunel 
Global 

Sustainable 
Equity 

Portfolio

Brunel 
Global 
Smaller 

Companies 
Portfolio

Brunel 
Passive 
Smart 
Beta

Brunel 
Passive 

Low 
Carbon

Brunel
Active 

Low 
Volatility

1,661

3,091
3,413

7,973

1,772
1,390

2,230 2,227

1,390
1,562 1,562 1,409 1,409

2,277 2,281

7,941 7,941

29

8,027

Portfolio       Benchmark

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%
Portfolio       Benchmark

W
ei

gh
t b

y 
va

lu
e 

of
 h

ol
d

in
gs

Brunel
Active 

Emerging 
Markets

Brunel 
Active 
Global 

High Alpha

Brunel 
Active 

UK

Brunel 
Aggregate

Brunel 
Passive 

UK

Brunel 
Passive 
World 

Developed

Brunel 
Global 

Sustainable 
Equity 

Portfolio

Brunel 
Global 
Smaller 

Companies 
Portfolio

Brunel 
Passive 
Smart 
Beta

Brunel 
Passive 

Low 
Carbon

Brunel
Active 

Low 
Volatility

13.4%

2.7%

4.4%

7.8%

1.7%

2.6% 2.8%

0.1% 0.3%

5.4%

3.0% 2.6% 2.8% 2.8% 2.6% 2.6%
3.0%

1.5%

13.4% 13.4%

Disclosure Rates

To undertake the carbon emissions 
and fossil fuel analysis requires 
companies to disclosure all the 
required information. Disclosure rates 
vary enormously across the world 
and this is one of the reasons Brunel 
is a strong advocate for mandatory 
climate risk reporting for all companies. 
The higher the level of direct disclosure, 
the higher the confidence in the 

data against which to take action. 
Over time, we seek to increase the 
proportion of direct or ‘full disclosure’ 
of all our portfolios. More details on the 
definitions of the 3 levels of disclosure 
are outlined in the appendix.

The level of company disclosures for the 
Brunel Aggregate Portfolio and each 
Brunel Sub-Portfolio is illustrated below.

Unsurprisingly, companies under 
lower regulatory regimes such as 
Smaller Companies and Emerging 
Markets have lower levels of 
disclosure rates. Generally speaking 
all of our Portfolios tend to have 
higher disclosure rates than their 
respective benchmarks.

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Full disclosure          Partial Disclosure          Modelled

D
isc

lo
su

re
 ra

te
 b

y 
V

O
H

Brunel
Active 

Emerging 
Markets

Brunel 
Active 
Global 

High Alpha

Brunel 
Active 

UK

Brunel 
Aggregate

Brunel 
Passive 

UK

Brunel 
Passive 
World 

Developed

Brunel 
Global 

Sustainable 
Equity 

Portfolio

Brunel 
Global 
Smaller 

Companies 
Portfolio

Brunel 
Passive 
Smart 
Beta

Brunel 
Passive 

Low 
Carbon

Brunel
Active 

Low 
Volatility

18%

26%

56%

2%

38%

60% 61%

31%

40%

29%

12%

21%

67% 63%

23% 24%

62% 66% 63%

23%

13%

31%

20%

48%

14%

20%

66%

32%

2%

14% 14%

21%

18%

The TPI Tool
The Transition Pathway Initiative 
(TPI) is a global, asset-owner 
led initiative which assesses 
companies’ preparedness for 
the transition to a low carbon 
economy. The TPI tool uses 
publicly available company 
information to assess:

Management quality 

The quality of companies’ 
management of their greenhouse 
gas emissions and of risks and 
opportunities related to the low-
carbon transition

Carbon performance 

How companies’ carbon 
performance now and in the 
future might compare to the 
international targets and national 
pledges made as part of the 
Paris Agreement. 

Companies management quality 
is assessed annually across 17 
indicators. 

Companies are placed on one of 
five levels:

Level 0 - Unaware of, or not 
acknowledging climate change 
as a business issue

Level 1 – Acknowledging climate 
change as a business issue 

Level 2 – Building capacity 

Level 3 – Integrated into 
operational decision-making 

Level 4 – Strategic assessment

For more information see  
www.transitionpathwayinitiative.org

Transition Pathway Initiative (TPI) 

Assessment of Our Active Equity Portfolios 

We aim to have all our material 
holdings on TPI level 4 or above 
by 2022.

We use the TPI management quality 
scores to assess the transparency of 
companies’ management of their 
greenhouse gas emissions and of risks 
and opportunities related to the low-
carbon transition.

As of December 2020, within Brunel’s 
Active Equity Portfolios there were 
74 companies covered by the TPI 
tool. Of these, 30 holdings (41% by 
investment value) are categorised as 
Level 4.

From December 2019 to December 
2020, 15 of those holdings not 
achieving level 4 or above were 

downgraded a TPI level. These 
companies accounted for 30% of our 
TPI-covered holdings by equity value. 
Over this same time period, 3 lower-
scoring holdings were upgraded. 

The fall in the proportion and number 
of companies ranked as level 4 and 
4* from 2019 to 2020 was due to:

•  A broader trend of falling TPI 
scores due to lagging support for 
climate policies and disclosure 
of trade association climate 
lobbying5

•  Two new portfolios

•  11 holdings within our Active 
Equity Portfolios that are new to 
the TPI index

For those companies assessed as Level 3 or below, we are:

•  engaging with all those who have not improved their TPI 
Level year-on-year 

•  considering voting against management at companies 
failing to improve

5  For more information see TPI State of Transition Report 2021

TPI Management Quality Brunel Active Equity Count

0

10

20

30

40

50

Unaware Awareness Building 
Capacity

Integrating into 
operational 

decision making

Strategic 
Assessment

Level 0 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 4/4*

1 1

13

8 7
46

32
30

40

2019         2020

2928Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  

P
age 43

http://www.transitionpathwayinitiative.org


At the lower end of Management Quality, 16% of companies in the Brunel 
Active Equity Portfolio by count are on Levels 0 to 2, against 38% across the 
TPI universe. 

The average Management 
Quality level of all companies 
in the Brunel Active Portfolios 
is 3.2. This is ahead of the 
average of the TPI database 
which is 2.6.

As well as assessing companies’ 
management quality scores, we use 
the TPI tool to undertake scenario 
analysis on specific holdings by 
assessing their carbon performance. 
TPI translate emissions targets made 
at the international level into sectoral 
benchmarks. This framework is known 
as the Sectoral Decarbonisation 
Approach. 

TPI uses three benchmark scenarios 
which, in most sectors, are as follows: 

•  Paris pledges (i.e. NDCs) 

•  2 Degrees (in line with Paris 
Agreement minimums) 

•  Below 2 Degrees (in line with 
ambitious interpretation of Paris)

Benchmarking is sector-specific and 
based on emissions intensity e.g. for 
electricity utilities, it is tonnes of CO2 
per MWh electricity generated.   
(See TPI website for methodologies.) 

Over the last year, we have been in 
conversation with several providers 
over data and methodologies 
around climate scenario analysis. 
We are hoping to progress scenario 
analysis for both our listed market 
and private market portfolios. 

Focus area for 2021 – Net Zero Benchmarks
We recognise that climate-related risks can be managed differently 
according to whether funds are active or passive. We see traditional 
benchmarks and indices as a block to decarbonisation across the 
industry and are actively seeking and encouraging the development of 
lower carbon and Paris-aligned index solutions.

3130

TPI Management Quality Score Changes Year on Year by Equity 
Market Value

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

Target 
achieved 

Up Unchanged Down New

41%

4%

17%

30%

9%

70%

DWS - Investing for the Low Carbon Transition
Through our Cycle 1 infrastructure portfolio, we are 
invested in the DWS Pan-European Infrastructure 
portfolio. It has a strong focus on ESG, with investments 
in innovative energy solutions aimed at supporting the 
low carbon transition. 

Blue Pearl – Green Transition Solutions 

Through this fund, we are invested in French and 
Belgian energy services businesses across installation 
and maintenance, heating ventilation air conditioning, 
and district energy and cooling. 

Vertex – Sustainable Biofuel 

Vertex is the sole bioethanol producer in Spain and 
Southern France and is one of the most efficient 
producers in Europe. The biofuel is added to gasoline 
to reduce the carbon intensity of vehicle emissions. 

Case Study: Investing in climate solutions

Next steps
•  Net Zero policy benchmark with lower-

carbon index solutions as key component to 
achieving our circa 20%+ emission intensity 
reduction by 2022 in each and every listed 
equity portfolio

• Establish our 2022 Climate Stocktake criteria

•  Progressing our approach to analysing 
physical and adaption risk across all 
portfolios, in particular real estate

• Enhancing our climate scenario analysis 

3130Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  

P
age 44

https://www.transitionpathwayinitiative.org/methodology


3332

Case Study:  Responsible investment and Stewardship in 
private markets

ESG Policies, 
Processes and 

Resources

ESG 
integration in 
Due Diligence

ESG 
Integration in 

Ownership 
Stage

ESG Reporting 
to LPs

Diversity
Labour 

standards

Social Impact

Energy 
efficiency/ 

Savings

Recycling and 
Resource 
Efficiency

Pollution 
R - Eye™ Rating System 1

R - E Y E
R A T I N G :

3 . 6

0 1 2 3 4 5

Weak ESG Strong ESG

Climate 
change

Suitability/ESG 
credentials of 
counterparties

Compliance 
with laws, tax 
& regulations

Local 
habitat/

ecosystem 
impact

Human 
environment 

impact

Local 
resources

Health & 
safety

Community 
enggagement

Local 
employment

Relationship 
with clients & 

suppliers

Board 
composition

Handling 
conflicts of 

interest

0 1 2 3 4 5

Climate 
change

Suitability/ESG 
credentials of 
counterparties

Suitability/ESG 
credentials of 
counterparties

Local habitat/
ecosystem impact

Human environment 
impact

Local resources

Health and safety

Community 
enggagement

local employment

Relationship with 
clients and suppliers

Board composition

Suitability/ESG 
credentials of 
counterparties

The project was granted planning consent with 
conditions set in place to ensure minimal impact to 

any human environment, ranging from noise emission 
to visual impact. These are being abided by as part of 
the planning guidelines. During construction, there will 
be a Construction and Environmental Management 
Plan to ensure minimal impact on the environment 
and enhance the site safety. An Ecological Clerk of 

Work will be appointed to monitor and ensure 
compliance with the environmental mitigation and 
management measures to mitigate any negative 

impact to the surrounding area.

G
O

VE
RN

ANCE ENVIRONM
EN

TA
L

SOCIAL

4

G
O

VE
RN

ANCE ENVIRONM
EN

TA
L

SOCIAL

4

ESG Policies, 
Processes and 

Resources

ESG 
integration in 
Due Diligence

ESG 
Integration in 

Ownership 
Stage

ESG Reporting 
to LPs

Diversity
Labour 

standards

Social Impact

Energy 
efficiency/ 

Savings

Recycling and 
Resource 
Efficiency

Pollution 
R - Eye™ Rating System 1

R - E Y E
R A T I N G :

3 . 6

0 1 2 3 4 5

Weak ESG Strong ESG

Climate 
change

Suitability/ESG 
credentials of 
counterparties

Compliance 
with laws, tax 
& regulations

Local 
habitat/

ecosystem 
impact

Human 
environment 

impact

Local 
resources

Health & 
safety

Community 
enggagement

Local 
employment

Relationship 
with clients & 

suppliers

Board 
composition

Handling 
conflicts of 

interest

0 1 2 3 4 5

Climate 
change

Suitability/ESG 
credentials of 
counterparties

Suitability/ESG 
credentials of 
counterparties

Local habitat/
ecosystem impact

Human environment 
impact

Local resources

Health and safety

Community 
enggagement

local employment

Relationship with 
clients and suppliers

Board composition

Suitability/ESG 
credentials of 
counterparties

The project was granted planning consent with 
conditions set in place to ensure minimal impact to 

any human environment, ranging from noise emission 
to visual impact. These are being abided by as part of 
the planning guidelines. During construction, there will 
be a Construction and Environmental Management 
Plan to ensure minimal impact on the environment 
and enhance the site safety. An Ecological Clerk of 

Work will be appointed to monitor and ensure 
compliance with the environmental mitigation and 
management measures to mitigate any negative 

impact to the surrounding area.

G
O

VE
RN

ANCE ENVIRONM
EN

TA
L

SOCIAL

4

G
O

VE
RN

ANCE ENVIRONM
EN

TA
L

SOCIAL

4

Climate change
Low carbon generation 
with large climate benefits.

Local habitat/ecosystem impact 
Longhill will be replanting the trees that have been felled and 
have leased a forestry area outside of the site to plant trees that 
cannot be replanted on the existing site due to the windfarm.

Local resources
Resources from the site will be used where 
possible in supporting the build of the civil 
infrastructure of the windfarm with agreements 
in place with the landlords.

Community engagement 
Memorandum of Understandings have been signed with three 
local community groups based within the vicinity of the wind 
farm. Longhill is committed to contributing a significant portion of 

its annual revenue to supporting these local community groups.

Local 
employment
Local employment 
will be utilized 
where possible 
during the 
construction 
process. Key 
members of the 
asset management 
team managing the 
wind farm when it 
is operational will 
mostly be based 
in Scotland / North 
England.

5

55

5 4

4

Human environment 
impact
The project was granted 
planning consent with 
conditions set in place to 
ensure minimal impact to 
any human environment, 
ranging from noise emission 
to visual impact. These are 
being abided by as part 
of the planning guidelines. 
During construction, there 
will be a Construction and 
Environmental Management 
Plan to ensure minimal impact 
on the environment and 
enhance the site safety. An 
Ecological Clerk of Work will 
be appointed to monitor and 
ensure compliance with the 
environmental mitigation and 
management measures to 
mitigate any negative impact 

to the surrounding area.

Capital Dynamics has a long-standing commitment to 
Responsible Investment (“RI”) and utilizes a proprietary 
R-Eye™ Rating System to ensure a consistent and 
transparent approach to RI due diligence. This 
trademarked rating system scores each investment 
from 0 to 5 based on a set of criteria developed in 
conjunction with the UN Sustainable Development 
Goals. Each investment made at Capital Dynamics is 
rated from 0 to 5 at the time of investment and this score 
is updated at least once a year.

In February 2021, Capital Dynamics acquired a 50 MW 
onshore wind project in West Lothian, Scotland, which 

is expcted to be one of the largest subsidy-free onshore 
wind projects in the UK, once operational. The project 
received a high R-Eye™ score during the due diligence 
process, indicative of its impact on such areas as 
climate, environment, and local community. 

Construction of Longhill will commence in March 2021 
and is expected to achieve commercial operations in the 
second half of 2022. The project is estimated to reduce 
greenhouse emissions by over 2.6 million metric tons 
during its lifetime – the equivalent of emissions produced 
by over 550,000 passenger vehicles driven for a year or 
the electricity to power over 440,000 homes for a year.

Scorecard Snapshot

Tax and Cost Transparency

We expect companies to: 

•   Comply with all tax laws and 
regulations in all countries of 
operation

•  Recognise the importance of 
taxation to the funding of good 
public services on which they 
and their stakeholders rely, 
and commit to paying their fair 
contribution 

•  Ensure that their tax policies and 
practices do not damage their 
social licence to operate in all 
jurisdictions where they operate

•  Disclose the taxes they pay (or 
collect) in each country

•  Provide country-by-country 
reporting to demonstrate that 
taxes are paid where economic 
value is generated

•  Adopt an approach to tax 
policy that is sustainable and 
transparent

We seek to promote fair and transparent tax and cost systems 
as a way for corporations to contribute to the economies 
in which they operate and asset managers to demonstrate 
value for money.

What actions have we taken? 
Responsible tax practices or, at least, 
the expectation of an improvement 
in approach, was communicated 
by Brunel throughout 2020 as part 
of our response to the Covid-19 
pandemic. We have championed tax 
transparency and previously reported 
on our support of the Tax Engagement 
Programme coordinated by the PRI. 
However, with many companies 
becoming reliant on taxpayer-funded 
bailouts or support for their workforce, 
how this is ‘repaid’ back to society 
in future years has never been more 
important.

Whilst tax issues were not a focus 
area of corporate engagement 
in 2020, EOS at Federated Hermes 
engaged with CEOs more broadly 
through an open letter, published 
in April 2020. The letter asked how 
they were making difficult decisions 
in relation to their employees, 
supply chains, customers and other 
stakeholders, in the context of 
Government support of the economy, 
and setting expectations of follow up 
engagement in 2021.

We believe openness on investment costs and tax is key to building understanding and trust. 

We expect asset managers to:

•  Comply with LGPS/FCA Cost 
Transparency Initiative (CTI) for 
listed market managers

•  Support our cost transparency 
objectives in all asset classes

COVID-19 - Corporate 
response to the pandemic
Brunel has specifically asked Hermes 
EOS to focus on tax and executive 
remuneration in 2021, which they 
have committed to do;

“we will urge companies to act 
responsibly in critical areas such as 
good employment practices, the 
payment of appropriate levels of 
corporate taxation, and justifiable 
levels of executive remuneration.”

Federated Hermes, Brunel Pension 
Partnership Annual Stewardship 
Report 2020

3332Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  

P
age 45



3534

This case study is a summary version of one produced 
with CACEIS for Pensions Age, March 2021.

We are a signatory to the UN-backed PRI and the LGPS 
Code of Transparency but we faced two particular 
challenges around monitoring our cost transparency. 

One was the difficulty of what data made for an apt 
comparison – pooling is unusual and, even within 
pooling, Brunel operates quite differently to other 
pools. CACEIS provides access to a much wider 
dataset than we could otherwise have used and has 
a broader view of the cost transparency landscape. 
As a result, we have already been able to look at fees 
and performance data across different asset classes.

The second challenge was that our relatively small 
size meant we could only bring a certain amount of 
expertise in-house. The expertise CACEIS provides 
means we have a better grasp of our costs and a solid 
platform to manage them in the future. That, in turn, 
made it easier to explain the pension scheme’s costs 
to clients and members – and using an independent 
third party provides that extra level of reassurance. 

But a successful outcome in this area still requires 
significant input from Brunel. Local authorities have an 
understandable sensitivity to costs and to the value 
they receive from any service they pay for. Brunel 
has to demonstrate that it is taking a positive and 
highly proactive approach to its cost transparency 
programme, as well as demonstrating awareness of 
the complexity of the area more broadly.

It was therefore important that we addressed the topic 
through our Responsible Investment principles. Brunel 
has identified three component parts to integrating cost 
transparency into its decision-making: how it selects 
managers; how it monitors its assets; and how it manages 
the asset managers on an ongoing basis. All of this is 
wrapped up in our Responsible Investment Principles. 

Initial reviews show Brunel is already considerably 
below post-consolidation Dutch or CACEIS averages 
on costs. This means the company is delivering a core 
part of the pooling agenda.

Case Study: Cost Transparency 

Cost transparency – delivering value for money
Brunel is a signatory of the LGPS 
Code of Transparency and requires 
all appropriate managers to be 
signatories. We expect all our 
managers to have appropriate 
fee structures that align with client 
interest. Our private markets team 
has been actively engaging with 
General Partners to promote fair 
and transparent fee structures, 
which has been enhanced by 
the work of our private markets 
administrator, Colmore. 

Our cost transparency reports are 
provided to clients and include 
disclosures such as:

•  Portfolio investment activity and 
transaction costs 

• A breakdown of ongoing charges 

• Performance fees (if applicable)

• Incidental costs (if applicable)

•  Lending and borrowing costs 
(if applicable)

100% of our appointed 
listed market fund 
managers are currently 
achieving or committed 
to becoming LGPS/FCA 
CTI complaint. 

Next steps
•  Advocate strongly for corporates to act responsibly post-pandemic on tax and other practices 

indicative of their conduct and culture

• Promote best practice around tax and cost transparency within our own operations

•  Engage our appointed managers on tax and cost transparency in regard to their own 
operations and stewardship activities

Diversity and Inclusion

We believe that, to function and 
perform optimally, companies and 
their Boards should seek diversity 
of membership taking into account 
the company’s long-term strategic 
direction, business model, employees, 
customers, suppliers and geographic 
footprint, as well as to reflect the 
diversity of society, including across 
race, gender, skills, nationality 
and background. This will make 
companies more sustainable and 
profitable over the long term. 

We have long advocated for gender 
diversity and strongly believe that 
female representation on the Boards 
of UK FTSE 350 companies should be 
at least 33% by 2020, as set out in 
the report ‘Women on Boards: 5-year 
summary’, by Lord Davies, and the 
findings of the Hampton-Alexander 
review. 

In the UK, as of January 2021, women 
held 36.4% of Board positions in 
the FTSE 100, 33.2% in the FTSE 250, 
and 34.3% in the FTSE 350.6 The UK 
Government target was therefore 
reached in 2020, but has required 

policymakers, investors and 
companies to make significant shifts 
over the past decade. However, there 
is still much progress to be made 
when looking at broader senior 
leadership roles. For example, women 
currently make up only 26.5% of FTSE 
100 executive committees, and just 
27.1% at FTSE 250 companies. Progress 
at board level has been strongest in 
non-executive positions. Progress will 
only be sustained if women now fill 
more top executive roles.

Beyond boards and executive teams, 
progress has been uneven. Research 
by McKinsey, published in July 2020, 
found that, although women make 
up 39% of global employment, they 
account for 54% of overall job losses. 
It also found that global GDP growth 
could be $1 trillion lower in 2030 as a 
result of women’s unemployment not 
simply tracking men’s. Acting now, on 
the other hand, could add $13 trillion 
to global GDP in 2030. Moreover, the 
past year has highlighted the value of 
continued engagement in this area.

Ethnic Diversity
In May the world witnessed an 
outpouring of emotions in response 
to the death of George Floyd in 
America and the subsequent protests 
globally. This shone a spotlight on the 
racial inequality which persists today. 
#TALKABOUTBLACK, a workstream of 
the Diversity project looks to address 
the under-representation of black 
talent by developing a sustainable 
pipeline of black leaders in the 
asset management industry. The 
workstream launched the #IAM 
campaign to get the industry talking 
about this important topic. Helen 
Price, Stewardship Manager, shared 
her personal thoughts in a blog: 
#IAM #TALKABOUTBLACK, which 
reflected on the asset management’s 
approach to engagement on 
ethnicity. Whilst we celebrated 
progress made on the targets of 
the Hampton Alexander review, 
the February update report of the 
Parker review showed there was ‘slow 
progress’ on ethnic diversity and that 
it would be challenging for FTSE 100 

We seek to promote fair, diverse and inclusive business 
environments and practices across the companies in which 
we invest, as well as across our own operations. 

6 Hampton-Alexander Review, FTSE Women Leaders, February 2021

6 Hampton-Alexander REview, FTSE Women Leaders, February 2021

3534Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  34

P
age 46

https://bit.ly/3cRQY4U
https://diversityproject.com/resource/talkaboutblack-overview
https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/iam-talk-black-helen-price/


3736

Statue of Jan Reid, Black Lives 
Matter demonstrator, unveiled 
in Bristol, June 2020. The Black 
Lives Matter movement became 
a global phenomenon in 2020, 
creating a major opportunity 
for change. In June, Helen Price 
wrote a blog on #IAM and 

#TALKABOUTBLACK and on how 
the finance industry is engaging.

companies to hit the ‘One by 2021’ 
target recommended by the Review 
in 2017. 37% of FTSE 100 companies 
surveyed (31 out of 83 companies) 
did not have any ethnic minority 
representation on their boards, and 
4 FTSE 100 companies and 47 FTSE 
250 companies failed to respond 
to disclosure requests. Within the 
investment industry, representation 
and engagement is woefully lacking 
and engagement has not been 
as decisive as for other aspects of 
diversity. Although Brunel includes 
ethnic diversity in its Stewardship 
policy and voting guidelines, we 
concluded that we need to do more. 

In 2021, we will ramp up engagement 
on ethnic diversity with strengthened 
voting. We therefore updated our 
voting principle to say:

“In 2021 we will consider voting 
against the chair of the board of FTSE 
100 companies that do not have at 
least one director from an ethnic 
minority background and have no 
credible plan to rapidly achieve this”

Job security is also a concern for 
ethnic minorities, who are more likely 
to be impacted by the Covid crisis. 
The McGregor-Smith Review, which 
looked at race in the workplace, 
found that tackling racial disparities 

in the UK labour market could 
result in an annual economic boost 
worth £24bn to the UK economy. In 
addition to engaging on diversity, 
Brunel has been engaging on 
precarious work practices (see Human 
Capital section). 

While there is evidence that society 
and businesses have made shifts 
in order to advance diversity, we 
believe it is important to continue 
to push forward on this positive 
trajectory by working with the 
wider investment industry and the 
companies in which we invest and by 
improving our own operations. 

Percentage of females on Boards

Portfolio Name Portfolio 2019 Portfolio 2020 Benchmark

Brunel UK Active Equity 34.4% 35.6% 35.3%

Brunel Emerging Market Equity 11.3% 13.3% 11.7%

Brunel Global High Alpha 25.9% 28.4% 30.6%

Brunel Low Volatility 25.4% 26.7% 28.2%

Source data: Brunel Pension Partnership and Factset, December 2020. Figures are on a 
weighted average basis. 

What action have we taken?

Measuring Diversity & Inclusion within our portfolios 

In 2019, we established a baseline 
for monitoring and reporting the 
percentage of women on Boards 
within our own investment Portfolios. 
One year on, we are pleased that our 
UK Active Equity Portfolio has seen 
an increase in the percentage of 
women on Boards and continues to 
exceed the 33% target (for females on 

Boards), as outlined in the Hampton-
Alexander review. Our UK active 
Emerging Markets, Global High Alpha 
and Low Volatility portfolios have also 
seen an increase in the percentage of 
females on Boards from 2019 to 2020. 
In addition, Our Global High Alpha 
portfolio has exceeded the 28% target 
that we set in 2019.

Diversity and Inclusion in 
Manager Selection
Diversity and Inclusion has been 
an integral part of Brunel’s manger 
selection. We embed reporting 
requirements into our investment 
manager agreements and 
incorporate it into ongoing manager 
selection. It can be challenging 
for asset owners to identify what 
good looks like, due to a lack of 
transparency in the industry. Although 
some asset managers are making 
good progress, this is not the norm. 
Instead, progress is woefully slow, 
there continues to be uneven ethnic 
representation, and the industry 
continues to have one of the highest 
gender pay gaps. To tackle this, in 
Autumn 2020 we formed, and now 
co-lead, the Asset Owner Diversity 
Working Group with an objective to 
formalise a set of actions that asset 

owners can commit to in order to 
improve diversity, in all forms, across 
the investment industry. The group 
has been developing a charter 
which asset owners would sign up 
to and which would commit them 
to a number of asks. The aim of 
the project is to get more asset 
owners signalling to managers that 
diversity and inclusion is important; 
to seek to improve transparency and 
standardisation; and to ultimately 
improve diversity across the industry. 
We aim to release the charter in the 
later part of 2021.

Measuring Diversity and 
Inclusion
•  We are proud to support the 

Diversity Project’s five-year 
programme, which aims to 
achieve diversity across all 
dimensions, including gender, 
ethnicity, socio-economic 

background, LGBTI+, age and 
disability throughout finance. 
As part of this project, we 
provided insight for a paper 
titled ‘Addressing Barriers to 
Diversity in Portfolio Management: 
Performance Continuity and 
Turnover’. Throughout 2020 we 
spoke at numerous events to raise 
awareness of the guidance

•  Where appropriate, we sign 
letters to companies encouraging 
them to improve their approaches 
to diversity. For example, in 2020 
we co-signed letters to two 
Japanese companies which fell 
behind the 10% board diversity 
2020 target of the 30% Club in 
Japan. Follow-on engagements 
were held to understand the 
companies’ approach to diversity 
and to encourage disclosure.

•  We encourage companies with 
below 250 employees to consider 
gender pay gap disclosure where 
practical. In the UK, we vote 
against the financial statements 
and statutory reports of qualifying 
companies (250 or more UK 
employees) that fail to disclose 
their gender pay gap

•  We encourage our appointed 
managers to address and be 
transparent on gender pay gap 
and diversity statistics on an 
annual basis

3736Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  36

P
age 47

https://diversityproject.com/resource/addressing-barriers-diversity-portfolio-management-performance-continuity-and-turnover
https://diversityproject.com/resource/addressing-barriers-diversity-portfolio-management-performance-continuity-and-turnover
https://diversityproject.com/resource/addressing-barriers-diversity-portfolio-management-performance-continuity-and-turnover
https://diversityproject.com/resource/addressing-barriers-diversity-portfolio-management-performance-continuity-and-turnover


3938

A number of our appointed private market managers 
have become founding signatories of the Institutional 
Limited Partners Association’s Diversity in Action 
initiative. The Initiative serves as a means for General 
Partners and Limited Partners to publicly acknowledge 
their commitment to take concrete steps to advance 
diversity, equity and inclusion, both within their 
organisation and across the industry more broadly.

The Initiative’s framework lays out the essential criteria 
that address D&I across several themes and areas — 
from recruitment and talent retention, to investment 
practices, to community outreach. 

AlpInvest Partners, Ardian and KKR are three of the 
founding signatories that manage private market 
investments for Brunel. In addition, Stepstone 
Infrastructure and Real Assets (SIRA), appointed in 2020 
to actively deploy infrastructure capital and build a 
portfolio to Brunel’s specifications, has also become 
a founding signatory. As well as a strong focus on 
Responsible Investing and sustainability throughout 
the due diligence phase, SIRA have upped the focus 
within their own operations, specifically around 
Diversity and Inclusion. 

Montanaro is one of the appointed managers within 
our Global Smaller Companies Portfolio. In the wake 
of the Black Lives Matter movement, it has been 
conducting targeted engagement with companies 
around the integration of diversity and inclusion. 

One of their portfolio companies, Xylem, a water 
technology company, has introduced specific targets 
around ethnic minority and gender diversity. The 
company aims to have ethnic minorities accounting 
for 25% of the work force and for gender parity across 

the Senior Leadership Team globally by 2025. To 
achieve these targets, the company requires diverse 
candidate pools at interview stage. In addition, to help 
improve the diversity of candidates into junior roles, 
the company is working with the US Water Environment 
Agency to increase the number of black students in 
certain university courses related to their industry. 

The company has already seen an improvement in the 
ethnic diversity target within the US workforce since 
the target was launched. 

Case Study: Diversity and Inclusion in Private Markets 

Case Study: Montanaro Diversity and Inclusion engagement 

Diversity and Inclusion at Brunel
Within our own business we aim to 
promote diversity and inclusion at the 
highest level. The top positions on our 
Board, Chair and CEO, are both held 
by women: Denise Le Gal and Laura 
Chappell. In addition, throughout the 
company we have a roughly 50/50 
gender split in staffing. Brunel has 
fewer than 250 employees and is not 

required to disclose its gender pay 
gap. However, Brunel is committed 
to be an attractive and transparent 
employer and therefore voluntarily 
discloses its gender pay gap data. 
In addition, we seek to continue 
to improve our own approach to 
diversity and inclusion in line with 
best practice. 

Women make up the following share of each quartile:

2018 2019 2020

50% of Upper 40% of Upper 33% of Upper

57% of Upper Middle 50% of Upper Middle 42% of Upper Middle

29% of Lower Middle 20% of Lower Middle 67% of Lower Middle

100% of Lower 82% of Lower 77% of Lower

Employee Salaries Quartile 2018/2019 2019/2020 Change

Upper 1.38 1.52 -0.14

Middle Upper 2.01 2.20 -0.19

Lower Middle 3.74 3.80 -0.06

Lower 6.01 6.50 -0.49

Source: Brunel Pension Partnership, 2020 Annual Financial Statements

Brunel acknowledges its own gender 
pay gap. The gap reflects the 
fact the lower quartile still largely 
comprises female members of 
staff (77%), despite falling 5% over 
the year. Brunel is committed to 
giving staff opportunities to develop 
through corporate and individual 
training and development plans. 
This is demonstrated by our annual 
pay review, which incorporates a 
competency framework, enabling 
the business to identify opportunities 
to develop our workforce. 

As of 5 April 2020, Brunel had 49 
employees (27 female and 22 male), 
a small sample that makes the data 
highly sensitive. Small differences can 
therefore alter outcomes profoundly. 
There is also a gender pay gap in 

the upper quartile (67% of the upper 
quartile is male in comparison, 
33% are female). Where gender 
pay differentials occur, they are 
recognised, and then addressed by 
training and development.

The median gender pay gap has 
fallen for a second consecutive 
year, which is testament both to 
Brunel’s awareness of the issue and 
to its commitment to address the 
gap through training and flexible 
working. The mean gender pay gap, 
however, has increased, due to the 
male-female ratio change on our 
Board and in senior management. 
This serves as a reminder that board 
membership changes can materially 
impact our gender pay gap. 

Next steps
•  Having achieved our 

portfolio specific targets, 
we aim to stay above 
this level but continue to 
seek improvement on the 
percentage of female 
representation on Boards 
for each of our active 
investment portfolios. 

•  Engaging with companies 
on ethnic diversity, asking 
companies for a strategy 
and action plan to close 
the ethnic pay gap and 
achieve proportionate 
ethnic representation at all 
levels, including the board

•  To encourage 
improvements in the 
amount of data available 
around diversity and 
inclusion, working with our 
data and engagement 
providers

•  Continue to maintain and 
publish our own diversity 
statistics and gender 
pay on a voluntary basis. 
We will explore further 
developing disclosures

•  Continue co-leading the 
Asset Owner Diversity 
Working Group with 
the aim of improving 
transparency and diversity 
in the investment industry. 
We aim to release the asset 
owner diversity charter in 
the latter part of 2021

3938Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  

P
age 48

https://ilpa.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/ILPA-Diversity-in-Action-Signatories-12.07.20.pdf
https://ilpa.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/ILPA-Diversity-in-Action-Signatories-12.07.20.pdf


4140

Sustainable Development Goals

7 https://www.sustainablegoals.org.uk/filling-the-finance-gap/

The Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) were defined in 
2015 by the United Nations as “a shared blueprint for peace and 
prosperity for people and the planet, now and into the future”.

The 17 goals (169 targets and 231 
indicators), agreed by governments 
across the world, are to be achieved 
by 2030. It is estimated7 that between 
$5 trillion and $7 trillion a year is 
needed to finance achieving the 
SDGs and with the funding gap 
of $2 trillion to $4 trillion a year 
between now and 2030, this presents 
investment opportunities for private 
finance.

SDGs are also a lens on systemic risks 
to any business whose operations 
or assets are not aligned, for 
example dependant on precarious 
employment contrary to ‘decent 
work and economic growth (SDG 8) 
or polluting water course, contrary to 
life below water (SDG 14).  

We use the Sustainable Development 
Goals (SDGs) in workshop training 
exercises for clients in order to raise 
the awareness of important ESG 
factors. We found these exercises 
to be a useful way to encourage 
wider thinking about the SDGs as 
a tool for Strategic Asset Allocation 
(SAA) construction, identifying 
potential risks and opportunities 
and engagement. In 2020 the UNPRI 
published a case study on Brunel’s 
SDG workshop. 

Gender Equality

Clean Water 
and Sanitation

Peace Justice and 
Strong Institutions

No Poverty

Good Health
and Wellbeing

Sustainable Cities 
and Communities

Life Below Water

Industry Innovation 
and Infrastructure

Life On Land

Reduced 
Inequalities

Zero Hunger

Climate Action

Quality Education

Responsible 
Consumption and 

Production

Decent Work and 
Economic Growth

Affordable and 
Clean Energy

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

Goal 5

Goal 6

Goal 16

Goal 1

Goal 3

Goal 11

Goal 14

Goal 9

Goal 15

Goal 10

Goal 2

Goal 13

Goal 4

Goal 12

Goal 8

Goal 7

Positive       Neutral       Negative       N/A or not covered

12% 13% 24% 51%

12% 11% 31% 46%

14% 14% 62% 9%

 16%  17% 17% 49%

17%  25% 30% 29%

 19% 17% 25% 40%

 20% 14% 21% 44%

 23% 7% 3% 67%

 23% 18% 13% 46%

 40% 17% 14% 30%

 45% 15% 4% 36%

 47% 17% 12% 23%

 51% 14%  35%

 52% 13% 10% 25%

 69% 13% 7% 11%

 71% 7% 1% 22%

Using the SDGs to enhance portfolio analysis, reporting 
and stewardship

We have been working with Truvalue 
Labs (TVL), one of data providers, to 
pilot and develop their new data 
set looking at company activity 
contribution to the goals. 

As part of this pilot, TVL have 
analysed our UK Active Portfolio using 
this new data set. The Portfolio has 
the greatest positive contribution 
to Goal 7 - Clean and Sustainable 
Energy, with 71% of news flow related 
to this goal being positive in nature. 
Holdings such as Barratt Homes 

outlining plans for tackling carbon 
emissions and Aviva setting 2050 net 
zero targets for its pension business 
have been driving this. 

The Portfolio has also strong positive 
contribution to Goal 8 - Decent Work 
and Economic Growth. Holdings such 
as Unilever launching a 4 day week 
for staff in New Zealand, Kingfisher 
Group announcing plans to open 400 
new stores and Morrison’s creating 
1,000 new jobs contributed towards 
such Goals. 

The data set is also able to detect 
companies that have a negative 
impact on the SDG’s – one of the 
features that we particularly like. The 
Portfolio has a negative contribution 
to Goal 16 – Peace, Justice and 
Strong Institutions, largely due to its 
holdings in banks that have been 
investigated for money laundering.

SDGs shaping company engagement 
EOS at Federated Hermes are also using SDGs in their engagement with companies as they “believe that the long-
term success of business is inextricably linked to achievement of the goals because the SDGs help to create an 
economic context and society in which businesses can best thrive.” The diagram below illustrates the mapping of the 
engagement undertaken on Brunel’s portfolios. 

7Brunel 7

Why engage on the SDGs? 
Investors and their representatives play a key role in supporting 
the delivery of the UN SDGs. This could be by creating positive 
outcomes for society through investments and engagement as the 
goals recognise the role of the private sector in financing 
sustainable development. Moreover, the SDGs provide a common 
framework and language for investors and companies to work 
towards the achievement of the shared goals, with measurable 
indicators of progress. They also provide a clear time frame in 
which change needs to take place, helping to set targets and 
create a greater sense of urgency, while considering what action 
is needed from business to achieve sustainable development, 
beyond the typical incremental improvements and business-as-
usual targets.

Our engagement with companies encourages them to act 
responsibly and reduce their negative impacts on society, across 
their value chains. We are also suggesting changes that could 
provide a positive impact. Our view is that the long-term success 
of business is inextricably linked to achievement of the goals 
because the SDGs help to create an economic context and 
society in which businesses can best thrive.

*OTHER

Proportion of issues 
and objectives 

engaged in 2020 
linking to the SDGs

No 
poverty

Reduced 
inequalities

Zero 
Hunger

Sustainable cities
and communities

Good health
and well-being

Responsible consumption 
and production

Quality
Education

Climate
action

Gender
equality

Life
below water

Clean water
and sanitation

Life
on land

Affordable and
clean energy

Peace, justice and
strong institutions

Decent work and 
economic growth

Partnerships for
the goals

Industry, innovation
and infrastructure

1,411 of the issues and objectives 
engaged in 2020 were 
linked to one or more of 
the SDGs

*  This represents the proportion of issues and 
objectives assigned to the remaining SDGs.

Supporting the UN Sustainable Development Goals
The chart below illustrates the number of engagement objectives and issues on which we have engaged in the last year, which 
we believe are directly linked to an SDG (noting that one objective or issue may directly link to more than one SDG).

SDG

N
o

 o
f m

ile
st

o
ne

s 
co

m
p

le
te

d

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17

Milestone 1 Milestone 2 Milestone 3 Milestone 4

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Milestone progress of SDG-linked engagement objectives

Next steps
•  Continue to pilot 

the SDGs analysis 
of portfolios and 
share a more 
comprehensive 
case study later 
in 2021.

40Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  41

P
age 49

https://bit.ly/31R8hN1
https://bit.ly/31R8hN1


4342

Human Capital

We seek to promote strong HR and sustainable renumeration 
policy frameworks across the companies in which we invest, 
as well as within our own operations. 

The most profitable and sustainable 
companies are those that attract, 
develop and retain talent. The 
COVID-19 crisis has created huge 
challenges and disruption for 
businesses and organisations in 
the UK and around the world. The 
environment over the past twelve 
months has enabled us to further 
ramp up our work across the human 
capital theme and has amplified the 
importance of the ‘S’ in ESG. 

Our Approach
As part of our investment selection 
process, we expect our fund 
managers to understand and 
support the struggle against 
violations of human rights. We expect 
companies to comply with all legal 
requirements and the duty to respect 
all internationally recognised human 
rights, including the obligations of 
the Modern Slavery Act in the UK and 
the United Nations Guiding Principles 
on Business Human Rights (UNGPs). 
We are supportive of companies that 
provide disclosure on their workforce 
and follow the Transparency in 
Supply Chains guide issued by 
the Home Office. We encourage 
companies to adopt and to increase 
use of appropriate technology to 
improve transparency on end-to-end 

supply chains. We use several data 
sources to monitor the underlying 
companies within our portfolios 
on human rights and supply chain 
standards, as well as on compliance 
with the Ten Principles of the United 
Nations Global Compact.

Within our investments, we engage 
with companies on their approach 
to human capital management. We 
expect all companies to have Board-
level oversight of strategies relating 
to employee development, and to 
contribute to a positively engaged, 
committed and talented workforce. 
In addition, we expect companies to 
provide contextual information and 
disclose key performance indicators 
on an annual basis. 

What actions have we 
taken?

Modern Human Slavery 

There are 40 million people 
entrapped in modern slavery 
globally,8 of which 25% are children 
and 58% are women and girls. This is 
an issue that is on our own doorstep, 
with an estimated 136,000 victims 
of modern human slavery living in 
the UK.9 It is likely in the supply chain 
of almost every company globally; 
$18bn of imported goods produced 

by people trapped in forced labour 
are reckoned to be imported into the 
UK every year.10

Modern human slavery can take 
many forms and it is often out of 
sight. It is usually as a result of people 
becoming controlled and entrapped 
in jobs which from the outside can 
seem like normal employment. 
People who are trapped in slavery 
often face violence or threats, may 
be forced into inescapable debt, 
have their passports taken away or 
risk deportation. For many, they have 
been taken advantage of whilst 
vulnerable because they were trying 
to escape poverty and insecurity, 
or to improve their lives and support 
their families. 

The vast majority of forced labour is in 
the private sector – where an estimated 
16 million people are exploited. It is 
often in sectors such as construction, 
agriculture or domestic work. 

Covid crisis and modern 
human slavery
The Covid crisis has increased the 
risk of modern human slavery – with 
many more people globally falling 
into poverty. It has also sparked 
migrant labour crises in geographies 
that rely heavily on migrant labour, 

such as the Middle East. For example, 
international migrants comprise over 
80% of the populations of the UAE 
and Qatar, 70% in Kuwait and 55% 
in Bahrain.11 Many of these migrants 
have lost their jobs due to the Covid 
pandemic and are unable to travel 
home due to travel restrictions, 
limited savings and loans they took 
out to pay recruiter fees. 

We are part of a group of 39 
investors, representing $3 trillion, that 
has written to 54 companies in The 
Gulf, focusing on high-risk sectors 
such as hospitality, construction 
and oil and gas. We are asking 
companies to:

•  Engage independent specialists 
to perform exit interviews

•  Commit to reimbursing 
recruitment fees and adopt the 
‘employer pays principle’

•  Perform best practice due 
diligence on labour outsourcing 
companies

So far, the responses from companies 
has been mixed. Aside of continuing 
engagement, the next steps of this 
work will be to identify where our 
portfolios are exposed to companies 
with poor practices. 

Find it, Fix it, Prevent it 
We support this engagement programme coordinated by CCLA 
and Rathbones and representing £2.4 trillion of collective assets. The 
programme engages with UK businesses to encourage them to identify 
instances of modern human slavery in their supply chains and to 
remediate the issue.

For more information on the project see www.modernslaveryccla.co.uk 

Engagement on modern human slavery statements 
We are part of an investor coalition with £3.2 trillion AUM coordinated 
by Rathbones. The engagement targets FTSE 350 companies that have 
been identified as non-compliant with meeting the Modern Day Slavery 
Act 2015 requirement of having a modern day slavery statement. In 2020, 
twenty companies had become compliant as a result of the engagement, 
a hit rate of 90%. 

Forced labour by type

72%

6% 

 Forced labour in the private sector

 Sexual exploitation

  Forced labour imposed by state authorities

22%

8 International Labour Organisation
9 Global Slavery Index
10 Global Slavery Index 11 International Organisation for Migration (IOM), World Migrations Report 2020

42Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  43

P
age 50

http://www.modernslaveryccla.co.uk/


4544

Walking the talk 
Due to the nature of our business, 
we consider ourselves at low risk of 
being directly involved in facilitating 
modern human slavery. However, we 
recognise that we play a key role in 
helping to eliminate modern human 
slavery, through our operations and 
our investments. Whilst our direct 
operations are based in the UK, our 
investment portfolios are exposed to 
companies and assets with global 
operations and supply chains.

We have undertaken a review of 
where we can improve our own 
approach to managing modern day 
slavery risks within our operations. 
Whilst Brunel Pension Partnership is 
exempt from publishing a modern-
day slavery statement (the Modern 
Slavery Act 2015 requires this of 
organisations in the UK with an 
annual turnover of at least £36 
million), we have voluntarily written 
and published our statement to 
comply with best practice. We 
have also committed to reviewing 
our supplier contracts in 2021 
and will undertake more in-depth 
assessments of our supplier’s 
approach to modern slavery as part 
of this review. 

Banksy mural, Bristol

Mental health in the 
spotlight 
Since the initial lockdown in the 
UK at the end of March 2020, 
levels of happiness and anxiety 
were significantly worsened 
compared with pre-pandemic 
levels. According to The Office of 
National Statistics, by June 2020 
almost one in five adults in Britain 
was likely to be experiencing some 
form of depression, doubling from 
around one in ten in March of the 
same year.12 Before the pandemic, 
mental health was costing UK 
businesses between £33 billion 
and £42 billion every year,1 as well 
as causing devastating social 
consequences. The Covid crisis has 
raised both the financial and social 
costs of poor mental health. 

As a member of an investor group 
representing £2.2 trillion, we co-
signed letters to the CEO’s of all 
FTSE 100 companies asking that 
formal mental health workplans 
are established during the period 
of disruption bought about by the 
Covid crisis. This urged companies to 
implement items such as training for 
all line managers on mental health; 
increased flexibility in job design 
and performance appraisals; and 
giving employees clear details on 
how to access support. 

Mental health and wellbeing 
have also been areas of focus 
internally at Brunel. We have 
increased the support that is 
available to employees through 
a number of initiatives including 
training sessions, yoga classes and 
private health insurance (the latter 
covers speaking therapies). Our 
CEO, Laura Chappell, has written 
openly about the importance of 
prioritising mental health and the 
need to create positive systemic 
change. We responded to a public 
consultation on the CCLA Corporate 
Mental Health Benchmark and 
support their approach aiming 
to provide a view on how listed 
companies approach and manage 
employee wellbeing. 

Source: Federated Hermes, Brunel Pension Partnership Annual Stewardship Report 2020

‘Social and ethical’ issues and objectives made up 18.4% (571) of our 
company engagements. Human rights and human capital development 
issues accounted for almost 50% of these. 

In 2020, we engaged with 881 companies globally across 3,101 issues. Out of 
the 1,271 company engagements relating to ‘governance issues’, 46.4% of 
these were discussions around inappropriate executive remuneration, and 
almost a quarter related to board-level diversity, skills and experience.

Source: Federated Hermes Brunel Pension Partnership Annual Engagement Report 2020

23.7%
13.2%

3.8%

Governance

Governance topics featured 
in 41.0% of our engagements 
over the last year.

 Board Diversity, Skills and Experience 

 Board Independence

 Executive Remuneration

 Shareholder Protection and Rights

 Succession Planning

46.4% 12.9%

16.3%

3.1%

6.8%

1.7%

Social & 
Ethical

 Bribery and Corruption 

 Conduct and Culture

 Diversity

 Human Capital Management

 Human Rights

 Labour Rights

 Tax

28.7% 22.9%

20.5%

Social and Ethical topics 
featured in 18.4% of our 
engagements over the last year.

Next steps
•    We will initiate a project to identify where we have exposure 

to companies falling short of best practice around managing 
modern human slavery risks

•  We will work to identify our exposure to sectors that have a 
greater likelihood of precarious employment practices.

12  Coronavirus and depression in adults, 
Great Britain: June 2020

Culture, conduct and ethics

45Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  44Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  

P
age 51

https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/2021/01/22/for-the-best-companies-mental-health-is-a-priority-both-at-home-and-abroad/
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/2021/01/22/for-the-best-companies-mental-health-is-a-priority-both-at-home-and-abroad/
https://www.ccla.co.uk/mental-health
https://www.ccla.co.uk/mental-health


4746

Responsible Stewardship 

We are committed to responsible stewardship and believe 
that through responsible, active ownership we can 
contribute to the care, and long-term success, of all the 
assets within our remit. 

The main body of this report 
details our approach and provides 
examples of stewardship progress. 
It should be read in conjunction 
with the Responsible Investment 
(RI) Policy, the Climate Change 
Policy, the Stewardship Policy and 
the Voting Guidelines. Brunel’s’ 
Responsible Investment Policy sets 
out the overarching principles that 
guide everything that Brunel does. 

The Climate Change Policy delves 
deeper into our most systemic risk. 
The Stewardship Policy and Voting 
Guidelines then set out how we 
operationalise these policies.

Brunel undertakes stewardship of its 
capital in the design, construction 
and monitoring of its portfolios, 
and supports its clients in ensuring 
their Strategic Asset Allocation is 

undertaken responsibly. For example, 
we use training, workshops, detailed 
briefing papers and analytics 
(including ESG and carbon metrics). 

We view asset managers as our first 
line of defence in the management 
of all portfolio related risks, including 
ESG risks, so integration of ESG is a 
vitally important part of selection and 
monitoring process. 

We support and apply the UK Stewardship Code 2020 definition of stewardship:

Stewardship is the responsible allocation, management and oversight of 
capital to create long-term value for clients and beneficiaries leading to 
sustainable benefits for the economy, the environment and society.
Source: UK Stewardship Code 2020

Integrating Responsible Investment into manager selection 
is a core part of our work. Mandate design and a risk 
appraisal process prior to launching a search for a 
manager is therefore critical in ensuring that we focus on 
the right things. 

The asset class, geography and risk objectives will have 
a bearing on which Responsible Investment and ESG 
risks will be most relevant to focus on when making an 
appointment, thus our manager selection criteria are 
determined for each search. 

We have a track record of action evidenced by work such 
as Brunel Asset Management Accord designed to capture 
not only our expectations of managers, but also the spirit 
of what they can expect from us. The accord supports 
long-term sustainable finance and especially calls on 
managers to work collaboratively with Brunel on thought 
leadership and integration of ESG issues.

The examples on the right show some of the key issues we 
address when we appoint managers. 

Philosophy Policies People

Board-level 
leadership

Commitment
Diversity and 
Inclusion

Corporate 
culture

Policy framework Human Capital

Investment
Pricing and 
transparency

Numbers & 
retention

Processes Participation Partnership

Investment Thought-leadership In it together

Reporting Innovation Culture fit

Stewardship
Contribution to 
investment industry

Integrating Responsible Investment into our Manager Selection 

More information about the selection and 
monitoring of managers is on our website

Stewardship across asset 
classes 
Our updated Stewardship Policy 
provides detail more detail on our 
stewardship activities as it applies 
to each asset class and we have 
provided case studies throughout 
this report to bring the policy to life. 
This includes the selection process 
for Brunel’s Multi-asset Credit Fund, 
where integration of ESG risks and 
climate is very new to the industry. 

Brunel’s Private Markets Portfolios are 
offered in cycles, with each cycle 
being two years long with a “top-
up window” in the intervening year. 
The underlying private market fund 
cycle involves investment selection 
(sourcing), asset management 
(value creation) and exit (disposal). 
We apply the same principles of 
selecting and monitoring managers 
no matter which type of asset, but 
the stewardship tool and techniques 
adapt to be appropriate to the 
circumstances, not least the level of 
control allowed through the legal 
structure.

Analysing stock-specific ESG risks
One of top stewardship priorities in 
2020 was the on-boarding of climate-
related data and ESG risk metrics 
into Brunel’s investment risk platform. 
Thousands of data points relating to 
these risks are now available to all 
the listed market portfolio managers 
to help them with the monitoring 
and reporting of these risks. However, 
whilst this has been very successful, 
the work is on-going. Sourcing new 
data as needed, but also to evaluate 
the effectiveness of the data sets and 
adjust accordingly. More information 
on the stewardship of data providers 
is presented in our Stewardship Policy.

We recognise that ESG data is a 
developing discipline, and we are 
strong advocates for improved 
disclosure from companies and 

assets in which we invest. This theme 
cuts across every one of our priority 
areas. In addition to our own and 
our asset managers’ analysis of ESG 
risks within our portfolios, we also 
use certain third party proprietary 
and public data sources. Where we 
have used third party data to set 
our objectives and targets, we have 
been clear on the source of the data.

We are members of the Financial 
Reporting Council’s Investor Advisory 
Group (IAG) and Sustainability 
Accounting Standards Board (SASB) 
Alliance IAG, as part of our work to 
promote on better quality reporting 
on material ESG risks. We are also 
vocal supporters of the adoption 
of the Taskforce for Climate-related 
Finance Disclosure (TCFD). 

Conflicts of Interest
We invest in thousands of companies 
and there are likely to be overlaps 
with those from whom we source 
goods and services, not least 
publicly listed asset management 
companies, as well as the activities 
of our clients. The activities of 
our clients are very broad and 
involve large scale contracting 
and regulation. Our Conflict of 
Interest policy, reviewed bi-annually, 
describes the circumstances that 
could give rise to a conflict of 
interest and the principles to be 
followed in order to identify, avoid, 
manage or (in the event the other 
routes are not possible) to disclose a 
potential conflict of interest clearly 
to our Clients. Our recently updated 

conflict statement, which includes our 
approach to stewardship conflict of 
interest, is published on our website.

The effective management of 
potential Conflicts of Interest is a key 
component of our due diligence 
on all asset managers and service 
providers, as well as our ongoing 
contract management. Conflict 
of interest clauses are included in 
investment management and service 
agreements. For example, where our 
voting provider perceive a potential 
conflict when executing votes on 
our behalf, they alert us to provide 
an opportunity to further review the 
recommendations before they are 
instructed.

Our suite of policies guides our 
actions to manage perceived conflict 
of interest. In 2020 examples included 
considering perceived conflict 
of interest during the selection of 
investments, when, for example 
looking at direct held investments. 
It was also factored into deciding 
engagement strategies. Where an 
opportunity presents itself, we consult 
with clients to gather their thoughts, 
this helps guide our actions and, 
in some instances, we may opt to 
pursue some engagements privately 
rather than in the public domain. As 
a result of these measures there were 
no conflicts of interest that arose 
during 2020.

47Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  46Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  

P
age 52

https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/Brunel-Climate-Change-Policy-rev01.pdf
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/Brunel-Climate-Change-Policy-rev01.pdf
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/voting_guidelines.pdf
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/voting_guidelines.pdf
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/2020-Stewardship-Policy-FINAL.pdf
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/voting_guidelines.pdf
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/2020-Stewardship-Policy-FINAL.pdf
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/home/our-approach/conflict-of-interests-statement/


4948

Next steps
•  Brunel MAC will be launching in 2021

Brunel’s Multi Asset Credit Fund is both complex and 
pioneering. Its complexity lies in its range of asset classes 
across the bonds universe, incorporating sovereign bonds, 
Investment Grade credit, High Yield credit, asset-backed 
securities, mortgage-backed securities and more sub-
classes besides. This complexity reflects our clients’ desire 
to gain exposure to a wide range of products across fixed 
income. As a result, our Responsible Investment principles 
had to be implemented across a wider range of asset 
classes than for most other funds, adding yet another layer 
of complexity. 

In the interview below, Alex Monro, Head of 
Communications, asked Daniel Spencer (pictured right), 
Portfolio Manager on the Multi Asset Credit Fund, how 
Brunel approached portfolio design, manager selection 
and the alignment of incentives as it built into the fund.

What were the client requirements Brunel sought 
to address by designing and delivering a Multi 
Asset Credit fund? 
The main request from clients was to access a range 
of sub-investment grade credits, and MAC provides a 
very clean solution to this problem. From a pension fund 
perspective, MAC can be useful when you are looking 
to de-risk from equities a bit but still generate returns 
in excess of defensive assets. Another reason was 
cost savings.

The fund focuses on sub-Investment Grade 
(IG) credit. Do you have to be even more 
rigorous with manager selection than for IG 
manager selection?
The level of due diligence does not change but the 
scope does change somewhat. In MAC you’re dealing 
with $16 trillion of debt across multiple regions and 
asset classes. We have to evaluate manager skill across 
different geographies and asset classes. There are also 
asset allocation considerations; we have to evaluate a 
manager’s ability to allocate across various sub-asset 
classes in fixed income. 

You focus on the philosophy  
of an applicant fund manager but obviously it 
will never be exactly the same as Brunel. How 
much overlap does there need to be? 
It’s very difficult to answer. You obviously need some 
overlap and shouldn’t work with managers who don’t 
have any alignment with Brunel. In terms of those who do 
have crossover, it’s more about whether they’re willing to 
work with us as the relationship evolves. For example, an 
asset manager with a large amount of AUM might align 
well with Brunel today but IS less likely to listen to us in 
future when we disagree. Another manager may differ 
more from Brunel today but believes in the partnership 
element; these are managers who are more likely to work 
well with Brunel and listen to our input. That said, some 
larger firms do still listen.

What behavioural patterns among applicant 
managers raised flags for you during the 
selection process? 
Two specific examples would be remuneration and 
misleading behaviour. If the manager doesn’t give you 
details on how they pay staff, or suggest compensation 
is linked to asset growth, or to short-term performance, 
that’s a bad sign. Compensation must be aligned with 
our objectives where feasible. We are also wary of 
managers who provide misleading information. For 
example, we asked a manager for evidence of their skill 
in high yield vs the broader high yield market. We were 
supplied with a series of relative returns vs cash, which 
was very misleading.

How did you assess the company culture of 
applicants? 
There’s a huge difference between what you see on 
paper and the true culture of a company. There are two 
ways we attempt to address this: face-to-face meetings 
and data requests. Meeting managers and stakeholders 
in a face-to-face environment is usually the best way to 
evaluate culture. It enables us, for example, to ask the 
portfolio managers directly about RI implementation, 
because we know the RI section of written tender 
documents is typically influenced by an RI team. As an 
example, we had a portfolio manager who looked at 
us blankly when asked if there was a trade idea that 
was abandoned due to environmental concerns, so we 
immediately suspected RI wasn’t a significant part of 
the team culture. On the more behavioural side, I like to 
establish the type of person the Portfolio Manager is. We 
typically don’t buy into the star fund manager culture, 

RI in Multi-Asset Credit

where one individual holds everything together. As an 
example, we always look out for incidents where the PM 
is answering something that others should be answering 
in a meeting environment. If one individual is dominating 
the conversation, that tells you something very important.

Most managers know how to talk about ESG and 
RI. How do you determine that a manager has the 
right principles and has successfully integrated 
them right through the investment process? 
This is quite hard. Managers are getting better at telling 
us what we want to hear. A good way to identify the 
stronger responses is to think about the fund in question 
and see if a response addresses the specific features of 
MAC. A manager with poor RI integration will typically 
speak about RI more broadly (like about fixed income 
in general) as opposed to talking about MAC itself. 
Hence, we look for items such as engagements specific 
to the product and difficulties working within sub-IG. 
We also look at managers at the corporate level from 
an RI perspective. Examples of this include looking at 
PRI assessment reports and how they are performing in 
relation to that. We would also look at initiatives they are 
involved in and why, such as Climate Action 100+. 

What does it mean for a manager to adopt your 
Climate Change Policy in how they invest? 
It’s one of the toughest questions for both us and the 
managers – very few managers in MAC have impressed 
me on this question. I want to know first and foremost that 
they’ve read the policy. If their decarbonisation targets are 
set and aligned, then that’s a good start. We found that 
the real difference between a good and bad response is 
all around understanding of two-degree alignment (see 
our Climate Change section for details.). If the manager 
has no idea of the difference between a company that 
is or isn’t aligned to the Paris accord, then it’s a bad sign. 
We also found that many managers proposed alignment 
to our policy through exclusions alone, which is not good 
enough. Finally, climate change alignment has to relate to 
the product we’re investing in – they need to know where 
the carbon data is weak on, say, structured credit (a debt 
pooling vehicle), and how they manage that gap.

Is it hard to implement RI in credit? 
It’s arguably more important to be responsible in credit 
versus equities because you are directly providing 
capital for companies to do good or bad, especially in 
the primary market. However, the onus is really on the 
manager to work it out, at least broadly, on both the 
carbon footprint and on social policies.

Can you give an example of a candidate 
showing the right kind of thought leadership? 
One manager we liked in this process really understood 
our constraints around getting to Net Zero by 2050 in a 
universe that is very difficult to quantify. The response 
related these challenges to MAC in particular, which 
was rare. The manager also had a realistic view on what 
you could do in different asset classes and geographies. 
For example, there were feasible solutions in place 
where there were, say, asset classes you couldn’t really 
engage with over environmental protections, like EM 
Sovereigns. Regarding 2C alignment, the manager had 
a firm view on which companies and industries were 
and weren’t aligned, which was again rare amongst 
submissions. On engagement, the manager had a 
sensible framework to identify companies who require 
engagement to align with the Paris accord. Finally, the 
manager also showed thought leadership by looking 
forward at what Brunel wants to do but can’t yet do e.g. 
scenario modelling on physical and transitional risk.

What kind of changes at one of your appointed 
fund management companies would cause 
you concern? 
Changes in corporate structure – For example, are 
they buying or about to be bought by another asset 
manager? This risk has become larger in the past 
few years. We also look at activity within the portfolio 
management teams, it’s a potential issue if a key 
member or several team members all leave at once. 
Other organisational aspects we look at are in areas 
such as risk and compliance. High levels of turnover in 
these areas may imply dominance of the PM team. On 
the RI side, you sometimes find that a fund manager you 
work with has bought a controversial company – and 
even if it’s not your mandate, it shows they’re potentially 
not aligned with your criteria. 

Investment Grade vs High Yield

Investment Grade: A broad credit rating for 
municipal or corporate bonds at a relatively low 
rate of default 

High Yield: A broad credit rating for bonds that pay 
higher interest to reflect a higher risk of default

4948Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  

P
age 53



5150

Stewardship Policy Review 
Outcome
Brunel believes in the importance 
of regular and in-depth shareholder 
and stakeholder engagement. Our 
Stewardship Policy is developed in 
conjunction with key stakeholders, 
including the Brunel Oversight 
Board, Brunel Client Group, and 
the Client Responsible Investment 
(RI) Sub-Group. The Responsible 
Investment group provides updates 
to the client group and further 
updates are provided to the wider 
client group as required. The 
Stewardship Policy is reviewed no 
less than annually. We undertook 
an extensive review over the year 
and made many improvements 
to the policy. We need to extend 
our policy to cover new product/
service launches. We also reflected 
client feedback and a desire to 
provide greater transparency and 
regulatory changes – specifically, the 
enhanced UK Stewardship Code and 
Shareholder Rights Directive II. Some 
of the changes include:

•  Expansion of governance and 
oversight, our escalation process 
and conflict of interest

•  Our use and oversight of service 
and data providers 

•  New sections added following 
product and service launches:

 •   Stewardship implementation 
across asset classes 

 •   Responsible stock lending and 
Recall

•  Separation of the voting 
guidelines into a standalone 
document

We will vote against the re-election of the company chair where:

•  a company has not at least reached Level 4 of the TPI framework 
in Europe

•  a company has not reached level 3 of the TPI framework for US and Asia, 
or where the TPI score has fallen from level 4

•  the company’s strategy is materially misaligned with the goals of the 
Paris Agreement

•  the company’s strategy is misaligned to Net Zero ambitions

Companies scored for the first time will be differentiated and reviewed on a 
case-by-case basis.

China’s increasing prominence as a political and 
economic power, coupled with its growing position in 
many investors’ portfolios, makes consideration of its 
culture, politics, and business environment important 
for Brunel as investors. Indeed, Chinese companies 
do make up some of Brunel’s largest overall holdings. 
However, we also recognise that when looking at China 
it is equally important in terms of the supply chains and 
as a consumer to companies all over the world.

Brunel’s approach to responsible investment issues is 
firstly to deepen our understanding of the potential 
risks whilst assessing how these might reinforce or 
oppose other investment risks and opportunities. 
We also identify how we might best address issues, 
mitigating where possible unintended consequences. 
Our approach is thorough and takes time. It also 
means we are unlikely to walk away from an issue as 
whilst this action may appear to reduce exposure to 
one risk it may well increase others. Blanket divestment 
rarely removes risk – just hides it from plain sight.

What actions have we taken so far? 
Our early research began when a growing volume of 
stories concerning human rights abuses and forced 
labour in the Chinese autonomous region of Xinjiang 
came to our attention. In one article written by the 
Australian Strategic Policy Institute, international 
companies were implicated in abuses through their 
supply chains. We undertook an initial engagement 
exercise with our portfolio managers on this report. 

Our different asset managers will have different 
investment processes and different potential exposure 
to the risks, so we would have expected a degree of 
variance in their responses. The level of awareness 
of the issue is high and some engagement with 
companies directly impacted had to be undertaken. 
However, it was identified further investigation and 
engagement was needed.

The situation in China is complex due to the global 
nature of supply chain relationships. Following more 
in-depth research covering industry thought pieces, 
academic literature, news, government documents 
and the consultation of regional specialists at both 
Hermes and Sustainalytics, we identified several key 
areas for further consideration: 

•  Human rights in supply chains 
•  Data privacy, censorship and surveillance 
•  Corporate governance 
•  Hong Kong and Taiwan 
•  Climate change 
•  Share class structure (ADR/H-Share/A-Share)

Members of the Listed Markets and RI team worked 
together to develop and pilot analytical tools to 
support the investment team in assessing the risks and 
enhance their portfolio monitoring.

In parallel, Brunel has continued to support the City 
of London and PRI led collaboration with Chinese 
investors focusing on environmental and climate 
disclosures, for example presenting at the UK-China 
TCFD workshop in December 2020.

Next Steps 
Our work relating China will continue in 2021 and is a 
priority action area.

•  Continue engagement with companies linked to 
the issues identified above

•  Roll-out analytical tools for portfolio managers

•  Deeper engagement with asset managers is 
underway

•  Continue our research including engaging with 
other industry participants. 

•  Support bi-lateral exchanges on climate and 
environmental disclosures with Chinese investors

ESG Risks in China

Voting Guidelines updates
Our engagement, emerging themes 
and a reflection of the previous proxy 
season feed into the review of our 
Voting Guidelines. Changes made 
in response to Covid-19 are detailed 
under the section voting during 2020. 
Our updated guidelines, published 
in January 2021, incorporate the 
following main changes:

•  Climate Change: Ramped up TPI 
voting principle 

•  Remuneration: We will consider 
voting against the remuneration 
report where excessive windfall 
gains have not been adequately 
addressed by the remuneration 
committee

•  Tax: Aggressive tax practices, 
even legally-deployed ones, 
will be unfavourably viewed, 
particularly where a company 
has relied on government support 
and aid during turbulent times

•  Overboarding policy: updated 
to reflect that certain industries 
and multi-site operating 
companies require a greater time 
commitment

•  Virtual/Electronic Annual General 
Meetings: We will consider 
supporting temporary legislation 
changes to accommodate 
exceptional circumstances 
that restrict the ability to hold a 
meeting in person

•  Diversity: Ramping up of existing 
thresholds. Addition of ethnicity 
principle. In 2021, we will consider 
voting against the chair of the 
board of FTSE 100 companies 
that do not have at least one 
director from an ethnic minority 
background and have no credible 
plan to rapidly achieve this.

5150Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  

P
age 54

https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/2020-Stewardship-Policy-FINAL.pdf
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/voting_guidelines.pdf


5352

In-person company meetings were disrupted by 
lockdowns, leading to postponements, meetings 
behind closed doors, and a move to virtual meetings. 
We witnessed a variety of approaches to virtual AGMs. 
In some cases, shareholders were able to submit 
questions, in others, this was restricted or prohibited. 
Whilst virtual AGMs led to significant increases in 
shareholder attendance, there was a concern that the 
lack of standardisation could create future operational 
barriers and hamper future shareholder engagement 
and reduced transparency. 

We invited Lumi Global, a software provider who 
facilitates virtual and hybrid companies’ meetings, 
to the UK Pension Scheme Responsible Investor 
Roundtable. Lumi provided an overview of their 
platform capabilities and asset owners fed back their 
experiences and expectations. Following stakeholder 
feedback, Lumi has further developed its software 
platform to streamline the Q&A process for a virtual or 
hybrid AGM. New innovations include:

i)  allowing remote participants to pose questions 
which are then reviewed, vetted, and categorised 
by the moderator and subsequently provided to 
the Chair

ii)   questions can be alternated between virtual and 
in-room participants

iii)  for complete transparency, meeting holders can 
choose to collate, publish and answer all questions 
after the meeting, providing a full transcript to all 
participants 

Further to this, we invited the FRC to the Cross Pool RI 
group to discuss AGMs and guidelines, and to hear 
our experiences. In October, the FRC published the 
report: Corporate Governance, AGM’s: An Opportunity 
for Change, outlining best practice guidance for 
companies planning and conducting future AGMs.

Case Study: Virtual AGMs
Global best practice 
guidelines
As global investors, we apply our 
principles of good stewardship 
globally, whilst recognising the need 
for local market considerations. As a 
UK-based investor, our key reference 
points are the UK Stewardship Code 
2020 and UK Corporate Governance 
Code and guidance produced by 
UK industry bodies, for example, the 
British Venture Capital Association 
(BVCA – private equity) RI toolkit.

We are committed to supporting 
policy makers, regulators and 
industry bodies in the development 
and promotion of codes and 
guidance. For example, we are 
members of the Financial Reporting 
Council Investor Advisor Group.

We support policy makers in other 
countries where practicable, 
generally by contributing to 
a collaborative consultation 
submission. 

Exercising our rights
Engagement objectives are 
identified in three ways. Firstly, top 
down, looking at Brunel’s holdings to 
identify thematic areas of risk and 
opportunity. Secondly, bottom up, 
reviewing exposure to individual 
companies and to specific ESG risks 
and opportunities. Thirdly, reactively 
to event risks, for example, after a 
specific, usually significant, incident.

We appointed EOS at Federated 
Hermes as our engagement and 
voting services provider. The 
appointment enables a wider 
coverage of assets and access to 
further expertise across different 
engagement themes. Additionally, 
the team’s languages, connections, 
and cultural understanding 
greatly enhances our capacity to 
create and maintain constructive 
relationships with company boards. 

Policy Advocacy Highlights
•  DWP Climate Action Consultation

•  FCA Climate-Related Disclosures Consultation

•  Department of Labour Financial Factors in Selecting Plan Investments 
Consultation

•  Government climate change letters

We publicly disclose our consultation responses on our website

Not suitable for new fundraising/ refinance

Selective divestment (listed equity)

Climate change stocktake

Reduce exposure

Co-file shareholder resolution (segregated)
•  Direct and frequent engagement with company management
•  Request pool fund manager support/ voting alignment 
• Statement made at AGM (or by fellow co-filer) 

Escalated concern due to lack of company management action
•  Publicly discuss concerns and or pre-declaration of 

voting intentions
• Consider AGM attendance/ question
• Index funding voting alignment considered 

Specific concerns raised with Asset Manager 
• Asset Manager (AM) specific action requested
•  Vote against Chair and specific related resolutions (including 

shareholder resolutions – may increase to all directors in 
successive years)

•  AM may decide to reduce/ exit exposure (active fundamental)

Targeted engagement
• Asset Manager engagement list
• Engagement service provider engagement targets

Thematic engagement
• Raise profile of issue with policy makers and regulators
• Collaborative engagement
• Voting in line with Stewardship Policy

C
LIEN

T EN
G

A
G

EM
EN

T

Escalation process
Escalation is a key component of stewardship and whilst it rarely follows 
a given pathway the infographic below provides some insights to our 
approach.  Some steps might be skipped or happen simultaneously and 
there may operational and legal constraints that prevent some actions being 
undertaken, however regular Client engagement helps guide our approach 
and communication throughout.

5352Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  

P
age 55

https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/48c4ee08-b7be-4b7c-8f19-bcaf3d44e441/Corporate-Governance-AGM.pdf
https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/48c4ee08-b7be-4b7c-8f19-bcaf3d44e441/Corporate-Governance-AGM.pdf
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/stewardship/policy-advocacy/


5554

Regular Reporting Annual Reporting News Alerts

2021
Climate Change Action Plan  

and Metrics Report

Based on the recommendations of the

Full Report and updated disclosures made to supplement Brunel’s Annual  
Report and Financial Statements, for the year ended 30 September 2020.

Measuring Progress
To ensure meaningful impact and 
to be able to measure and report 
effectively, EOS at Federated Hermes 
(EOS) engagement is guided by 
a client-driven engagement plan. 
Brunel is in regular contact with EOS 
and provides input into this plan, 
together with our clients, who join 
quarterly update and feedback calls.

To measure progress and the 
achievement of engagement 
objectives, a four-stage milestone 
system is used by EOS. When an 
objective is set at the start of 
an engagement, recognisable 
milestones that need to be achieved 
are also identified. Progress against 
these objectives is assessed regularly 
and evaluated against the original 
engagement proposal.

2020
Responsible Investment and 

Stewardship Outcomes 
For the year ending 31 December 2019

Social Media

3
The company 
develops a credible 
strategy to achieve 
the objective, or 
stretching targets 
are set to address 
the concern

2
The company 
acknowledges the 
issue as a serious 
investor concern, 
worthy of a response

1
Our concern is 
raised with the 
company at the 
appropriate level

4
The company 
implements a 
strategy or measures 
to address the 
concern

Milestone Progress

Engagement Progress
Engagement during 2020 made significant progress. EOS undertake 
engagement over three-year cycles. During 2020, EOS engaged with 881 
Brunel-held companies on 1,050 milestones. At least one milestone was moved 
forward for about 51% of objectives during the year. 

0%

100%

200%

300%

400%

500%

Environmental Social & Ethical Governance Strategy, Risk & 
Communication

No change Positive progress (engagement moved forward 
at least one milestone during the year to date)

165
125

209

107

85

123

136

248

Engagement covers active equity portfolios, please note this does not 
include engagement undertaken directly by Brunel or its managers.

Brunel provides clients with a suite of public reports on our stewardship activities, and with environmental, social and 
governance metrics to empower clients own stewardship activities and to enable oversight.

Our top ten holdings were engaged on the below themes during 2020. A full overview of companies engaged by 
theme is disclosed on our website.

Environmental Social and Ethical Governance
Strategy, Risk and 
Communication

Climate 
Change

Natural 
Resource 

Stewardship

Pollution, 
Waste and 

Circular 
Economy

Conduct, 
Culture 

and Ethics

Human 
Capital  
Mgmt

Human 
Rights

Board 
Effectiveness

Executive 
Remuneration

Shareholder 
Protection 
and Rights

Business 
Purpose  

and  
Strategy

Corporate 
Reporting

Risk  
Mgmt

Microsoft Corp

Apple Inc

Amazon.com Inc

Alphabet Inc

Mastercard Inc

Taiwan 
Semiconductor 
Manufacturing 
Co Ltd

AstraZeneca PLC

Royal Dutch 
Shell PLC

Diageo PLC

Facebook Inc

5554Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  

P
age 56

https://www.hermes-investment.com/uki/eos-insight/eos/eos-engagement-plan-2021-2023/
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/stewardship/engagement-records/


5756

Quarterly summary engagement reports are made publicly available on our 
website: Engagement Records. Further insights are published on the Federated 
Hermes website. These cover many of Brunel’s thematic priorities: 

Data privacy 
and protection in 
the coronavirus 

pandemic 

Climate change and 
infectious diseases 

Climate change and 
human rights 

Our debt to nature 

limited shelf-life - why 
the fast fashion model 

is under strain 

Q&A -how 
companies can 
address gender 

bias in ai 

Implementation of Brunel’s voting 
principles for segregated active 
equity accounts is supported by 
EOS at Federated Hermes (EOS). 
Our voting guidelines inform their 
voting recommendation alongside 
other country- and region-specific 
guidelines. Our passive pooled 
investments are voted by Legal and 
General Investment Management 
and the small number of votes across 
private markets and listed alternatives 
are voted by Brunel. Our Stewardship 
Policy outlines our approach to voting 
and the process we follow in more 
detail. Brunel retains full voting rights 
and voting decisions are informed by 
investment considerations, consultation 
with portfolio managers, clients, 
other institutional investors, and our 
engagement with companies. The 
vast majority of voting is undertaken 
within listed equities. However, there 
are occasions in other classes where 
voting may be available.

Voting during 2020
In 2020, companies were faced with 
the Covid-19 crisis and the challenges 
it posed. We recognise the critical 
role of good and stable leadership in 
management during times of crisis. We 
implemented a temporary change 

to our proxy guidelines to vote “FOR” 
by exception; this was applied where 
there was a reasonable prospect 
of ongoing positive engagement. 
Ongoing concerns were not diluted, 
and companies were informed that, 
without positive change, our vote 
would revert to our normal position 
once the worst of the crisis had passed. 
Where companies were unresponsive 
to engagement, votes against relevant 
directors were maintained unless there 
was an indication of imminent and 
severe financial distress.

Voting statistics

In 2020, 1,046 company meetings 
were voted at, representing 98% of 
the voteable meetings. Across passive 
portfolios, 99% of meetings were voted 
at, and across private markets and 
listed alternatives, 100% were voted. 
This represents an excellent level of 
voting execution. Unvoted meetings 
were due to share blocking, POA’s or 
operational barriers.

‘Against’ recommendations were 
made for 558 meetings (53.3%) and 
with-management-by-exception 
recommendations for 98 meetings 
(9.4%); board governance and 
remuneration remained the areas of 
highest dissent. 

2%

98%

 Voted Meetings

 Unvoted Meetings

4.0%

0.1%

28.8%

 Board Structure 

 Remuneration

 Shareholder Resolution

 Capital Structure and Dividends

 Amended Articles

 Audit and Accounts

 Investment/M&A 

 Poison Pill/Anti-Takeover Device

 Other

40.7%

0.2%

3.1%

3.1%

9.7%

10.2%
Global

We recommended voting 
against or abstaining on 1,666 
resolutions over the last year

The votes cast on ballots during 2020 were aligned with management recommendations in 
89% of cases, while the ISS Benchmark Policy Recommendations were for 93% alignment with 
management recommendations. This deviation demonstrates the value of the oversight by 
EOS and Brunel.

0 20 40 60 80 100

Votes Cast

ISS Policy 
Recommendations

With Manangement      Against Management      

89% 38.50% 5.17%

93% 14.25%

Asset manager engagement and outcomes tracking 
This annual report is designed to meet 
the best practice requirements of the 
UK Stewardship Code 2020. 

When it comes to measuring 
engagement outcomes across our 
managers, collaborative initiatives, 
and direct engagement, we 
encounter challenges. There is no 
set standard and there is a lack 
of consistency in the ways that 
investment managers and third 
parties collect, process, and distribute 
information related to stewardship. 
This may be due to the investment 
style, asset class and resources. 
Differences include variations in 
the definition of an engagement, 
and classification of an outcome 

and the environmental, social and 
governance themes being engaged 
on. Some investment managers 
already have established processes, 
whilst others are either developing 
new systems or enhancing existing 
infrastructure.

 We need to be careful that a 
reporting desire does not shift the 
focus of long-term engagement to 
short-termist quick wins and tokenism, 
so it is to be expected that this is 
challenging and may take time to 
develop. Nonetheless, it leaves us 
in difficult position when trying to 
aggregate outcomes which are 
authentic, accurate and meaningful. 

Voting

Next steps
•  Engage with managers 

on how they develop 
outcomes reporting

•  Evolve meaningful 
milestone reporting to 
cover our managers, and 
Brunel’s activities, whether 
internal or collaborative 

5756Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  

P
age 57

https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/stewardship/engagement-records/
https://www.hermes-investment.com/uki/insights/
https://www.hermes-investment.com/uki/eos-insight/eos/data-privacy-and-protection-in-the-coronavirus-pandemic/
https://www.hermes-investment.com/uki/eos-insight/eos/data-privacy-and-protection-in-the-coronavirus-pandemic/
https://www.hermes-investment.com/uki/eos-insight/eos/data-privacy-and-protection-in-the-coronavirus-pandemic/
https://www.hermes-investment.com/uki/eos-insight/eos/data-privacy-and-protection-in-the-coronavirus-pandemic/
https://www.hermes-investment.com/uki/eos-insight/eos/climate-change-and-infectious-diseases/
https://www.hermes-investment.com/uki/eos-insight/eos/climate-change-and-infectious-diseases/
https://www.hermes-investment.com/uki/eos-insight/eos/climate-change-and-human-rights/
https://www.hermes-investment.com/uki/eos-insight/eos/climate-change-and-human-rights/
https://www.hermes-investment.com/uki/eos-insight/eos/our-debt-to-nature/
https://www.hermes-investment.com/uki/eos-insight/eos/limited-shelf-life-why-the-fast-fashion-model-is-under-strain/
https://www.hermes-investment.com/uki/eos-insight/eos/limited-shelf-life-why-the-fast-fashion-model-is-under-strain/
https://www.hermes-investment.com/uki/eos-insight/eos/limited-shelf-life-why-the-fast-fashion-model-is-under-strain/
https://www.hermes-investment.com/uki/eos-insight/eos/qa-how-companies-can-address-gender-bias-in-ai/
https://www.hermes-investment.com/uki/eos-insight/eos/qa-how-companies-can-address-gender-bias-in-ai/
https://www.hermes-investment.com/uki/eos-insight/eos/qa-how-companies-can-address-gender-bias-in-ai/
https://www.hermes-investment.com/uki/eos-insight/eos/qa-how-companies-can-address-gender-bias-in-ai/
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/voting_guidelines.pdf
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/2020-Stewardship-Policy-FINAL.pdf
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/2020-Stewardship-Policy-FINAL.pdf


5958

Voting Spotlight: Bank Climate Shareholder Resolutions
In December 2019, Brunel co-filed a shareholder 
resolution at Barclays, the first climate change 
resolution to ever be filed at a European bank. 
Since filing, Brunel, alongside lead filer ShareAction, 
engaged with Barclays and other shareholders. 
Positive shareholder pressure led to a significant step 
by the bank as, in April, it put forward a proposed 
“ambition to become net zero by 2050”. While 
Barclays’ own resolution set out an overarching 2050 
ambition encompassing all financing across all 
sectors, the shareholder resolution ensures a greater 
focus on short- and medium-term actions needed in 
order to achieve that long-term goal. Both proposals 
were put to vote at the May annual general meeting. 
Barclays’ proposal passed, but we were pleased to 
see that votes for the shareholder resolution (23.95%) 
exceeded the 20% threshold that requires the bank 
to consult with shareholders and explain the views 
received and actions taken publicly within six months. 
We will continue to engage constructively to ensure 
that Barclays delivers on its commitments and takes 
real action to align its financing with the needs of the 
low-carbon transition.

Engagement expanded to include Europe’s second 
largest financier of fossil fuels. The Rainforest Action 
Network (RAN) found HSBC provided $87bn to some 
of the world’s largest fossil fuel companies since 
the signing of the Paris Agreement (2016-2019). In 
December 2020 Brunel co-filed a ShareAction led 

shareholder resolution at HSBC. The resolution called 
for HSBC to publish a climate strategy and targets to 
reduce its exposure to fossil fuel assets, on a timeline 
consistent with the Paris climate goals. We believe this 
resolution would enable the bank to meet the Net 
Zero ambition it set out. 

Following intense and diligent engagement Q1 2021, 
the power of shareholder engagement prevailed. 
The coalition of investors, representing $2.4 trillion in 
assets, agreed to withdraw the shareholder resolution 
in exchange for a board-backed resolution. Europe’s 
largest bank has tabled a resolution for its May AGM 
that commits it to set a strategy with short- and 
medium-term targets to align its provision of finance 
with the goals of the Paris Agreement; to publish a 
coal policy; and to report on progress annually. HSBC 
has committed to engage with the co-filing groups in 
the development of the coal policy, we will continue 
engaging with the bank during 2021.

Cyber

We seek to promote corporate awareness and action on 
cyber security, the responsible use of personal data, and 
the use of AI in order to both protect commercial risks and 
reputational damage. 

For the purpose of this report, the 
term ‘cyber’ refers to an array of 
issues covering data privacy, data 
security and ‘big data’, including 
artificial intelligence (AI) and the 
associated human rights issues. 

The complex nature of cybercrime 
makes its precise economic cost 
difficult to estimate. It is thought the 
yearly cost to the UK economy is at 
least £34 billion.13 On a global level, 
a report by Accenture estimates 
that the total value at risk (i.e. the 
maximum amount expected to be 
lost) from cybercrime is $5.2 trillion 
from 2019-2023.14 

During the Covid pandemic, more 
companies experienced cyber 
security breaches than before. 
According to the UK Government’s 
Cyber Security Breaches Survey 
2020,15 46% of UK businesses reported 
having cyber breaches or attacks 
across the calendar year. 

Given the significant financial 
consequences of poor cybersecurity, 
the growing threat it presents, and 
the increase in related regulation 
worldwide, we believe it is imperative 
that companies are fully aware and 
take appropriate action. Companies 
have become increasingly aware of 

cyber security issues, with eight in ten 
UK businesses reporting that cyber 
security is now a high priority for their 
senior management boards (up from 
69% in 2019).16 The rise of AI raises risks 
from both a moral perspective and 
a security perspective, as criminals 
increasingly turn to AI too. 

13 Centre for Economics and Business Research, The business and economic consequences of inadequate cybersecurity, 2015
14 Ninth Annual Cost of Cybercrime Study, Accenture, 2019
15 Department for Digital, Culture, Media & Sport – Official Statistics Cyber Security Breaches Survey 2020
16 Department for Digital, Culture, Media & Sport – Official Statistics Cyber Security Breaches Survey 2020

Voting Spotlight: Remuneration
Due to concerns about the excessive 
severance package awarded to the former 
CEO at McDonald’s, and the lack of a robust 
‘clawback’ policy, we voted against the 
named executive officers’ compensation.  
The resolution received 20.3% dissent.

Voting Spotlight: Modern Human Slavery
As an escalation of the engagement on modern human 
slavery statements, we voted against the statutory reports 
for Frasers group (previously Sports Direct). Frasers failed 
to disclose a modern human slavery statement in line with 
mandatory government requirements. A revised statement 
has since been published. The collaborative engagement 
with target companies continues.

5958Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  

P
age 58

https://www.hsbc.com/-/files/hsbc/investors/results-and-announcements/stock-exchange-announcements/2021/march/sea-210311-climate-resolution-rns.pdf
https://www.sportsdirectplc.com/~/media/Files/S/Sports-Direct/documents/Modern Slavery Statement - Approved - 31072020.pdf


6160

What actions have we taken?
Brunel uses several data sources 
to review cyber security within its 
portfolios. 

We have previously supported the 
Investor Statement on Corporate 
Accountability for Digital Rights, 
which was sent to 22 companies 
in the ICT sector. It defined investor 
expectations for ICT companies and 
recognised the importance of the 
Ranking Digital Rights Corporate 
Accountability Index as a tool 
that aids companies in meeting 
their human rights and fiduciary 
responsibilities, and helps investors 
identify and assess digital rights 
risks in their portfolios. This was 
also supported by some of Brunel’s 
appointed managers. 

The Ranking Digital Rights 
Corporate Accountability Index 
evaluates 26 of the most powerful 
telecommunication companies 
across a number of indicators, 
specifically on their disclosure 
commitments and policies affecting 
freedom of expression and privacy. 

The companies hold a combined 
market capitalisation of more than 
$11 trillion. The products and services 
of these companies are used by 
a majority of the world’s 4.3 billion 
internet users.17 

Within the Ranking Digital Rights 
Corporate Accountability Index, a 
score of 100 represents full disclosure, 
and 0 represents no disclosure. We 
can examine how the weighted 
average scores for companies we 
hold in our Active Equity Portfolios fare 
against the average index scores. 
Within Brunel’s Active Equity Portfolios, 
there is a greater weighting to those 
telecoms companies with better 
Ranking Digital Rights scores – thus 
the Overall, Freedom of Expression 
and Privacy scores are higher than 
the averages. The Governance 
score has fallen from 2019 and is 
now lower than the Ranking Digital 
Rights index score. This is due to our 
relatively high exposure to Alibaba 
and Amazon, which joined the index 
in 2020, and scored poorly across the 
governance indicators. 

17 Ranking Digital Rights 2020 Corporate Accountability Index

Brunel Active Equity Portfolio Weighted Average versus Ranking 

Digital Rights Average Index Scores

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

Overall Score Governance Score
Freedom of 

Expression Score Privacy

2019 2020

Brunel 
Weighted 
Average

Ranking 
Digital Rights 

index

Brunel 
Weighted 
Average

Ranking 
Digital Rights 

index

Brunel 
Weighted 
Average

Ranking 
Digital Rights 

index

Brunel 
Weighted 
Average

Ranking 
Digital Rights 

index

31.5

44.8

34.5

44.8
50.7

34.1
30.9

38.7 37.7
34.5

45.8
39.4

26.3
21.8

39.8

87

36.9

5.17%

Source: Ranking Digital Rights Corporate Accountability Index and Brunel Pension Partnership

Ranking Digital 
Rights Corporate 
Accountability Index 

Methodology Enhancements 

The 2020 index methodology 
has been enhanced to reflect 
geopolitical and technological 
developments, with clear human 
rights implications. 

Specifically, the RDR 2020 
methodology has incorporated 
new indicators on targeted 
advertising and algorithms that 
set transparency standards 
for how companies can 
demonstrate respect for human 
rights online as they develop 
these technologies.

Big Tech has been incorporated 
into the index - two new 
companies were added to the 
index for the first time in 2020: 
Amazon and Alibaba.

Our engagement & voting provider, 
EOS, has been engaging with 
companies specifically on data 
privacy and artificial intelligence 
since April 2018. In 2019 they 
published ‘Expectations on 
Responsible Artificial Intelligence 
and Data Governance’, which 
set out engagement frameworks 
encompassing a breadth of risks 
across data governance, bias and 
cyber security. EOS also joined a 
group of investors engaging on 
cyber security. The PRI collaborative 
engagement had 55 institutional 
investors representing over US$12trn 
in assets under management. 
Using cyber governance as a 
proxy for cyber resilience, these 
investors engaged 53 companies 
in a range of sectors (healthcare, 
financial, consumer goods, 
information technology and 
telecommunications) over 2017-2019. 
Companies were assessed against 
14 indicators of cyber governance 
and risk management. Over the 
engagement period, the targeted 
companies made significant strides 
in reporting on cyber-related 
governance mechanisms and 
processes. The average score across 
the companies improved from 6.1 
to 8.5 (out of 14 indicators) over 
2017-19. The number of companies 
leading on disclosure increased, as 
did the level of detail and scope of 
information disclosed.

However, despite these positive 
trends, cyber security-related 
disclosures cannot be considered 
the norm. For instance, in 2019, a 
majority of the targeted companies 
did not provide information on audits, 
evidence of cyber security training 
for all staff, or details of relevant 
board expertise.

The collaborative group published 
the outcomes of their engagement 
in the following report: Engaging 
on cyber security: Results of the PRI 
Collaborative Engagement. The 
report provides investors with:

•  An analysis of how companies 
within this initiative have 
progressed on corporate 
reporting over the last two years

•  Insights from the PRI collaborative 
engagement that shed light 
on how cyber risks are being 
perceived and addressed among 
companies from diverse sectors

•  A set of investor 
recommendations on 
engagement, including tools to 
benchmark disclosure and set 
expectations

Source: Engaging on cyber security: Results of the PRI Collaborative Engagement

2017  2019
Average score (number of indicators met out of 14)

6.1 8.5
Percentage and number of companies disclosing 10 or more indicators

13% 
(7 companies)

42% 
(22 companies)

Percentage and number of companies disclosing two or fewer indicators

21% 
(11 companies)

6% 
(3 companies)

VS

Artificial Intelligence and data privacy

EOS’s engagement on data 
privacy and artificial intelligence 
continued into 2020. Data privacy 
became increasingly important 
as the impact of Covid was felt 
globally, and as local lockdowns 
resulted in millions working and 
learning from home and finding 
themselves reliant on technology 
to stay connected. EOS’s report, 
Data privacy and protection in the 
coronavirus pandemic, outlined how 
these unique circumstances created 
a quandary for governments. In 
recent years, policymakers have 
attempted to crack down on 
intrusions by technology companies 

into users’ data privacy, with tighter 
regulation and greater scrutiny. 
Yet governments also turned to 
technology companies to help 
tackle the pandemic. Contact 
tracing apps and health data 
sharing raised civil liberty questions 
and concerns about a similar 
intrusion into data privacy by 
government. This complex topic was 
embedded into EOS’s engagement 
with technology and healthcare 
companies to ensure they are 
aware and demonstrate their 
commitment to upholding basic 
human rights principles.

6160Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  

P
age 59

https://www.hermes-investment.com/uki/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/investors%E2%80%99-expectations-on-responsible-artificial-intelligence-and-data-governance.pdf
https://www.hermes-investment.com/uki/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/investors%E2%80%99-expectations-on-responsible-artificial-intelligence-and-data-governance.pdf
https://www.hermes-investment.com/uki/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/investors%E2%80%99-expectations-on-responsible-artificial-intelligence-and-data-governance.pdf
https://www.unpri.org/download?ac=10398
https://www.unpri.org/download?ac=10398
https://www.unpri.org/download?ac=10398
https://www.hermes-investment.com/uki/eos-insight/eos/data-privacy-and-protection-in-the-coronavirus-pandemic/
https://www.hermes-investment.com/uki/eos-insight/eos/data-privacy-and-protection-in-the-coronavirus-pandemic/


6362

In April 2018, EOS began engaging with Alphabet on 
how its technologies manage the prioritised content 
of Google Search and YouTube, to avoid human rights 
concerns arising through the application of artificial 
intelligence (AI). EOS encouraged the company to go 
beyond publishing AI principles, and to demonstrate 
how the principles are being applied. After multiple 
touchpoints, engagement stepped up and a letter 
was sent to the chair of the board, recommending 
a feedback system in its AI ecosystem, and asking 
for further disclosure on content governance. At the 
2019 annual stockholder meeting, EOS supported a 
shareholder proposal aimed at better addressing 
societal risk and voiced concerns relating to AI 
governance directly to the executives and board.

Progress on the application of AI was made in 2019 
with the publication of a 30-page white paper and a 
series of actions by YouTube to improve transparency 
and accountability. Since 2019, the company has 
improved tools to measure the fairness, transparency 
and explicability of AI. It has also improved stakeholder 
engagement and communications with regard to how 
AI’s social impact is assessed and measured. 

In November 2020, Alphabet changed its audit 
committee to become an audit and compliance 
committee (ACC). The ACC’s charter now mandates 
it to review sustainability, data privacy and civil and 
human rights risks – bringing the company closer to 
meeting the request for enhanced board oversight. 
EOS continues to engage with the company through a 
human rights lens to encourage board accountability 
over the responsible use of AI.

Published 02 December 2020: Alphabet Case Study 

EOS began engagement with NetEase in 2018. EOS 
put forward ideas to improve communication on ESG 
to shareholders and suggested that the company 
publishes a sustainability report to describe key social 
and environmental impacts. On data privacy and 
protection, EOS highlighted the financial materiality 
and relevance of compliance with General Data 
Protection Regulation (GDPR), and shared best 
practices from the technology sector globally.

In March 2020, NetEase improved shareholder 
communication by establishing a Twitter account. 
By the end of June, it published its first ESG report, 
which captures material topics recommended by 
EOS, investors, stakeholders, ESG professionals and 
some influential ESG rating agencies. Topics covered 
included human capital, privacy and data protection, 

cybersecurity, environment, and business ethics. 
The company acknowledged data privacy and 
protection as a fundamental human right within the 
report and referenced the applicable data protection 
frameworks to which it will comply in and outside of 
China, which include GDPR.

While its inaugural ESG report lays a good foundation, 
EOS encourages NetEase to disclose details about 
a privacy impact assessment and how its different 
business units and mobile apps comply with China’s 
new data privacy law. EOS also continues to engage 
with the company on such topics as climate change, 
human capital management, board diversity, and 
board refreshment.

Published 13 October 2020: NetEase-case-study

In 2020, Royal London Asset Management (RLAM) 
convened the Cybersecurity Coalition, with 
representatives from Brunel, Border to Coast, 
NEST, RMPI Railpen and USS. RLAM evaluated and 
researched its stock exposure to cybersecurity risks by 
using the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board 
(SASB) materiality lens, thereby providing input into the 
identification of a targeted list of companies. 

The coalition wrote to 25 companies to better 
understand their approach to cyber security, including 
in such areas as training, scenario analysis and 
management of third parties. We received responses 
from over half of companies contacted and met with 
eight companies. 

 

Through the company interactions, we are establishing 
a baseline of disclosure and best practice; we are 
also identifying information gaps to agree next steps 
and areas for improvement. Engagement is ongoing 
and the coverage has been expanded to incorporate 
other companies in sectors of risk, or where preliminary 
research does not satisfy minimum standards of 
disclosure.

Case Study: Alphabet - engagement through EOS

Case Study: NetEase Data Protection – engagement through EOS

Case Study: Cybersecurity Coalition

In 2019 a collaborative engagement 
was started, led by New Zealand 
Super Fund, New Zealand Government 
Superannuation Fund and National 
Provident Fund. Brunel co-signed 
letters to Facebook, Alphabet and 
Twitter and led by asking them to 
strengthen their controls to prevent 
the livestreaming and distribution of 

objectionable content. As a direct 
result of this engagement, Facebook 
updated the charter of its Audit and 
Risk Oversight Committee18 in 2020 to 
explicitly include a review of content-
related risks that violate its policies, 
as well as the steps the company has 
taken to monitor, mitigate and prevent 
such abuse.

Figure 3 Engagement Process

52%
8%

44%

36%

 Response

 Sold

 No response

 Written response with details

 Awaiting meeting

  Acknowledged receipt but no 
interest in engaging

 Meeting held

4%

4%

4%Response 
type

18 https://investor.fb.com/corporate-governance/audit-committee-charter/default.aspx 

Engaging on objectionable content

6362Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  

P
age 60

https://www.hermes-investment.com/ukw/eos-insight/eos/alphabet-case-study
https://www.hermes-investment.com/ukw/eos-insight/eos/netease-case-study/


6564

When we appoint managers, we integrate cyber security issues into the 
selection process. It therefore forms a part of the rigorous due diligence 
undertaken to assess how the manager is handling cyber security, both 
initially and on an ongoing basis. Any concerns are discussed with the 
manager and, where needed, conditions may be set around cyber 
security prior to entering any agreement. In such cases, managers are 
monitored more frequently. 

Next steps
•  Continue engagement on data privacy, with a focus 

on upholding basic human rights principles and raising 
awareness around metadata use and the risk of it being 
reverse engineered to identify individuals

•  Continued participation in the Cybersecurity Coalition 
to further build knowledge and establish a baseline of 
disclosure and best practice

•  Continue to engage with our asset managers on cyber 
issues; both how they approach integration into investment 
selection and how they are managing the risks within their 
own operations

•  Continue to report the weighted average of our Active 
Equity Portfolio to inform engagement activities 

•  Continue to maintain and build on our own cyber security 
expertise to ensure we continue to meet best practice across 
our own operations

Walking the talk
Within our own operations, we have received the Cyber Essentials 
badge, a government-backed, industry-supported recognition that we 
have met the basic levels of controls needed to protect against online 
threats. We recognise this as a minimum standard which we aim to 
exceed across our operations in line with best practice.

Supply Chain 

We seek to focus on specific companies and sectors where 
the effective management of suppliers is a principal business 
risk. The complex and extensive nature of supply chains 
in a globalised world presents many sustainability and 
socioeconomic risks. 

As Covid resulted in the forced 
closure of businesses across the 
globe production halted and supplies 
were disrupted. The resilience of 
supply chains came under increasing 
scrutiny and will undoubtedly be 
an area of increased focus going 
forward. 

Our engagement work relating 
to supply chains covers a wide 
range of issues. This is an area 
where we respond dynamically via 
collaborative opportunities the most, 
as such we provide highlights of our 

activities. Last year’s report included 
case studies on tailings dams, plastics 
pollution, palm oil, animal welfare, 
water, antimicrobial resistance and 
biodiversity (AMR). We continue to 
include most of these themes in this 
year’s reports, we have removed 
AMR, animal welfare and palm oil. 
Whilst we continue to engage on 
these themes, in this year’s report, 
we have opted to include increased 
coverage of water and biodiversity, 
including deforestation, and 
indigenous rights. 

Next steps
•   Continue to raise 

awareness and engage 
with companies and 
fund managers around 
supply chain risks and 
opportunities, including but 
not limited to biodiversity, 
plastics, water and the 
importance of managing 
tailings dams risks

•  Continue to engage 
with companies in 
collaboration with Ceres 
and FAIRR

•  Working with Bath University 
MSc students to review the 
findings of the Dasgupta 
Review and explore 
how the findings can be 
translated into investment 
decisions. We are also 
supporting the Green 
Finance Institute in their 
exploration of the issue.

•  Investigate water risk 
exposure in our portfolio

6564Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  

P
age 61



6766

In addition to large-scale marine 
pollution, plastics production is 
also incredibly carbon-intensive. 
Approximately 90% of plastics 
production is from virgin fossil fuel 
stocks, representing 6% of global 
oil consumption. At current rates of 
consumption, plastics will account 
for 15% of the global annual 
carbon budget by 2050. As well as 
environmental reasons for addressing 
plastics pollution, there are also 
strong economic incentives. Plastics 
pollution costs the global economy 
an estimated $40 billion annually 
and is expected to increase strongly 
under a business-as-usual scenario.

What actions have we 
taken?
To play our role in managing the 
complex and widespread risks and 
opportunities associated with plastics 
pollution, we are an active member 
of the Principles of Responsible 
Investment (PRI) Plastic Working 
Group. This comprises 29 global 
investors representing US$5.9 trillion in 
assets. The group focuses on building 
an understanding of plastics from 
a global and holistic perspective, 
including how plastics fit in with the 
broader circular economy concept, 

as well as looking at the risks and 
opportunities associated with 
plastics. Following on from the reports 
published in 2019, the group has 
been working on additional report for 
publication in 2021.

Brunel, alongside 26 international 
investors, joined a collaborative 
engagement led by First Sentier 
Investment, with support from the 
Marine Conservation Society. Using 
our collective influence, we aim 
to engage with 18 of the largest 
manufacturers of washing machines 
around the world to understand what 
they’re doing about micro plastic 
through washing machine use and to 
champion technological advances 
to tackle this issue. Engagement will 
take place during 2021.

Plastics Pollution

While delivering many benefits to society, the plastics economy has many drawbacks, which 
have become urgently apparent. 

Each year, at least 8 million tonnes of plastics leak into the ocean. This is equivalent to 
emptying the contents of one garbage truck into the ocean every minute. If no action is 
taken, this is expected to increase to two per minute by 2030 and four per minute by 2050, by 
which point the plastic in the ocean is forecast to weigh more than the fish. 

Montanaro is one of our small cap managers. They 
raised concerns over the amount of single-use 
plastic following a site visit with Santen, a provider 
of solutions for eye treatment. In 2020, the company 

announced that it will be introducing biomass-based 
bottles for some of its products as a direct result of the 
managers’ engagement.

Case Study: Our fund managers living their values 

Bristol, Jody Thomas 

67Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  66Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  

Consumption of plastic has 
increased 20-fold in the last 50 
years and is set to triple again 
by 2050, yet only around 
14% is recycled. Meanwhile, 
microplastics threaten 
to contaminate all living 
organisms, with unknown 
health consequences.

P
age 62



6968

The Organisation for Economic 
Cooperation and Development 
(OECD) projects that, under 
business-as-usual circumstances, 
water demand would increase by 
55% globally by 2050.19 With the 
increased effects of climate change 
and greater competition for water, 
many agriculture companies – the 
world’s largest users of water – have 
significant water risks. 

Hands, Face, Space – we became 
accustomed to washing our hands 
during 2020, in some instances to the 
tune of happy birthday. Advice was 
issued that this could help slow the 
spread of coronavirus, but for those 
who live in areas without a clean 
and constant water supply this is a 
problem. Brunel contributed to a 
workshop with WaterAid to discuss 
and inform a briefing on the role of 
institutional investors in supporting 
and enabling action on water, 
sanitation and hygiene (WASH). 

19 OECD, Addressing water scarcity, Acting together so the world does not go thirsty

Water 

More than 40% of the world’s population lives in water-stressed regions. 

Neuberger Berman is one of our chosen private equity 
managers. We made a $60 million commitment to 
their Impact Fund. The fund is ground-breaking in 
seeking attractive financial returns in lockstep with 
positive social and environmental impact, having 
identified investment themes that map to 15 of the 
17 UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). One 
such investment in the fund is Waterlogic. Waterlogic 

is a leading point-of-use (“POU”) water filtration 
and dispenser company, that designs, assembles, 
distributes and services POU water systems. This POU 
solution eliminates the need for frequent plastic 
bottle deliveries, reducing plastic use and up to a 72% 
reduction in carbon footprint.

Robeco manages a quantitative low-risk factor 
investing portfolio within Brunel’s Low Volatility Global 
Equities fund. Water intensity can pose financially 
material risks to a company in three ways primarily: 
physically, socially and from a regulatory standpoint. 
Contribution to biodiversity loss and climate change, 
changes in regulation and fines for poor practices, 
and negative impacts on local communities are 
all examples of such risks. Bringing down the water 
footprint of investment portfolios helps to mitigate 
these potential financial risks. 

Robeco’s ESG integration ensures we avoid the risk 
of being overexposed to less sustainable companies 
while maintaining exposure to the top-ranked stocks. 
Robeco’s research demonstrated a 20% water, 
waste and carbon footprint reduction is possible, 
while preserving portfolio characteristics, such as 
exposure to the factors which drive our investment 
performance. For each attractive stock that does 
not score well on sustainability characteristics, there 
appear to be sufficient sustainable alternatives to 
achieve a comparable exposure to low-volatility, 
income and sentiment factors. 

For water intensity, Robeco’s ESG data is based on 
the annual SAM Corporate Sustainability Assessment 

(CSA). ‘Water Use’ measures companies’ total 
water withdrawal in cubic meters, excluding water 
discharged with an equivalent quality level than 
the water extracted. Metrics are standardized by 
dividing a company’s absolute footprint by the annual 
revenues (in mUSD). 

Over the course of the past two years, the water 
intensity of the portfolio has been lowered by over 20% 
from 850 m3/mUSD revenues in Q1 2019 to 670 m3/
mUSD revenues today. Currently the Robeco portfolio 
achieves a 38% reduction water intensity versus the 
MSCI World Index.

Robeco’s Active Ownership team are engaging with 
an international mining company in the portfolio 
focusing on their water risk management. Dialogue is 
progressing well; the company’s water intensity is very 
high with 6078m3/mUSD revenues when compared to 
the level of the market index, but 25-35% lower than 
large industry peers. 

The financial materiality of water-related risks is 
monitored by Robeco. Companies which improve their 
water intensity may become eligible for inclusion in 
the portfolio. Inclusion of water-related risk as a cause 
for engagement is revisited annually and continues to 
be important feature of Robeco’s agenda.

Case Study: Private Equity – Water Logic

Case Study: Robeco – Water integration

We expect companies and fund managers to take water risk into 
account within their management and portfolio construction.

69Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  68Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  

P
age 63



7170

GREENHOUSE

CHP

CO

WATER TREATMENT 
FACILITY

COOL

HEAT PUMP

HEAT PUMP

HEAT

Combined Heat and Power 
(CHP) powers heat pumps. 
CO  generated by CHP 
transferred to greenhouse 
to be recaptured by plants.

3

1 Greenhouses warmed 
via heat pumps using 
waste heat from water 
recycling centres.

Water outflows 
from water 
recycling centres 
cooled to the 
benefit of river 
ecosystem.

2

RIVER

 

 
 

Biodiversity, Communities  
and Land use

Ecosystem services delivered by 
biodiversity, such as crop pollination, 
water purification, flood protection 
and carbon sequestration are vital 
to human wellbeing and are worth 
an estimated $125-140 trillion per 
year (1.5 times total global GDP).20 
Protecting biodiversity loss is critical 
for climate change mitigation, 
disaster risk reduction, water and 
food security and human health.

The UN’s landmark 2019 global 
assessment report on biodiversity and 
ecosystem services identified a major 
decline in biodiversity at a level 
unprecedented in human history, 
with extinction rates accelerating. 
In 2021, countries are expected to 
agree on a post-2020 framework 
for biodiversity at the Convention 
on Biological Diversity COP 15. Like 
the Paris Agreement for climate 
change, the targets will be delivered 

by countries and companies. This is 
an area of increased engagement. 
EOS outlined the value of biodiversity 
and expectations of sectors with high 
biodiversity impacts in a recently 
published white paper: Biodiversity 
and Sustainable Land Use: Our 
Commitment to Nature. This included 
an expectation that companies 
should commit to having a net-
positive impact on biodiversity. 

Biodiversity is the amount of variety of life on Earth and is necessary for healthy and fully 
functioning ecosystems. 

The Brunel Secured Income Fund is invested in 
the world’s first ever low-carbon greenhouse via 
Greencoat Capital. The two greenhouses totalling over 
70 acres (the size of 46 football pitches), are warmed 
via heat pumps using water from recycling centres 
and energy will be provided by a Combined Heat 
and Power (CHP) plant. The waste heat comes from 
sewage treatment works, which would otherwise flow 
into and heat up local rivers. The CO2 generated from 
the CHP plants is transferred into the greenhouses to 
be recaptured by the growing plants. 

The greenhouses are 7m tall glass structures and 
allow crops to grow vertically along line wires from 
hydroponically nutrient-rich water solutions instead of 
soil. The project uses 1/10th of the water usage of field 
farming whilst being ten times productive. In addition, 
rainwater is captured from the building’s roof and is 
recirculated to ensure no wastage. As well as providing 
the UK with home-grown tomatoes, the technology 
reduces the carbon footprint by up to 75%. In addition 
to environmental benefits, the project will create 
137 permanent jobs in Norfolk and Suffolk, and an 
additional 117 seasonal jobs. 

Case Study: Sustainable agriculture in East Anglia  

 20 OECD, Biodiversity: finance and the economic and business case for action, May 2019

Tailings Dams 
In January 2019 the Brumadinho 
dam in Brazil collapsed, tragically 
killing over 270 people and causing 
one of Brazil’s worst environmental 
disasters. This prompted global 
investors to take collective action on 
companies operating tailings dams. 
Brunel joined the Investor Mining 
and Tailings Safety Inititative, which 
called for a global independent and 
transparent classification system of 
the world’s tailings dams based on 
the consequences of failure. As part 
of the initiative led by the Church of 
England and the Council on Ethics 
of the Swedish National Pension 
Fund, companies have been asked 
to make disclosures on their tailings’ 
facilities. The initiative feeds into 

a global review co-convened by 
International Council on Mining and 
Metals (ICMM), the PRI and the United 
Nations Environment Programme 
(UNEP). We participated in investor 
roundtables throughout 2019; in 
2020, we marked the first anniversary 
of the Brumadinho disaster at a 
Summit on Global Mining and 
Tailings Safety. This brought together 
community representatives, investors, 
mining companies, global experts 
and international organisations. In 
January 2020, the global database 
of tailings dams (Global Tailings Data 
Portal) was launched and in August 
2020 the Global Industry Standard on 
Tailings Management was unveiled. 

In 2019, HM Treasury commissioned the Dasgupta Review, an independent, 
global review on the Economics of Biodiversity led by Professor Sir Partha 
Dasgupta, Frank Ramsey Professor Emeritus, University of Cambridge. 
Findings were published in February 2021. They called for changes in how 
we think, act and measure economic success to protect and enhance our 
prosperity and the natural world. Grounded in a deep understanding of 
ecosystem processes and how they are affected by economic activity, the 
new framework sets out how we should account for nature in economics and 
decision-making. Brunel is working with University of Bath students to take the 
findings of the report and apply it to pension investments.

Deforestation
Last year, the UK government 
launched a consultation aimed at 
reducing deforestation in UK supply 
chains. Over 60,000 responses 
were received, with 99% in support 
of requirements that companies 
demonstrate that they know where 
the commodities they use have 
come from and comply with local 
law. Based on the response, the 
government will introduce a new 
law through the Environment Bill to 
prevent illegal deforestation in the 
supply chains of UK businesses.

As a result of the escalating crisis of 
deforestation and forest fires in Brazil 
and other countries, in June 2020, 

a coalition of investors, including 
Brunel, signed an open letter to 
the government of Brazil outlining 
their concern about escalating 
deforestation, and sought dialogue 
with key government authorities. In 
July 2020 this engagement, led by 
Storebrand Asset Management, was 
formalized as the Investors Policy 
Dialogue on Deforestation in Brazil 
(IPDD), supported by the PRI with 
43 institutional investors joining as 
investor members. We also co-signed 
letters sent by the Investor Initiative 
for Sustainable Forests (IISF) seeking 
transparency and traceability in 
Brazilian cattle supply chains.

71Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  70Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  

P
age 64

https://www.hermes-investment.com/uki/insight/eos/eos-publishes-biodiversity-paper-our-commitment-to-nature/
https://www.hermes-investment.com/uki/insight/eos/eos-publishes-biodiversity-paper-our-commitment-to-nature/
https://www.hermes-investment.com/uki/insight/eos/eos-publishes-biodiversity-paper-our-commitment-to-nature/
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/2020/10/23/investing-in-giant-greenhouses-to-cut-emissions-and-create-jobs/
https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/2020/10/23/investing-in-giant-greenhouses-to-cut-emissions-and-create-jobs/


7372

Capital Dynamics has acquired Eagle Shadow 
Mountain Solar Project. Located near Clark County, 
Nevada, Eagle Shadow Mountain is the first of two 
clean energy projects in the region due for completion 
at the end of 2021. 

The site is located on the Moapa River Indian 
Reservation and is expected to generate up to 400 
new jobs during the 18-month construction period. The 

Moapa River Indian Reservation has a population of 
less than 250 tribal residents called the Moapa Band 
of Pauites. Capital Dynamics will work closely with 
members of the tribe and will rely heavily on their rich 
talent pool for both building and operating the solar 
and storage plants. 

Case Study: Capital Dynamics Eagle Shadow Mountain 
Solar Project  

Indigenous Rights 
When Juukan Gorge in Western 
Australian was blown up by 
Rio Tinto in the pursuit of iron 
ore, the world was shocked. In 
sectors such as extractives and 
agriculture, companies that do 
not establish good relationships 
with impacted indigenous peoples 
create risks to communities and 
jeopardise their social licence to 

operate. Brunel co-signed letters 
to 78 of the world’s largest mining 
companies, requesting a review 
of their individual relationships 
with First Nations communities and 
indigenous peoples. Engagement 
continues, with the aim of improving 
disclosures and transparency on 
how companies take into account 
the local community.

Partnerships and affiliations

30% Club Aims to develop a diverse pool of talent for all businesses through the efforts of its Chair and 
CEO members who are committed to better gender balance at all levels of their organisations.

A4S – Accounting for 
Sustainability

The Prince’s Accounting for Sustainability Project was established by HRH The Prince of Wales 
in 2004 to promote improvements in reporting and transparency. 

British Private Equity & Venture 
Capital Association (BVCA)

Industry body and public policy advocate for the private equity and venture capital industry 
in the UK.

The Diversity Project A group of leaders in the investment and savings profession who are working to accelerate 
progress towards an inclusive culture within our industry.

Future-Fit Business Benchmark Not-for-profit organisation with the aim of encouraging and equipping business leaders 
and investors to take action in response to today’s biggest societal challenges, from climate 
change to inequality.

The Green Finance Initiative Launched in January 2016 by the City of London in partnership with the government to 
promote the UK as a global centre for green finance.

Institutional Investor Group 
on Climate Change (IIGCC)

A forum for collaboration by institutional investors on the investor implications of climate 
change.

Local Authority Pension Fund 
Forum (LAPFF)

The UK’s largest collaborative forum for collective engagement, covering £200bn in 
collective assets under management.

Pensions for Purpose Collaborative initiative of impact managers, pension funds, social enterprises and others 
involved or interested in impact investment.

Sustainable Accounting 
Standards Board (SASB)

SASB Alliance Member

SASB standards focus on financially material issues with a mission to help businesses 
around the world report on the sustainability topics that matter most to their investors.

ShareAction Charity that promotes Responsible Investment and gives savers a voice in the investment 
system.

The Transition Pathway 
Initiative

Co-founded in 2016 by the Environment Agency Pension Fund and the Church of 
England National Investing Bodies. The initiative assesses how companies are preparing 
for the transition to a low-carbon economy and will form the basis for engagement with 
companies.

Principles for Responsible 
Investment

United Nations-supported and investor-led global coalition promoting the incorporation 
of environmental, social and governance factors. Brunel was the first LGPS Pool to join.

The TCFD (The Task Force on 
Climate-related Financial 
Disclosures)

Will develop voluntary, consistent climate-related financial risk disclosures for use 
by companies in providing information to investors, lenders, insurers, and other 
stakeholders.

UKSIF (The UK Sustainable 
Investment and Finance 
Association)

Membership organisation for those in the finance industry committed to growing 
sustainable and responsible finance in the UK.

Appendix

73Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  72Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  

P
age 65



7574

Appendix 

Benchmark Benchmark Weight

FTSE Allshare ex-IT 8.8%

MSCI World 32.8%

MSCI Emerging Markets 9.3%

MSCI ACWI 14.9%

Brunel Passive Smart Beta 6.3%

Brunel Passive UK 5.1%

Brunel Passive World Developed 19.3%

MSCI World Small Cap 3.5%

Carbon Reporting 

The Brunel Aggregate Portfolio Custom Benchmark

Definitions to levels of disclosure

Full Disclosure - Companies reporting 
their own carbon data (eg in 
financial reports, CDP disclosures etc) 

Partial Disclosure - The data disclosed 
by companies has been adjusted to 
match the reporting scope required 
by the research process. This may 
include using data from previous 
years’ disclosures as well as changes 
in business activities. 

Modelled - In the absence of usable 
or up to date disclosures, the data has 
been estimated by Trucost models. 

The rate of companies in the Brunel 
Aggregate Portfolio for which fully 
disclosed carbon data was available 
was 61% (carbon weighted measure) 
and 56% (investment weighted 
measure). This indicates scope for 
improved reporting among investee 
companies which is a core part of 
our engagement strategy. 

Portfolio
Carbon intensity 2020 

vs December 2019 
Benchmark Baseline

Portfolio Dec 2020 
tCO2e/mGBP

Portfolio Dec 2019 
tCO2e/mGBP 

Dec 2019 Benchmark 
Baseline tCO2e/mGBP 

Brunel Aggregate Portfolio -33.1% 224 282 334

Brunel UK Active Portfolio -29.6% 199 259 282

Brunel Global High Alpha Portfolio -52.4% 143 158 301

Brunel Emerging Market Equity Portfolio -29.4% 402 523 570

Brunel Active Low Volatility Portfolio -41.9% 194 259 334

Brunel Passive Low Carbon Portfolio -51.9% 145 150 301

Brunel Passive Smart Beta Portfolio -24.5% 419 554 554

Brunel Passive UK Portfolio -1.2% 278 281 281

Brunel Passive World Developed Portfolio -18.7% 246 303 303

Brunel Global Sustainable Equity Portfolio* n/a 174 n/a 334

Brunel Global Smaller Companies Portfolio* n/a 179 n/a n/a

  Meeting target    Action underway

*Portfolios launched in 2020. We are in the process of establishing an appropriate benchmark date

Meet the Team

Faith is the Chief Responsible 
Investment Officer for Brunel 
Pension Partnership and Chair of 
the Institutional Investors Group on 
Climate Change (IIGCC). These roles 
enable her to advocate for better 
appreciation of systemic risk as well 
as design solutions that embed such 
risks into the operations of finance and 
investment, an industry she has served 
for over 25 years.

Other roles include, member of the 
Ethics Investment Advisory Group 
for the Church of England National 
Investing Bodies; member of SASB’s 
Investor Advisory Group; co-chair 
of the European and UK Working 
Group of SASB; member of the 
Financial Reporting Council (FRC) 
Investment Advisory Group and 
Climate Ambassador for the National 
Federation of Women’s Institutes.

A founder of the Transition Pathway 
Initiative Faith was formerly its co-chair. 
She was also the chair of the Reporting 
and Assessment Advisory Committee 
for the United Nations Principles for 
Responsible Investment (UNPRI).

Laura joined Brunel Pension 
Partnership in February 2020 and 
has over ten years of investment 
experience. She previously 
worked across a number of roles 
including as an investment analyst, 
a portfolio manager and most 
recently as Deputy Head of Ethical 
and Responsible Investment at 
CCLA, the charity specialist asset 
manager. Laura is a member of 
the Chartered Financial Analyst 
(CFA) Institute and has been a CFA 
charterholder since 2015. She is also 
an independent member of the 
World Wildlife Fund (WWF) Investment 
Committee. Laura graduated from 
the University of Bristol in 2010 with 
an honours degree and masters in 
geographical sciences.

Helen leads on stewardship, 
engagement and voting at Brunel 
Pension Partnership (Brunel). 
She draws on knowledge built 
from her BA (honours) in Business 
Studies and from working in 
different sectors. Helen is eager 
to improve representation within 
the industry and at companies in 
which we invest, she is a member 
of the Diversity Project Steering 
Committee and co-leads the Asset 
Owner Diversity Group. Helen is 
also a member of the PRI’s Plastic 
Investor Working Group and the PRI 
Reporting and Assessment Advisory 
Committee; she is passionate about 
the role of pension funds in moving 
to a more sustainable business 
world and is involved in industry 
wide initiatives to improve standards 
in responsible investment and 
corporate sustainability.

Laura Hobbs

Responsible Investment 
Manager

Faith Ward

Chief Responsible Investment 
Officer

Helen Price

Stewardship 
Manager

Click here to meet the rest of the Brunel Team

Click here to meet the team at Federated Hermes

75Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  74Brunel Pension Partnership Limited Responsible Investment and Stewardship Outcomes  

P
age 66

https://www.brunelpensionpartnership.org/people/
https://www.hermes-investment.com/ukw/about-us/team/


If you have any questions or comments about this report 
please email Faith Ward, Chief Responsible Investment Officer 
at RI.Brunel@brunelpp.org.

Please visit our website to read our latest reports, news and 
insights and other materials to keep you up to date. 

For general fund manager enquiries, meeting requests and 
other materials (updates, newsletters, brochures and so on), 
please contact us on investments.brunel@brunelpp.org 

Getting in touch with the team

List of Images 
Page 31 Kevin Davis on Unsplash
Page 32 Wind turbine fokkebok on istock
Page 50  Shangai  - Chuyuss on Shutterstock.com
Page 52 Board room Benjamin Child on Unsplash
Page 58 Canary Wharf, Expect Best on Pexels 
 McDonalds Shahbaz Ali on Unsplash
 Sports Direct on wikicommons
Page 59 DKosig on istock
Page 60 Krzysztof Kowalik on Unsplash
Page 62  Solen Feyissa on Unsplash
Page 64 Markus Spiske on Unsplash

Page 65 Robert Schwemmer for NOAA’s National Ocean Service  
 Ever Given Tanker Wikimedia Commons
Page 66 Plastic Bottles solarseven on istock
Page 67 Artist Jody Thomas, Bristol
Page 68 Jouni Rajala on Unsplash
Page 69  Erda Estremera on Unsplash
Page 71 Butterfly -  Helen Price, Brunel
Page 71   Global Mining and Tailings Safety Summit. Courtesy of 

Church of England
Page 72 PKKP Aboriginal Corporation/AFP
 Eagle - Flo Maderebner on Pexels

P
age 67



This content is produced by Brunel Pension Partnership Limited. It is for the exclusive use of the recipient and is nether 
directed to, nor intended for distribution or use by, any person or entity who is a citizen or resident of or located in any 
locality, state, country or jurisdiction where distribution, publication, availability or use of this document would be contrary 
to law or regulation. 

This content is provided for information purposes only and is Brunel’s current view, which may be subject to change. This 
document does not constitute an offer or a recommendation to buy, or sell securities or financial instruments, it is designed 
for the use of professional investors and their advisers. It is also not intended to be a substitute for professional financial 
advice, specific advice should be taken when dealing with specific situations. 

Authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority No. 790168

Winner:   
Climate-Related Risk Management, 
European IPE Awards 2020

Winner:  
ESG, European IPE Awards 2020

Page 68



Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

June 2021 001 
 

Update on funding position as at 31 March 2021 

Purpose and scope 

This paper has been commissioned by and is addressed to Gloucestershire County Council as Administering 

Authority of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund (“the Fund”).  

Its purpose is to support the Fund’s Pension Committee (“the Committee”) in understanding and monitoring the 

Fund’s liabilities between formal valuations.  

Key results  

• The past service position of the Fund has improved since 31 March 2019. This can be considered in two 

ways: 

o Based on a level of investment return of 4.1%, the fund currently has sufficient assets to pay all accrued 

benefits. The amount of additional assets has increased from £41m to £409m; or 

o The investment return required to have sufficient assets to pay all accrued benefits without further 

payments has decreased from 4.1% to 3.2%.  The likelihood of achieving the required return has 

increased from 71% to 80%.  

• However, prudent expectations of future investment returns have fallen from 4.2% to 4.1% based on the 

Fund’s current investment strategy (and a 70% likelihood of success). This will increase the cost of providing 

benefits that continue to be earned in the future.  

The Fund and Committee should continue to monitor the position prior to the next formal valuation.  

Results in this paper are in respect of the Fund as a whole. At the next formal valuation, the results for individual 

employers will be assessed and these may be materially different to the whole fund. Therefore the impact on 

contributions shown above should not be used for budgeting purposes by any of the Fund’s employers.  

Information regarding the data, assumptions, methodology and funding risks associated with the results in this 

paper are contained in the Appendix. 

Useful Definitions 

The Fund’s liabilities: The future benefit payments due to members expressed as a single value (with an 

allowance for future expected investment returns). 

Past service liabilities: Refers to benefit payments due in respect of service accrued up to today. 

Future service liabilities: Refers to benefit payments that will be earned in respect of service after today. 

Assets: the money held to meet benefit payments (which is built up by contributions from employees and 

employers, and investment returns earned). 

Funding level: A comparison of the past service liabilities and the assets held to meet those liabilities. 

 

 

 

 

Page 69



Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

June 2021 002 
 

Past service liabilities 

The chart shows the projected payments due to all members in respect of service earned up to 31 March 2021. 

The projected benefit payments are based on the membership data and the financial and demographic 

assumptions used for the 2019 formal valuation.  

 

Chart 1 

 

• Actives: those members who are still participating in the Fund and accruing service  

• Deferreds: those members who are no longer contributing to the Fund but are yet to retire  

• Pensioners: those members currently in receipt of their benefits 

Important points to note from the chart are: 

• Currently, the majority of benefit payments are in respect of pensioner members.  However, some 

benefits are expected to also be paid to members who were deferred and active at the last formal 

valuation and have either since retired or some other benefit crystallisation event has taken place e.g. 

death-in-service. 

• Over time, the benefit payments will transition from being mostly in respect of pensioners to deferred and 

active members (i.e. the pensioners of the future).  This is expected as pensioners are older than 

deferred and active members and payment of benefits ceases upon death. 

• The timeframe for benefits payable in respect of service accrued up to 31 March 2021 is 80+ years.  This 

emphasises the long-term nature of the Fund. 

What has changed since 2019?  

Pension Increase: 

• Assumed Increases in 2019 = 2.3% per annum 

• Actual increase in April 2020 = 1.7% 

• Actual increase in April 2021 = 0.5% 

• New long-term market expectation = 2.3% per annum 

Page 70



Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

June 2021 003 
 

The impact of this means the Fund is expecting to pay out slightly less benefits than it did at the formal valuation. 

The pink line on Chart 2 below shows the total projected annual future benefit payments as at 31 March 2019 (in 

line with Chart 1 above).  

Technical Note: Government have changed the way RPI is calculated. This doesn’t impact CPI which is the 

inflation measure on which LGPS pension increases are based, but the changes in RPI definitions mean it’s more 

difficult to assess the market’s expectation of future CPI. We may need to review this assumption at the formal 

valuation. 

Chart 2  

 

Are current assets sufficient to meet benefits earned to date?  

As at 31 March 2021, the Fund’s asset value was £2,902m. One measure of the health of the Fund is considering 

how likely it is that the Fund’s assets are sufficient to meet benefit payments earned to date.  

We can do this by projecting the value of the Fund’s assets over time, allowing for investment returns to be 

earned and benefit payments to be made.  

At 31 March 2021 and based on the Fund’s asset allocation, we estimate that the Fund’s assets have a 70% 

likelihood of achieving an annual return of at least 4.1% p.a. (at 31 March 2019, the equivalent return was 4.2%). 

We have calculated the Fund’s liabilities assuming a 4.1% future investment return.  

Chart 3 below details the projected Fund asset value over the next 100 years. Again, the figures are in nominal 

terms. 

Page 71



Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

June 2021 004 
 

Chart 3  

 

Important points to note from the chart are: 

It is estimated that the Fund’s assets as at 31 March 2021 will be sufficient to pay all future benefit payments due.  

In order to meet all future benefit payments due, the Fund currently: 

o has a surplus of £409m over the assets required as at 31 March 2021 based on a future investment 

return of 4.1% p.a. (such that together with investment return there is enough to pay benefits when 

they fall due); or 

o requires future investment returns of at least 3.2% p.a. (which we estimate that there is a 80% 

likelihood of achieving based on the current allocation) i.e. the Fund is less reliant on future investment 

returns than it was at the previous valuation. 

The long-term shape of the chart reflects the fact that investment returns are compounded. At later years, when 

the projected benefit payment is very small, the compounding of future returns results in the observed exponential 

growth. It is important that such growth is very sensitive to small changes in the inputs. Further discussion of this 

is included in the Appendix. 

How does this compare to 2019? 

It is helpful for comparison purposes to consider and compare the level of cash injection and/or required return 

between dates to inform whether the Fund is in a more favourable position (or otherwise).  

At the 31 March 2019 valuation, the Fund’s assets were sufficient to pay all future benefit payments based on an 

assumed investment return of 4.2% p.a..  It was estimated that the Fund would have: 

• a surplus £41m of assets as at 31 March 2019 (based on investment returns of 4.2% p.a.); or would 

require 

• future investment returns of at least 4.1% p.a. (which were estimated to be achievable in c.71% of future 

outcomes). 

Comparing both of these figures to the equivalent as at 31 March 2021, we note that: 

Page 72



Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

June 2021 005 
 

• the past service funding surplus has increased from £41m to £409m; and 

• the required investment return to have sufficient assets has fallen from 4.1% p.a. to 3.2% p.a., with a 

corresponding increase from 71% to 80% in the likelihood of achieving that return. 

The Fund is now more likely to have sufficient assets to meet earned benefit payments than at the 

previous valuation. 

 

Chart 4 shows how the funding level varies with the future investment return assumption at 31 March 2021 (green 

line). For comparison, we have also shown the results of the same analysis as at 31 March 2019 (blue line). 

Along each line we have highlighted points which show the likelihood of the Fund’s assets achieving the 

corresponding assumed future investment return. The likelihoods are those that were estimated at the relevant 

date i.e. 31 March 2019 or 31 March 2021. 

 

Chart 4 

 

From this chart, we can see that regardless of the investment return assumption used, there has been a genuine 

improvement in the funding position at 31 March 2021 compared to the 2019 valuation, reflecting an increase in 

assets held today per pound of benefit to be paid out in future.  

However, the likelihood of the Fund’s asset achieving a given level of future investment return has also decreased 

which will put upwards pressure on the cost of providing benefits in the future.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 73



Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

June 2021 006 
 

Summary 

Chart 5 below combines the liability and asset sides of the funding balance sheet to provide an overall view of the 

past service funding position. 

 

Chart 5 

 

As at 31 March 2021, the past service funding position has improved. Despite the slight worsening in long 

term future investment return prospects, this is primarily due to good investment returns since 31 March 

2019. However, lower expected future investment returns will increase the cost of providing future 

service benefits.  

The past service position is summarised below with a comparison to the 2019 formal valuation results:  

 31 March 2019 31 March 2021 

Assumed future investment return 4.2% 4.1% 

Salary increases 2.6% 2.7% 

Pension increases 2.3% 2.3% 

Assets £2,379m £2,902m 

Past service liabilities £2,338m £2,493m 

Surplus / (Deficit) £41m £409m 

Funding Level 102% 116% 

Investment return required to have 

sufficient assets to pay accrued benefits 

4.1% 3.2% 

Contribution rates will be recalculated at the formal valuation as at 31 March 2022. The funding strategy will also 

be reviewed as part of that valuation, where the time horizon and required likelihood of success will be 

reassessed for all employers.  

Page 74



Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

June 2021 007 
 

Action for the Fund  

The paper has been provided for information purposes only to help understand how the funding risks have 

changed since the last formal valuation when the current funding strategy was agreed. As the objective of the 

Fund is to pay benefits to members, it is helpful to be aware if the current assets and contributions are more or 

less likely to be sufficient to meet those benefits. 

This paper does not seek to propose any changes to the Fund’s funding or investment strategy. Furthermore, the 

contribution rate figures quoted should not be taken as suggestions for rates that will payable at the next formal 

valuation or advice that contribution rates need to be amended before the next valuation. 

Reliances and limitations 

This paper has been prepared for Gloucestershire County Council as Administering Authority of the 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund for the purpose described above.  It has not been prepared for use for any other 

purpose and should not be so used.  The paper should not be disclosed to any third party except as required by 

law or regulatory obligation or with our prior written consent.  We accept no liability where the paper is used by or 

disclosed to a third party unless we have expressly accepted such liability in writing.  Where this is permitted, the 

paper may only be released or otherwise disclosed in a complete form which fully discloses our advice and the 

basis on which it is given.   

The following Technical Actuarial Standards are applicable in relation to this advice, and have been complied with 

where material and to a proportionate degree: 

TAS100 

This report together with the formal valuation report for the Fund (issued March 2020) and the Fund’s Funding 

Strategy Statement set out the aggregate of my advice.  

 

Prepared by:- 

 

Julie West FFA     

7 June 2021 

For and on behalf of Hymans Robertson LLP 

  

Page 75



Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

June 2021 008 
 

Appendix 

Data 

The benefit projections are based on membership data supplied for the 31 March 2019 formal valuation of the 

Fund.  Further details about the data can be found in the 2019 valuation formal valuation report dated March 

2020. 

Assumptions and methodology 

Liabilities 

All demographic and financial assumptions underlying the benefit projections are as per the 31 March 2019 

formal valuation with the exception of the future inflation assumption (which affects the rate of future pension 

increases, CARE revaluation and salary increases). 

Further details about the assumptions can be found in the 2019 valuation formal valuation report dated March 

2020. 

The future long-term inflation assumption used in the benefit projections as at 31 March 2021 is 2.3% p.a..  

Therefore, as at 31 March 2021 we have assumed that: 

Future pension increases are 2.3% p.a. 

Future CARE pot revaluation is 2.3% p.a. 

Future salary increases are 2.6% p.a. 

The benefit projections assume that membership experience since 31 March 2019 has been in line with the 

assumptions made.  At a whole fund level, this assumption is reasonable to make and, for the purpose of this 

paper, we do not expect this to result in a material inaccuracy. 

We have also allowed for additional benefit accrual between 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2021. This allows 

comparison with the Fund’s asset value as at 31 March 2021. 

To calculate the updated future service cost, we have used our proprietary Economic Service Scenario (“ESS”) 

model, and the same methodology used to set employer contribution rates at the last formal valuation.  Further 

details about the ESS model, and the calibration of the model as at 31 March 2019, can be found in the 2019 

valuation formal report dated March 2020.  The contribution rate setting methodology is discussed in Appendix D 

of the Fund’s current Funding Strategy Statement (available on the Fund’s website). 

The calibration of the model as at 31 March 2021 is detailed below.  The following figures have been calculated 

using 5,000 simulations of the ESS, calibrated using market data as at 31 March 2021.  All returns are shown net 

of fees.  Percentiles refer to percentiles of the 5,000 simulations and are the annualised total returns over 5, 10 

and 20 years, except for the yields which refer to the simulated yields for at that time horizon.  Only the overall 

Fund portfolio returns are shown, however similar information for separate asset classes is available on request. 

Page 76



Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

June 2021 009 
 

 

The current calibration of the model indicates that a period of outward yield movement is expected.  For example, 

over the next 20 years our model expects the 17 year maturity annualised real (nominal) interest rate to rise from 

-2.3% (1.3%) to 1.0% (3.2%). 

Assets  

The asset value as at 31 March 2021 has been provided by the Administering Authority.  

The return on assets since the last formal valuation has been 18.8%. 

To derive the level of likelihood associated with certain level of expected future returns, we have used the ESS 

model as described above and the Fund’s current strategic asset allocation: 

 

% allocation  

UK equities 19% 

Overseas equities 40% 

Infrastructure 4% 

Private equity 5% 

Total growth assets 68% 

Index-linked gilts 0% 

Fixed interest gilts 0% 

High yields bonds 17% 

Total protection assets 17% 

Multi-asset Credit 7% 

Property 8% 

Total income assets 15% 

 

Model limitations 

The models used to calculate the results in the paper make some necessary simplifying assumptions. I do not 

consider these simplifications to be material and I am satisfied that they are appropriate for the purposes 

described in this report. 

Cash

Index 

Linked 

Gilts 

(medium)

Fixed 

Interest 

Gilts 

(medium) UK Equity

Overseas 

Equity Property

CorpMedi

um A

Inflation 

(RPI)

17 year 

real yield 

(RPI)

17 year 

yield

16th %'ile -0.3% -3.2% -2.5% -3.9% -3.6% -3.5% -2.8% 2.0% -2.4% 0.8%

50th %'ile 0.4% -0.3% 0.1% 4.3% 4.4% 2.5% 0.1% 3.6% -1.6% 1.9%
84th %'ile 1.2% 2.6% 2.6% 12.3% 12.4% 8.8% 2.8% 5.2% -0.7% 3.1%

16th %'ile 0.1% -2.5% -1.1% -0.9% -1.0% -1.3% -1.0% 1.9% -1.8% 1.0%

50th %'ile 1.1% -0.5% 0.3% 4.8% 5.0% 3.2% 0.6% 3.5% -0.5% 2.4%
84th %'ile 2.3% 1.6% 1.6% 10.7% 10.9% 8.0% 2.1% 5.2% 0.7% 4.1%

16th %'ile 0.6% -2.0% 0.2% 1.4% 1.3% 0.8% 0.5% 1.2% -0.7% 1.3%

50th %'ile 2.0% -0.3% 1.0% 5.8% 5.8% 4.2% 1.6% 2.8% 1.0% 3.2%
84th %'ile 3.6% 1.5% 1.7% 10.4% 10.3% 8.1% 2.5% 4.4% 2.7% 5.7%

Volatility (Disp) 

(1 yr) 0% 7% 7% 17% 17% 14% 8% 1%

2
0

y
e
a
rs

Annualised total returns

5

y
e
a
rs

1
0

y
e
a
rs

Page 77



Gloucestershire County Council Pension Fund  |  Hymans Robertson LLP 

 

June 2021 010 
 

Sensitivity of results 

The results in this report are dependent on a number of factors including the membership details, current financial 

conditions, the outlook for future financial conditions and demographic trends such as longevity.  Changes in each 

of these factors can have a material impact on the results.  I have not sought to quantify the impact of differences 

in the above because of the complex interactions between them.  If further information about the sensitivity of the 

results to different data or assumptions is required, this can be provided on request. 

Funding Risks 

Please see the FSS for details of the funding risks that apply to the future ability of the Fund to pay all members’ 

benefits.  These include, but are not limited to: 

• Market risks – these include investment returns being less than anticipated or liabilities increasing more 

than expected due to changes in market conditions underlying the financial assumptions (e.g. inflation or 

pay increases above that assumed etc.). 

• Demographic risks – these include anything that affects the timing or type of benefits (e.g. members living 

longer than anticipated, fewer members opting into the 50/50 option, etc.). 

• Regulatory risks – the LGPS is a statutory scheme.  There is a risk that central Government legislation 

could significantly change the cost of the scheme in future. 

In particular, the benefit structure of the LGPS is currently under review as a result of the 

consultation on the McCloud and Sargeant judgement, HM Treasury’s and Scheme Advisory 

Board’s cost-sharing valuations as well as the recent outcome of the Goodwin tribunal.  Benefit 

changes as a result of these issues may materially affect the value of benefits earned by members 

both in the past and future.  I have made no direct allowance for these changes and may need to 

review my calculations once the outcomes are known.   

• Administration and Governance risks – failures in administration processes can lead to incorrect actuarial 

calculations.  For example, where membership data is not up to date (e.g. leaver forms not being submitted 

in a timely matter) material inaccuracies in respect of the level of deficit and contributions may occur at 

future valuations.  

• Resource and Environmental risks – i.e. risks relating to potential resource constraints and environmental 

changes, and their impact on Fund employers and investments: such risks exist and may prove to be 

material. Given the lack of relevant quantitative information available specifically relevant to the Fund, I 

have not explicitly incorporated such risks in this advice. The Administering Authority may wish to seek 

direct advice on these risks. 

Page 78



 

Agenda Item 9 

 

Pension Committee 
18 June 2021 

 

Review of the Pension Fund Risk Register 
 

Report of the Head of Pensions 
 
 

The attached Risk Register reflects the risks relating to the Pension Fund and indicates the 
significance of each risk. 

As per previous reports the significance of individual risks is measured by a scoring system 
which multiplies the likelihood of the occurrence with the potential impact of such an 
occurrence. Both “likelihood” and “impact” are scored 1 – 5 and after multiplying both 
numbers together, the higher the product, the higher the risk. 
 

Risk Score Range Risk Category 
1 to 6 Low 
7 to 12 Medium 
13 to 25 High 

 

The attached Risk Register shows each risk, scored before and after controls are in place 
(i.e. the inherent and residual risks). 

The risks are referenced as follows: Financial Risks (F) 
Funding / Demography Risks (F/D) Administration / Regulatory Risks (A/R) Governance Risks 
(G) 

Since the risk register was last considered by the Pension Committee in March 2021, there 
has been no substantial movement in the overall risk levels faced by the Fund. 

I am highlighting a number of the risks below for Committee to acknowledge and comment 
as appropriate, and those that remain at levels previously increased by Committee that 
have yet to reduce back to previous levels. 

Highlighted Risks 

• F1, F2 & F4 
o These risks had previously been increased due to the potential impact of the 

Covid pandemic and the Equity review. They were reduced back to original 
levels last quarter and will continue to be monitored by Committee through 
ongoing reporting. 
 

• F6 
o The risk remains at an elevate level at this time. This risk will be reviewed once 

the inflation and interest rate risk exposure of the Fund has been reviewed, 
as part of the ongoing work plan. 
 

Page 79

Agenda Item 9



 

Agenda Item 9 

 

• A/R 1.1, A/R 1.2 & G5 
o These remain at a medium residual risk as the recruitment plan for the agreed 

team resources is still ongoing. Risk G5 will be reviewed after the training 
needs analysis has been undertaken. 

In addition to the above updated narrative being shown in red on risks F8, F9, A/R4 & G7, 
on the attached updated risk register. 
 
All of the remaining risk ratings within the risk register have been reviewed. It is anticipated 
that risk G8 and F9 will be removed from the risk register in the near future as the transition 
to Brunel has been completed. 
 
Recommendation 

That the Committee note the changes to the risk register.  
 
Contact Officer 
 
Matthew Trebilcock – Head of Pensions (01452 328920) 
 

 

Page 80



 

  Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – June 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
Ref 

 
 
 
 
Risk or Opportunity Description 

 
 
Benefits of taking opportunity 

or consequences if risk occurs 

and related objectives 

 
 
 
 

Owner 

 
Inherent Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

 
 
 
 
Controls 

 
Residual Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

D
ir

ec
ti

o
n

 o
f 

Tr
av

el
 

 
 

Category of 

Risk or 

Opportunity 

 
 

 
Period Comments / Additional 
Actions 

All risks are 

monitored on an 

on-going basis. 

Date of last 

review. 
L/V I/B R L/V I/B R 

 

Version: 1g 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
F1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Fund assets fail to deliver returns in line 

with the anticipated returns underpinning 

valuation of liabilities over the long-term 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The achievement of fully 

funded pension liabilities over 

the long term 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
16 

 

 
Only anticipate long-term return on 

a relatively prudent basis (currently 

4.2% pa for on-going employers per 

the 2019 valuation) to reduce risk of 

under- performing. 

Assets invested on the basis of 

specialist advice, in a suitably 

diversified manner across asset 

classes, geographies, managers, 

etc. 

Analysis of progress at three yearly 

valuations for all employers, with 

strategic asset allocation to be re-

examined by an investment 

specialist in the context of the 

valuation results. 

Inter-valuation roll-forward of 

liabilities between valuations at 

whole Fund level. Actuarial Review 

on a like for like basis has 

confirmed a strong deficit recovery 

plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
8 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
► 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Financial 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Long term forecasting of Strategic 

Asset Allocation ongoing by 

Independent Advisor and reported 

quarterly to Committee 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
9 June 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
F2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Inappropriate long-term investment strategy. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The achievement of fully 

funded pension liabilities over 

the long term 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

16 

 
 
 
Regular monitoring of Fund's cash 

flow with actuarial estimates of 

future cash flow position. 

Overall investment strategy options 

including diversification considered 

as an integral part of the funding 

strategy.  Use of asset liability 

modelling.   Actuarial Review on a 

like for like basis has confirmed a 

strong deficit recovery plan. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
► 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Financial 

 
 
 
 
The new final strategic investment 

allocation and strategy was approved 

by the Pension Committee on 14th 

February 2020. This has been 

followed by an Equity Review in 

January 2021. Implementation of 

the equity strategy will be 

undertaken appropriately. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9 June 2021 

P
age 81



 

  Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – June 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
Ref 

 
 
 
 
Risk or Opportunity Description 

 
 
Benefits of taking opportunity 

or consequences if risk occurs 

and related objectives 

 
 
 
 

Owner 

 
Inherent Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

 
 
 
 
Controls 

 
Residual Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

D
ir

ec
ti

o
n

 o
f 

Tr
av

el
 

 
 

Category of 

Risk or 

Opportunity 

 
 

 
Period Comments / Additional 
Actions 

All risks are 

monitored on an 

on-going basis. 

Date of last 

review. 
L/V I/B R L/V I/B R 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
F3 

 
 

 
 

Fall in risk-free returns on Government 

bonds, leading to rise in value placed on 

liabilities. 

 
 

 
 

The achievement of fully 

funded pension liabilities over 

the long term 

 
 

 
 

Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 

 
12 

 

 

Stabilisation modelling at whole 

Fund level allows for the 

probability of this within a 

longer-term context. 

Inter-valuation monitoring, as 

above. Some investment in bonds 

helps to mitigate this risk.   

Actuarial Review on a like for like 

basis has confirmed a strong deficit 

recovery plan. 

 
 
 

 
2 

 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 

 
6 

 
 
 

 
► 

 
 
 

 
Financial 

 

 

Assumed long term investment 

return set as 4.2% for on-going 

employers under the 2019 

valuation. This long-term 

investment return is one of the 

factors used to determine the 

contributions for all employers 

covering the period 2020/21 to 

2022/23. 

 
 
 

 
9 June 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
F4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Increasing Pension Fund deficit 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The achievement of fully 

funded pension liabilities over 

the long term 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

12 

 
 
 

Actuarial review via Triennial 

Valuation and regular update 

reports. 

Regular consideration by Pension 

Committee on manager 

performance relative to funding 

assumptions, funding position and 

funding strategy.  Actuarial Review 

on a like for like basis has 

confirmed a strong deficit recovery 

plan. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
► 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Financial 

 
 
 
 
 
Assets currently exceed the 

projected liabilities. Future long-

term investment returns still within 

tolerance levels. The funding 

position will continue to be 

monitored on a quarterly basis and 

reported to Committee 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9 June 2021 

 
 

 
F5 

 

 
Active investment manager under-

performance relative to benchmark. 

 

 
Maximising investment returns 

to help the Fund achieve its 

funding target 

 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 

 
4 

 
 

 
3 

 
 

 
12 

Quarterly investment monitoring 

analyses market performance and 

active managers relative to their 

index benchmark. 

Diversification of investments 

across asset classes and across 

different fund managers 

 
 

 
2 

 
 

 
3 

 
 

 
6 

 
 

 
► 

 
 

 
Financial 

Performance in the current 

portfolio's and in the new Brunel 

portfolio's will be monitored against 

agreed performance targets and will 

be reported back to the Committee 

on a quarterly basis. 

 
 

 
9 June 2021 

P
age 82



 

  Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – June 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
Ref 

 
 
 
 
Risk or Opportunity Description 

 
 
Benefits of taking opportunity 

or consequences if risk occurs 

and related objectives 

 
 
 
 

Owner 

 
Inherent Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

 
 
 
 
Controls 

 
Residual Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

D
ir

ec
ti

o
n

 o
f 

Tr
av

el
 

 
 

Category of 

Risk or 

Opportunity 

 
 

 
Period Comments / Additional 
Actions 

All risks are 

monitored on an 

on-going basis. 

Date of last 

review. 
L/V I/B R L/V I/B R 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

F6 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Pay and price inflation significantly more 

than anticipated. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
The achievement of fully 

funded pension liabilities over 

the long term 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 

4 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 

8 

The focus of the actuarial valuation 

process is on real returns on 

assets, net of price and pay 

increases. 

Inter-valuation monitoring, as 

above, gives early warning. 

Some investment in index-linked 

bonds also helps to mitigate this 

risk. 

Employers pay for their own salary 

awards and should be mindful of 

the geared effect on pension 

liabilities of any bias in pensionable 

pay rises towards longer-serving 

employees. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

4 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 

8 

 
 
 
 
 
 

► 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Financial 

There is a greater risk for a more 
inflationary environment as a result 
of the Covid pandemic, as 
Governments and central banks look 
to dealing with the substantial debt 
burden the pandemic has caused. A 
main risk to the pension funds 
liabilities is inflation, due to the 
inherent link to the benefits. 
A review of the inflation and interest 
rate risks on the Fund will be 
undertaken in 2021 with any 
identified mitigations brought back to 
Committee for consideration. Until 
this review has been concluded the 
risk will remain increased.   

 
 
 
 
 
 

9 June 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
F7 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Unexpected increase in employer’s 

contribution rate 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
To stabilise changes in 

employer contribution rates 

over the long term 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
12 

An explicit stabilisation mechanism 

has been agreed for eligible 

employers as part of the funding 

strategy.  Other measures are also in 

place to limit sudden increases in 

contributions. 

Obtain information on financial 

strength of individual employers. 

Discuss with employers their ability 

to absorb rises in their level of 

contribution. 

Where appropriate mitigate 

impact through deficit spreading 

and phasing in of contribution 

rises, with appropriate security 

from employers and further 

analysis by the Fund’s actuary. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
► 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Financial 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Following the 2019 valuation of the 

Fund the contribution rates for the 

vast majority of employers will 

remain at the levels set under the 

2016 valuation or will reduce. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
9 June 2021 

P
age 83



 

  Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – June 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
Ref 

 
 
 
 
Risk or Opportunity Description 

 
 
Benefits of taking opportunity 

or consequences if risk occurs 

and related objectives 

 
 
 
 

Owner 

 
Inherent Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

 
 
 
 
Controls 

 
Residual Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

D
ir

ec
ti

o
n

 o
f 

Tr
av

el
 

 
 

Category of 

Risk or 

Opportunity 

 
 

 
Period Comments / Additional 
Actions 

All risks are 

monitored on an 

on-going basis. 

Date of last 

review. 
L/V I/B R L/V I/B R 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

F8 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
A company, without a guarantor, admitted to 

the Fund as an admission body may become 

financially unviable, leaving a significant 

financial deficit with the Fund. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
To ensure individual employers 

in the Fund are responsible for 

their own costs 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

12 

Under current admission rules, a 

transferee admission body will 

always have a funding guarantee 

from the transferring scheme 

employer. A community admission 

body will only be admitted to the 

Fund if they have a funding 

guarantee from a scheme employer 

with tax raising powers. A surety 

bond to cover the cost of paying 

pensions early if the company goes 

into liquidation is also generally 

required by the scheme employer to 

cover the potential risk of the 

admitted body becoming insolvent 

and the value of this surety or bond 

is reviewed regularly to ensure it 

provides adequate cover for the 

financial risks involved. 

Many years ago, prior to the 

introduction of these rules, some 

employers were admitted to the 

Fund without guarantors. At the 

start of 2019/20 there were seven 

"old" employers within the Fund 

without a guarantor. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

► 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Financial 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Four Admitted Bodies without 

guarantors now remain within the 

Fund. As part of the 2019 valuation 

the contribution rates for these 

employers were calculated based on a 

lower GILTS based investment return, 

which results in higher contributions. 

This partially addresses this risk for 

these four remaining admitted 

bodies without a guarantor. Further 

engagement and review of the 

current position will be undertaken 

with these Employers through 2021 

ahead of the valuation. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9 June 2021 

 
 

 
F9 

 
 
 
Financial loss experienced during the 

transitioning of Assets to the new Brunel 

Portfolio's 

 
 
 
Maximising investment returns 

to help the Fund achieve its 

funding target 

 
 
 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 

 
3 

 
 

 
5 

 
 

 
15 

Detailed reconciliation of assets 

transferred undertaken by the 

Finance and Investments Manager. 

Detailed report from transition 

experts commissioned by the Brunel 

will be produced following each 

transition to provide assurance to 

clients. 

 
 

 
2 

 
 

 
4 

 
 

 
8 

 
 

 
► 

 
 

 
Financial 

Formal reporting and analysis by 

third party consultants is undertaken 

to ensure the transitions are 

completed in an appropriate manner. 

These outputs are reviewed by 

Officers and assured back to the 

Oversight Board. The final transitions 

are scheduled for completion by Q2 

2021. 

 
 

 
9 June 2021 

P
age 84



 

  Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – June 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
Ref 

 
 
 
 
Risk or Opportunity Description 

 
 
Benefits of taking opportunity 

or consequences if risk occurs 

and related objectives 

 
 
 
 

Owner 

 
Inherent Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

 
 
 
 
Controls 

 
Residual Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

D
ir

ec
ti

o
n

 o
f 

Tr
av

el
 

 
 

Category of 

Risk or 

Opportunity 

 
 

 
Period Comments / Additional 
Actions 

All risks are 

monitored on an 

on-going basis. 

Date of last 

review. 
L/V I/B R L/V I/B R 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

F/D1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Pensioners living longer, thus increasing 

cost to Fund. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The achievement of fully 

funded pension liabilities over 

the long term 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10 

 

 
Set mortality assumptions with 

some allowance for future 

increases in life expectancy. 

The Fund Actuary has direct access 

to the experience of over 50 LGPS 

funds which allows early 

identification of changes in life 

expectancy that might in turn 

affect the assumptions 

underpinning the valuation. 

The Fund also sets life expectancy 

assumptions using ClubVita, which 

is a specialised longevity company 

and provides life expectancy 

assumptions based on the profile 

of the Fund’s own membership. 

Administering Authority encourage 

any employers concerned at costs 

to promote later retirement culture.  

Each 1 year rise in the average age 

at retirement would save roughly 

5% of pension costs. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

► 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Financial 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
This has been addressed under the 

2019 valuation of the Fund with 

specific Gloucestershire related data 

being supplied by Club Vita analysis, 

hence longevity movements have 

been specifically considered under 

the 2019 valuation. The impact of the 

Covid pandemic will continue to be 

monitored as part of the Club Vita 

analysis, but the impact of this may 

only be realized over the longer-term 

analysis.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9 June 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

F/D2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Maturing Fund – i.e. proportion of actively 

contributing employees declines relative to 

retired employees leading to the possibility 

of there not being sufficient liquid funds 

available to pay liabilities as they fall due. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Efficient management of the Fund 

by the Administering Authority, 

ensuring its responsibilities are 

met, while costs are minimized 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

12 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Continue to monitor at each 

valuation, seeking monetary 

amounts rather than % of pay. 

Between valuations regularly 

monitor level of active members on 

both a total Fund basis and by 

individual employer. Regularly 

monitor how cash flow positive the 

Fund is. Regularly review investment 

strategy. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

► 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Financial 

 

 
The Fund commissioned Hymans 

Robertson to undertake cash flow 

modelling based on the following 

three scenarios: 

Scenario 1 – cash flows projections 

based on 2016 valuation membership 

data, Scenario 2 – cash flows 

projections based on 2016 valuation 

membership data, with a 20% 

reduction in actives, Scenario 3 - with 

a 40% reduction in active members. 

This modelling indicated that the 

fund will remain cash flow positive 

until 2033 under scenario1, to 2026 

under scenario 2 and would 

immediately become cash flow 

negative under scenario 3. Given that 

active membership in the 

Gloucestershire scheme is still 

increasing slightly it is felt that 

scenario 1 is the most likely outcome 

for the fund. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9 June 2021 

P
age 85



 

  Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – June 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
Ref 

 
 
 
 
Risk or Opportunity Description 

 
 
Benefits of taking opportunity 

or consequences if risk occurs 

and related objectives 

 
 
 
 

Owner 

 
Inherent Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

 
 
 
 
Controls 

 
Residual Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

D
ir

ec
ti

o
n

 o
f 

Tr
av

el
 

 
 

Category of 

Risk or 

Opportunity 

 
 

 
Period Comments / Additional 
Actions 

All risks are 

monitored on an 

on-going basis. 

Date of last 

review. 
L/V I/B R L/V I/B R 

 

 

 

 

F/D3 

 

Deteriorating patterns of early retirements 

To ensure individual employers 

in the Fund are responsible for 

their own costs 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 

4 

 

3 

 

12 

Employers are charged the extra 

cost of non-ill-health retirements 

following each individual decision. 

 

2 

 

3 

 

6 

 

► 

 

Financial 

  

9 June 2021 

 

F/D4 

 
Reductions in payroll causing insufficient 

deficit recovery payments 

To ensure individual employers 

in the Fund are responsible for 

their own costs 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 

4 

 

3 

 

12 

Require employers to pay sums 

due for deficit recovery 

contributions as a fixed monetary 

amount rather than being 

expressed as a % of pay. 

 

2 

 

3 

 

6 

 

► 

 

Financial 

  

9 June 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
F/D5 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Ill-health retirements significantly 

more than anticipated 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
To ensure individual employers 

in the Fund are responsible for 

their own costs 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
12 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Monitoring of each employer’s ill-

health experience on an ongoing 

basis. The employer may be 

charged additional contributions if 

this exceeds the ill-health 

assumption built in. Ill health 

insurance is available to be 

purchased by individual employers 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
► 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Financial 

 

 
A new ill health liability insurance 

procedure was introduced from 1 

April 2020 under which all Town and 

Parish Council's, Academy Schools 

and Admitted Bodies without 

guarantors, as the highest risk 

employers within the fund in relation 

to this issue are included within an 

overall external insurance policy 

arranged by the Fund, funded within 

the contributions set under the 2019 

valuation. All other employers will be 

included within the cover of a central 

policy unless they formally opt out of 

cover, under the procedures agreed 

by the Pension Committee in 

September 2019. Full details of the 

new arrangements were sent to all 

employers with the details of the 

outcome of the 2019 valuation and 

the contributions set for the period 

2020/21 to 2022/23. Only three 

employers have opted out of the new 

insurance arrangements. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
9 June 2021 

P
age 86



 

  Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – June 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
Ref 

 
 
 
 
Risk or Opportunity Description 

 
 
Benefits of taking opportunity 

or consequences if risk occurs 

and related objectives 

 
 
 
 

Owner 

 
Inherent Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

 
 
 
 
Controls 

 
Residual Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

D
ir

ec
ti

o
n

 o
f 

Tr
av

el
 

 
 

Category of 

Risk or 

Opportunity 

 
 

 
Period Comments / Additional 
Actions 

All risks are 

monitored on an 

on-going basis. 

Date of last 

review. 
L/V I/B R L/V I/B R 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
F/D6 

 
 
 
 

Adverse effect on the Fund’s investment 

strategy and employer contributions if 

large numbers of active members are 

outsourced on a “closed” (to new 

entrants) basis 

 
 
 
 
 

The achievement of fully 

funded pension liabilities over 

the long term 

 
 
 
 
 

Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 
 

 
9 

 
Take advice from the Fund actuary 

on the likely impact this will have on 

Fund investment out performance 

assumptions and employer 

contributions. Monitor levels of 

outsourcings on a “closed” basis and 

advise employers of implications so 

these are considered when they 

review the business case for an 

outsourcing. 

Regularly review investment 

strategy and strategic asset 

allocation. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
2 

 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 
 

 
6 

 
 
 
 
 

 
► 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Financial 

 

 
No significant impact to date, but the 

risk continues to be monitored on a 

regular basis. The comPASS 

modelling of contributions payable 

by GCC, the Police and District 

Council's has taken account of this, 

especially the Publica outsourcing 

and hence this was considered when 

the employer contributions were set 

for the years 2020/21 to 2022/23. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
9 June 2021 

 
 
 
 

 
F/D7 

 
 
 

 

Transfers out of the Fund into DC schemes 

due to introduction of "Freedom & Choice" 

resulting in a change in funding level 

 
 
 
 

The achievement of fully 

funded pension liabilities over 

the long term 

 
 
 
 

Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 

 
9 

 
Taken advice from the Fund actuary 

on the proportion of the Fund's 

active and deferred members aged 

55 or over and the maximum 

exposure of the Fund to these 

transfers, split between active and 

deferred members. Considered 

impact on funding level given 

different possible levels of take up 

from active and deferred members. 

 
 
 
 

 
2 

 
 
 
 

 
2 

 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 

 
► 

 
 
 
 

 
Financial 

 

 
The comPASS modelling of 

contributions payable by GCC, the 

Police and District Council's has 

taken account of this, especially the 

Publica outsourcing and hence this 

was considered when the employer 

contributions were set for the years 

2020/21 to 2022/23. 

 
 
 
 

 
9 June 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
A/R1.1 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Significant additional costs resulting from 

changes to national pension requirements 

and/or HMRC rules e.g. changes arising 

from public sector pensions reform, and/or 

more complex regulations requiring 

increased administration resources. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Efficient management of the Fund 

by the Administering Authority, 

ensuring its responsibilities are 

met, while costs are minimized 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
9 

 
 
 
The Administering Authority 

considers all consultation papers 

issued by the Government and 

comments where appropriate. 

Considered different % take up 

scenarios for active and deferred 

members 

The results of the most recent 

reforms have been built into the 

valuation. Any changes to member 

contribution rates or benefit levels 

will be carefully communicated with 

members to minimise possible opt-

outs or adverse actions. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
9 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
► 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Legislative 

& 

Regulatory 

 

The Pensions Committee have 

agreed increased resources for the 

Pensions Team in January 2021.  

The residual risk will remain raised 

from 6 to 9, until progress in the 

recruitment of the agreed resources 

has been achieved, at which time it 

is anticipated that the residual risk 

will be reduced back to the previous 

level.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
9 June 2021 

P
age 87



 

  Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – June 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
Ref 

 
 
 
 
Risk or Opportunity Description 

 
 
Benefits of taking opportunity 

or consequences if risk occurs 

and related objectives 

 
 
 
 

Owner 

 
Inherent Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

 
 
 
 
Controls 

 
Residual Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

D
ir

ec
ti

o
n

 o
f 

Tr
av

el
 

 
 

Category of 

Risk or 

Opportunity 

 
 

 
Period Comments / Additional 
Actions 

All risks are 

monitored on an 

on-going basis. 

Date of last 

review. 
L/V I/B R L/V I/B R 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
A/R 
1.2 

 

Under resourcing of Pension Administration 

staff resulting in a deterioration of 

performance against key performance 

indicators and/or intervention from the 

Pensions Regulator. 

 

Experience indicates that 

intervention by the Pensions 

Regulator has major implications 

in terms of increased workload 

and/or adverse financial 

implications. 

 
 

Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 

 
4 

 
 

 
4 

 
 

 
16 

 

This risk is regularly monitored 

and, as detailed in risk A/R 1.1 

actions have already been taken to 

increase the level of Pensions 

Officers in order to improve 

performance against key 

performance indicators. 

 
 

 
3 

 
 

 
3 

 
 

 
9 

 
 

 
► 

Legislative 

& 

Regulatory 

The Pensions Committee have 

agreed increased resources for the 

Pensions Team in January 2021.  

The residual risk will remain raised 

from 6 to 9, until progress in the 

recruitment of the agreed resources 

has been achieved, at which time it 

is anticipated that the residual risk 

will be reduced back to the previous 

level. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
9 June 2021 

 
 
 

 
A/R2 

 
 

 
Failure to collect and account for 

contributions from employers and 

employees on time 

 

 
Efficient management of the Fund 

by the Administering Authority, 

ensuring its responsibilities are 

met, while costs are minimised 

 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 

 
12 

 

Regular monthly monitoring and 

reconciliation of Fund contributions 

received, including a detailed 

analysis of individual employer 

contributions and employee 

contributions by pay banding. 

Robust debt management 

processes are in place to recover 

any late payments 

 
 
 

 
2 

 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 

 
6 

 
 
 

 
► 

 

 
 

 

Legislative 

& 

Regulatory 

  
 
 

 
9 June 2021 

 
 
 
 
 

A/R3 

 
 
 
 
 

Loss of funds through fraud or 
misappropriation 

 
 
 

 
Efficient management of the Fund 

by the Administering Authority, 

ensuring its responsibilities are 

met, while costs are minimised 

 
 
 
 
 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 

4 

 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 

12 

 
Procedures and processes are in 

place and applied in relation to eg: 

checking for "ghost" scheme 

members; multiple levels of 

authorisation for claims and fund 

payments plus secondary checking 

of lump sum payments. Procedures 

are documented and staff are 

trained and managed in carrying 

these out. The Fund's internal 

auditors carry out regular reviews. 

 
 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 

6 

 
 
 
 
 

► 

 
 
 
 
 

Fraud 

 
 
 

The funds internal auditors regularly 

review the adequacy of controls 

within the Pensions Section. These 

reviews make use of experienced 

Counter Fraud staff who are 

available to the internal auditors. 

 
 
 
 
 

9 June 2021 

 
 
 

 
A/R4 

 
 
Does the fund have sufficient resources to 

provide sufficient input to the development 

of the Brunel Pension Partnership in the 

context of the importance of ensuring that 

the partnership operates in an efficient and 

effective manner. 

 
To ensure the fund is proactive in 

the development of the proposals 

and the robust control 

environment required for the 

collective management of assets, 

to avoid a detrimental impact on 

the fund. 

 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 

 
16 

 
Additional staffing resources may 

be required to facilitate 

dedicated staffing resources to 

take forward the pooling 

proposal. This may require 

additional contributions from 

participating funds. 

 
 
 

 
2 

 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 

 
6 

 
 
 

 
► 

 
 

 
Legislative 

& 

Regulatory 

 
Officer resources are focused on the 

important client-side roles, including 

looking at the adequacy of control 

systems. The future recruitment of 

the Pension Investment & 

Accounting Manager post will 

provide further resilience to this. 

 
 
 

 
9 June 2021 

P
age 88



 

  Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – June 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
Ref 

 
 
 
 
Risk or Opportunity Description 

 
 
Benefits of taking opportunity 

or consequences if risk occurs 

and related objectives 

 
 
 
 

Owner 

 
Inherent Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

 
 
 
 
Controls 

 
Residual Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

D
ir

ec
ti

o
n

 o
f 

Tr
av

el
 

 
 

Category of 

Risk or 

Opportunity 

 
 

 
Period Comments / Additional 
Actions 

All risks are 

monitored on an 

on-going basis. 

Date of last 

review. 
L/V I/B R L/V I/B R 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
A/R5 

 

Failure to undertake a full reconciliation of 

Guaranteed Minimum Pensions records held 

on the Gloucestershire LGPS Altair system 

with those held by HMRC could result in 

additional financial costs to the 

Gloucestershire Fund. 

 
 
 
 
Additional financial costs to the 
Fund 

 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 

5 

 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 

15 

 
A detailed reconciliation procedure 

has commenced and a large 

number of discrepancies have been 

identified where the 

Gloucestershire Pension Fund is not 

liable for GMP payments held on 

HMRC records. 

 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 

6 

 
 
 
 
► 

 
 
 
 
Service 
Continuity 

 

 
Detailed reconciliation process 

completed and results returned to 

HMRC which has resulted in a 

significant reduction in potential 

abilities. 

 
 
 
 

9 June 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
A/R6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

COVID-19 Pandemic having a detrimental 

impact to the Pension Fund service provided 

to members and/or to the collections of 

pension fund contributions and 

investments. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Without appropriate actions 

being taken new retirees would 

not receive their pensions, 

contributions would not be 

received and new investments 

would not be actioned 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
16 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Due to remote access the majority of 

the finance and investment team 

staff can all work effectively from 

home with a minimal negative 

impact on the service. With regard 

to administration team, due to the 

paper-based nature of the service, 

effective working from home is not 

possible for all staff, and hence 

some office working would be 

needed to continue to provide an 

adequate service to members. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
9 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
► 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Service 
Continuity 

 
Due to the fact that the majority of 

the Finance offices have been empty 

since the pandemic, the Pensions 

Administration team have taken over 

other offices and introduced a social 

distancing mode of working. The 

team has been split into two, with 

each sub team working in the office 

every other week. This, supported 

by home working, where possible, 

has ensured that the key services 

have continued to be provided 

effectively, especially the calculation 

and payment of new pensions, 

payment of death grants and the 

issuing of Annual Benefit Statements 

to all members by the statutory 

deadline. The finance and 

investment team have worked 

effectively at home to deliver the full 

service and have met its statutory 

deadlines. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
9 June 2021 

 
 
 

 
G1 

 

Administering Authority unaware of 

structural changes in an employer’s 

membership (e.g. large fall in employee 

members, large number of retirements) or 

not advised of an employer closing to new 

entrants 

 
 

 
The achievement of fully 

funded pension liabilities over 

the long term 

 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 

 
12 

 
The Administering Authority has a 

close relationship with employing 

bodies and communicates required 

standards e.g. for submission of 

data. 

The Actuary may revise the rates 

and Adjustments certificate to 

increase an employer’s 

contributions (under Regulation 

38) between triennial 
valuations 

 
 
 

 
2 

 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 

 
6 

 
 
 

 
► 

 
 
 

 
Governance 

  
 
 

 
9 June 2021 

P
age 89



 

  Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – June 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
Ref 

 
 
 
 
Risk or Opportunity Description 

 
 
Benefits of taking opportunity 

or consequences if risk occurs 

and related objectives 

 
 
 
 

Owner 

 
Inherent Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

 
 
 
 
Controls 

 
Residual Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

D
ir

ec
ti

o
n

 o
f 

Tr
av

el
 

 
 

Category of 

Risk or 

Opportunity 

 
 

 
Period Comments / Additional 
Actions 

All risks are 

monitored on an 

on-going basis. 

Date of last 

review. 
L/V I/B R L/V I/B R 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
G2 

 
 
 

 

Actuarial or investment advice is not 

sought, or is not heeded, or proves to be 

insufficient in some way 

 
 

 
Efficient management of the Fund 

by the Administering Authority, 

ensuring its responsibilities are 

met, while costs are minimised 

 
 
 
 

Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 

 
12 

 

The Administering Authority 

maintains close contact with its 

specialist advisers. Advice is 

delivered via formal meetings 

involving Elected Members, and 

recorded appropriately. 

Actuarial advice is subject to 

professional requirements such as 

peer review 

 
 
 
 

 
2 

 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 

 
6 

 
 
 
 

 
► 

 
 
 
 

 
Governance 

  
 
 
 

 
9 June 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
G3 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Administering Authority failing to 

commission the Fund Actuary to carry out 

a termination valuation for a departing 

Admission Body. 

 
 
 
 
 

Efficient management of the Fund 

by the Administering Authority, 

ensuring its responsibilities are 

met, while costs are minimised 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

12 

 
The Administering Authority 

requires employers with Best Value 

contractors to inform it of 

forthcoming changes. The 

administering authority also 

monitors contract periods of 

Admission Bodies and regularly 

monitors levels of active employees 

across all employers. Where their 

active membership materially 

decreases further steps are taken. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
► 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Governance 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

9 June 2021 

 

G4 

 
Failure to comply with the Myners’ 

Investment Principles 

Efficient management of the Fund 

by the Administering Authority, 

ensuring its responsibilities are 

met, while costs are minimised 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 

4 

 

3 

 

12 

Compliance as detailed in the 

Investment Strategy Statement 

and Governance Statements are 

kept under regular review. 

 

2 

 

3 

 

6 

 

► 

 

Governance 

  

9 June 2021 

P
age 90



 

  Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – June 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
Ref 

 
 
 
 
Risk or Opportunity Description 

 
 
Benefits of taking opportunity 

or consequences if risk occurs 

and related objectives 

 
 
 
 

Owner 

 
Inherent Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

 
 
 
 
Controls 

 
Residual Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

D
ir

ec
ti

o
n

 o
f 

Tr
av

el
 

 
 

Category of 

Risk or 

Opportunity 

 
 

 
Period Comments / Additional 
Actions 

All risks are 

monitored on an 

on-going basis. 

Date of last 

review. 
L/V I/B R L/V I/B R 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
G5 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Lack of relevant expertise, knowledge, skills 

and resources at officer and member level 

in relation to administering the LGPS 

 
 
 
 
 

Efficient management of the Fund 

by the Administering Authority, 

ensuring its responsibilities are 

met, while costs are minimised 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
16 

 

Training needs assessments for the 

Administering Authority are carried 

out and an annual training plan 

produced. The Fund subscribes to 

the CIPFA Knowledge and Skills 

Framework for the LGPS and makes 

this information available to all 

members of the Pension Committee 

and relevant officers. Appropriately 

qualified external advisers and 

consultants are used as appropriate. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
12 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
► 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Governance 

The Pensions Committee have 

agreed increased resources for the 

Pensions Team in January 2021.  

The residual risk will remain raised, 

until progress in the recruitment of 

the agreed resources has been 

achieved, at which time it is 

anticipated that the residual risk will 

be reduced back to the previous 

level. With the adoption of the 

proposed Training Strategy this will 

provide a framework for compliance 

with the required Knowledge and 

Skills requirements for both officers 

and members. The training needs 

assessment will ensure a robust and 

appropriate training plan is 

delivered. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9 June 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
G6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Failure to internally hold personal data 

securely and keep pension records up-to-

date and accurate 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Efficient management of the Fund 

by the Administering Authority, 

ensuring it's responsibilities are 

met, while costs are minimised 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
16 

 

Personal data and scanned 

documents relating to scheme 

members are maintained in an 

online system with logical access 

controls via individual password 

access for those that need to 

maintain and access this 

information. Procedures for 

maintaining pension records are 

documented and the process is 

monitored and managed within the 

Pensions Administration team. 

Procedures are regularly reviewed 

by the Fund's internal auditors. 

Physical access controls are also in 

operation within the Pension Fund 

office. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
► 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Governance 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
9 June 2021 

P
age 91



 

  Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – June 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
Ref 

 
 
 
 
Risk or Opportunity Description 

 
 
Benefits of taking opportunity 

or consequences if risk occurs 

and related objectives 

 
 
 
 

Owner 

 
Inherent Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

 
 
 
 
Controls 

 
Residual Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

D
ir

ec
ti

o
n

 o
f 

Tr
av

el
 

 
 

Category of 

Risk or 

Opportunity 

 
 

 
Period Comments / Additional 
Actions 

All risks are 

monitored on an 

on-going basis. 

Date of last 

review. 
L/V I/B R L/V I/B R 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
G7 

 
 
 

 

Loss of experience on the Pension Fund 

Committee or Pension Board, and/or the 

lack of adequate training, resulting in a 

negative impact on governance 

arrangements within the Gloucestershire 

LGPS. 

 
 
 
 

Efficient management of the Fund 

by the Administering Authority, 

ensuring its responsibilities are 

met, while costs are minimised 

 
 
 
 
 

Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 

 
12 

 
 
 

 

Training is provided on an on-going 

basis to Committee and Board 

Members both at formal meetings 

of the Committee/Board and at 

internal and external training 

sessions. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
1 

 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 
 

 
► 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Governance 

 

The Pension Board was established in 

2015 with members appointed for a 

period of 4 years, which can be 

extended by 4 years with the 

agreement of the member of the 

Board. Three members who have 

served for 4 years have confirmed 

that they are wish to remain on the 

Board. A further 2 members have 

been appointed in 2020 to the Local 

Pensions Board, bringing the 

membership to 6 (3 member and 3 

Employer representatives). 

Council elections in May 2021 have 

resulted in 4 new members of the 

Committee and 3 returning members. 

The district representative and the 

scheme member representative have 

also remained on Committee. An 

induction session has been held and a 

training needs assessment launched. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
9 June 2021 

 
 
 
 

 
G8 

 

Transition from the current custodian to 

State Street Bank under the Brunel Pension 

Partnership resulting in failings during the 

transition and/or inadequate performance 

reports post transition and/or negative 

impacts on the final accounts of the Pension 

Fund due to failings in the accounting 

reports received from State Street Bank 

 
 

 

Efficient management of the Fund 

by the Administering Authority, 

ensuring its responsibilities are 

met, while costs are minimised 

 
 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 

 
4 

 
 
 
 

 
12 

 
 

 
Detailed control procedures 

implemented during the transition 

with support from a transition 

manager working for the Brunel 

Pension Partnership 

 
 
 
 

 
1 

 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 

 
3 

 
 
 
 

 
► 

 
 
 
 

 
Governance 

 
 

No major problems were 

encountered during the transitions 

undertaken to date and assets 

transferred were reconciled back to 

the detailed records held by each 

manager. 

 
 
 
 

 
9 June 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
G9 

 
 
Failure to comply with the General Data 

Protection Regulation resulting in breaches 

which have to be reported to the Pension 

Regulator and the Information 

Commissioners Office resulting in 

complaints from scheme members and/or 

significant financial fines. 

 
 

 
Efficient management of the Fund 

by the Administering Authority, 

ensuring its responsibilities are 

met, while costs are minimised 

 
 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 

5 

 
 
 
 
 

4 

 
 
 
 
 

20 

 
 
Detailed guidance and support was 

obtained from the GCC Information 

Management Team which resulted 

in additional guidance being 

provided on the Pension Fund 

website to meet the requirements 

of GDPR. 

 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 

4 

 
 
 
 
 

12 

 
 
 
 
 
► 

 
 
 
 
 
Governance 

 
Detailed guidance and support was 

obtained from the GCC Information 

Management Team which resulted 

in additional guidance being 

provided on the Pension Fund 

website to meet the requirements 

of GDPR. A recent internal audit has 

confirmed that there are 

satisfactory arrangements in this 

area. 

 
 
 
 
 

9 June 2021 

P
age 92



 

  Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – June 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
Ref 

 
 
 
 
Risk or Opportunity Description 

 
 
Benefits of taking opportunity 

or consequences if risk occurs 

and related objectives 

 
 
 
 

Owner 

 
Inherent Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

 
 
 
 
Controls 

 
Residual Risk 

or 

Opportunity 

D
ir

ec
ti

o
n

 o
f 

Tr
av

el
 

 
 

Category of 

Risk or 

Opportunity 

 
 

 
Period Comments / Additional 
Actions 

All risks are 

monitored on an 

on-going basis. 

Date of last 

review. 
L/V I/B R L/V I/B R 

 

 

 

  
 

 
G10 

 

Failure to protect the Pension Fund's key 

information and data as a result of 

exploited technological vulnerabilities 

facilitated through malicious attack, 

primarily from external sources. 

 

Efficient management of the Fund 

by the Administering Authority, 

ensuring its responsibilities are 

met, while costs are minimised 

 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 

 
5 

 
 

 
4 

 
 

 
20 

Anti-malware and internet security 

software. Patch management 

policies and procedures. Compliance 

with PSN. Internal and External ICT 

security testing. Managing user 

privileges. 

 
 

 
3 

 
 

 
3 

 
 

 
9 

 
 

 
► 

 
 

 
Governance 

  
 

 
9 June 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
G11 

 
 
 
 

Failing to adequately take account of, and 

monitor and report on, Environmental, 

Social and Governance ("ESG") factors, 

including Climate Change, in relation to 

the investment of the Funds’ assets, 

resulting in negative ESG implications 

and/or financial loss. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
In the longer-term investments 

with positive ESG impacts may 

well lead to improved financial 

returns. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Head of 

Pension Fund 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

12 

 
As a member of the Brunel Pension 

Partnership the Fund will benefit 

from the fact that ESG factors, 

including Climate Change, are 

integral to all of the investment 

decisions made by the BPP on 

behalf of Client Funds. Such factors 

will be considered for all 

investment manager appointments 

made by the BPP, and a robust on-

going monitoring and reporting 

system of ESG and Climate Change 

factors will ensure that the Pension 

Committee receives on- going 

assurance in this area. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

6 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
► 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Governance 

 
 

In January 2020 the Brunel Pension 

Partnership launched their detailed 

Climate Change policy. The 

Gloucestershire Pensions Committee 

received a copy of this policy at its 

May meeting, together with a 

detailed presentation from Faith 

Ward, the Chief Responsible 

Investment Officer at the Brunel, and 

a recommendation that the 

Gloucestershire Fund formally 

adopts the BPP Climate Change 

policy. 

 
 

 
9 June 2021 

P
age 93



 

  Gloucestershire Pension Fund - Risk Register – June 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
Ref 

 
 
 
 
Risk or Opportunity Description 

 
 
Benefits of taking opportunity 
or consequences if risk occurs 
and related objectives 

 
 
 
 

Owner 

 
Inherent Risk 
or 
Opportunity 

 
 
 
 
Controls 

 
Residual Risk 
or 
Opportunity 

D
ire

ct
io

n 
of

 
Tr

av
el

 

 
 
Category of 
Risk or 
Opportunity 

 
 
 
Period Comments / Additional 
Actions 

All risks are 
monitored on an 
on-going basis. 

Date of last 
review. L/V I/B R L/V I/B R 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 94



 

Agenda Item 10 

 

Pension Committee 
18 June 2021 

 

Governance Review 
Report of the Head of Pensions 

 

Summary 
 

At the previous meeting on 9 March 2021, the Pensions Committee supporting a 
recommendation to request Aon to undertake a review of the Governance arrangements 
of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund.   The approach was to compare the Fund and 
Administering Authority's practices against the Aon governance framework. 

 

The approach taken has been to compare the Administering Authority’s current practices 
(at a high level) against the Aon governance framework. 

 

The framework considers the following key areas:  

•   Direction – What is the Fund trying to achieve? 
o Legislation 
o Strategies and Policies  

 

• Delivery – How does the Fund meet its aims? 
o Business Planning 
o Performance Monitoring 
o Risk Management  

 

• Decisions – Does the Fund have effective decision making? 
o Governance Structure 
o Behaviour 
o Pensions Skills and Knowledge 

 

The approach carried out has enabled Aon to: 

• Examine the existing governance framework and identify the main risks 
associated with the governance of the Fund 

• Identify whether the Administering Authority has evolved to meet recent 
changes in legislation relating to governance matters 

• Provide recommended actions to improve the governance of the Fund.  

• Assess how the Fund has evolved its governance framework to align with the 
new requirements as a result of pooling and the Fund's participation in the 
Brunel Pool. 

• Comment on whether the Administering Authority have assessed their ability to 
meet the requirements of the Pension Regulator's Code of Practice. 

 

 

Page 95

Agenda Item 10



 

Agenda Item 10 

 

The review undertaken by Aon involved three key elements which are carried out 
concurrently.  

 

• Element 1 – Desktop review ✓ 
o The first stage of the governance review was to carry out a desktop review.  

• Element 2 – Pension Committee and Pension Board observation ✓ 
o The meetings of both the Committee and Board in July were observed 

• Element 3 – Effectiveness questionnaire ✓ 
o an effectiveness questionnaire will be given to all the existing Pensions 

Committee and Board members and officers (and independent advisers) 
involved with the Fund. 

 

The governance review is intended to assist the Fund in ensuring it is meeting ever 
evolving governance standards and is well placed to adopt the outcomes from the good 
governance review being undertaken by the Scheme Advisory Board. 

 

The final report from Aon is attached as Appendix 1 to this report and representatives 
from Aon are in attendance to present their findings. 

 

Conclusions 
 

The overall conclusion is that the governance of the Fund is of a good standard in many 
areas, meets legal requirements in the matters that have been considered, and in a 
number of areas the Administering Authority is demonstrating best practice. Aon note that 
significant improvements in relation to the governance of the Fund appear to have been 
made recently. 

 

The report also contains commentary and recommendations on areas that require 
improvement to meet legal requirements or practices, or could be improved to meet good 
practice. These areas are highlighted throughout the report utilizing a RAG rating. 

 

Subject to any comments from the Committee, it is recommended that Officers continue 
to work with Aon to draft proposals to implement the report’s recommendations and 
present them back to Committee in September. 

 

There is one recommendation which is more appropriate to seek feedback from 
Committee on at this meeting. This relates to the future constitution of this Committee. 
Consideration of this recommendation today will allow for any changes to be implemented 
in a timely manner and earlier in the new training plan cycle, which would be beneficial to 
all parties. 

 

The Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) Good Governance review has recommended that all 
Funds be required to produce and publish a policy on the representation of scheme 
members and non-administering authorities on Committees, explaining their approach to 
voting rights for each party. 

 

Page 96



 

Agenda Item 10 

 

The recommendations from Aon reflect this guidance and the significant changes to Fund 
membership since the current Committee constitution was agreed. Historically the vast 
majority of the scheme members were employed by the County Council. The latest figures 
for active members indicate that the County Council still remains the largest employer 
with around 50% of active members, but the academy sector now also makes up around 
30% of the active membership and represent approximately 50% of the 200 employers 
participating in the Fund. 

 

Any proposals to widen scheme employer or employee representation on the Committee 
to better reflect the membership needs to be considered alongside the legal context for 
the Committee. The County Council is recognized within the legislation as the 
Administering Authority for the Gloucestershire Pension Fund and is ultimately responsible 
for the management and performance of the Fund. As the Committee is established under 
local government regulations, membership must reflect the political make up of the 
County Council as a whole, with any majority party on the County Council holding the 
majority of voting seats on the Committee. It is a result of this point that the last 
amendment was made to the size of the Committee to increase membership from 6 to 7 
County Councillors. 

 

Although Aon recognize there is no single correct structure, they have included a number 
of proposals for the future constitution of the Committee to guide the discussion. The 
main proposal reflects an increase from 1 to 2 in employer representation, proposes 
consideration of increasing scheme member representation from 1 to 2. The proposals 
also consider the right to vote, considering that the majority of decisions made previously 
by Committee have not required a formal vote and have been developed through 
consensus based on the best interests of the Funds key stakeholders. 

 

Any recommendations made by the Pensions Committee would need to be taken to the 
County Councils Constitution Committee for consideration and approval. Officers will also 
confirm ahead of the discussion at Committee any constitution implications or 
considerations that would be considered based on the constitutional requirements of the 
new Council.  

   

Recommendations 

The Committee is recommended to  

1. Provide any feedback on the findings of the report from Aon 
2. Request the Head of Pensions in consultation with Aon to provide draft proposals to 

implement the report’s recommendations and present them back to Committee in 
September 2021, subject to any feedback received in 1) above 

3. Provide a recommendation to the Constitution Committee for consideration to the 
future constitution of the Pensions Committee in light of the recommendations of 
the Aon governance review. 

 

Contact Officer 
Matthew Trebilcock – Head of Pensions (01452 328920) 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



  

  

 

Governance Review 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund 

 

 
 

  
 

Prepared for: Gloucestershire County Council 
Prepared by: Daniel Kanaris, Karen McWilliam and Scott Campbell 

Date: 9 June 2021 
 

 

 

  
   

 
 

Page 99



Governance Review | At a glance… 
 
 

   
2  Aon 
 

At a glance… 

The purpose of this review is to consider whether 
Gloucestershire County Council, the Administering Authority 
for the Fund, is meeting good practice in relation to the 
governance of the Fund and also recommend any potential 
areas for improvement. 

The approach taken has been to compare the Administering Authority's 
current practices (at a high level) against the Aon governance framework. 
The framework considers the following key areas: 

Direction – What is the Fund trying to achieve? 
▪ Legislation 

▪ Strategies and Policies 

Delivery – How does the Fund meet its aims? 
▪ Business Planning 

▪ Performance Monitoring 

▪ Risk Management 

Decisions – Does the Fund have effective decision making? 
▪ Governance Structure 

▪ Behaviour 

▪ Pensions Skills and Knowledge 

Conclusions and Recommendations  

Our overall conclusion is that the governance of the Fund is of a good 
standard in many areas, meets legal requirements in the matters we have 
considered, and in a number of areas the Administering Authority is 
demonstrating best practice. We note that significant improvements in 
relation to the governance of the Fund appear to have been made over the 
past year or so with a number of policies being put in place over this period, 
including a Training Strategy and Risk Register, along with enhancements 
to the reports provided to the Pension Committee and the Fund's Business 
plan.  

We note that the Fund: 

▪ has an administration strategy in place, which is an optional strategy but 
is key to the delivery of services to the Fund's stakeholders. 

▪ has good quality performance monitoring information. We understand 
that historically this information has generally focused on investment 
performance monitoring, but we note that the Fund's quarterly update has 

 Decision 
We recommend that the 
Administering Authority considers 
and discusses the 
recommendations set out in this 
report. We further recommend that 
an action plan is developed in 
relation to implementing these 
recommendations, in order that 
progress can be monitored on an 
ongoing basis. 

Page 100



 Governance Review | At a glance… 
 
 

 
Aon  3 
 

recently been developed to include all areas of Fund performance, 
including funding, administration, governance and communications. 

▪ has clear evidence of appropriate debate and discussion by the Pension 
Committee. This is currently particularly the case when reviewing the 
investment strategy. 

▪ appears to make good use of officers and advisers' expertise to assist 
with decision making. 

▪ shows evidence of good quality training for the Pension Committee albeit 
that this appears to have reduced over the past 12 months as a result of 
the pandemic. 

▪ has strong chairs of both the Pension Committee and Pension Board, 
although noting that the chair of the Pension Committee has just recently 
changed. 

We also identified some areas which could potentially be improved, and we 
have therefore made some recommendations, including the following: 

Policies and procedures 

▪ developing a Fund Risk Management Policy, to be approved by the 
Pension Committee. We recommend that this policy is developed to 
provide a clearer risk management framework (obviously incorporating 
the existing risk register). 

▪ developing a Fund Conflict of Interest policy covering all stakeholders. 

▪ updating the Administering Authority's Discretionary Policy. 

▪ updating the Fund's Governance Compliance Statement to ensure that 
this is consistent with the Governance Policy Statement. 

▪ undertaking a detailed review of the Fund's practices against The 
Pensions Regulator's Code of Practice once the new single consolidated 
code of practice has been implemented.  

▪ ensuring that the Fund's new Training Strategy is successfully 
implemented to ensure that all Pension Committee members, Pension 
Board members and the Fund officers get sufficient training on all 
aspects of the Pension Fund. 

▪ ensuring that the Fund develops its own identity separate from the 
Council, for example having different branding to the Council and creating 
a much more distinctly separate Fund website (or distinctly separate 
section within the Council's website). 

Pension Committee / Pension Board 

▪ considering a change to the way that the Pension Committee is 
constituted. We note that the Committee is made up of six County 
Councillors, one voting District Councillor and one non-voting scheme 
member representative.  We recommend that it is considered whether the 
Committee could have further representation from other employers in the 
Fund, and potentially also increasing the number of scheme member 
representatives.  

Information 
We provide further information 
in relation to our conclusions 
and recommendations in the 
main body of this report. 

Page 101



Governance Review | At a glance… 
 
 

   
4  Aon 
 

▪ ensuring that the Pension Committee appropriately covers all areas of the 
Fund, including funding, administration, communications and governance 
in addition to investment.  

▪ considering increasing the number of Pension Board meetings each year. 

Page 102



 Governance Review | Contents 
 
 

 
Aon  5 
 

Contents 

At a glance… 2 

Introduction 6 

Governance Framework 8 

Direction – What are you trying to achieve? 13 

Delivery – How do you meet your aims? 25 

Decisions – Do you have effective decision making? 29 

Effectiveness Questionnaires 45 

Further information 48 
▪ Appendix A – Reference Material 49 
▪ Appendix B – Effectiveness Questionnaires 50 
 
 
 

Page 103



Governance Review | Introduction 
 
 

   
6  Aon 
 

Introduction 

Purpose and Scope 
This paper sets out the findings of Aon's governance review of the 
Gloucestershire Pension Fund (the "Fund").  Gloucestershire County 
Council (the "Administering Authority") is responsible for managing and 
administering the Fund, which is part of the Local Government Pension 
Scheme ("LGPS").   

The purpose of this review is to consider whether the Administering 
Authority for the Fund is meeting good practice in relation to the 
governance of the Fund and also recommend any potential areas for 
improvement. We have compared the Administering Authority's practices 
against the Aon governance framework which considers areas such as the 
role and effectiveness of the Pension Committee ("PC") and Pension Board 
("PB"), how the PC takes advice, and the key documents and policies that 
govern the Fund. The Aon governance framework is explained further in 
the next section of this report. 

As part of our review we have also had regard, at a strategic level, to the 
expected requirements arising from the SAB Good Governance project and 
TPR's new Code of Practice and have made reference to these documents 
throughout this report as appropriate.  

The review has generally been carried out a high level and has not involved 
any detailed investigation into services such as administration, 
communications, funding or investments. Accordingly, it does not provide 
any technical comment in relation to any of these areas. We have, 
however, provided some more detailed comments on the Funding Strategy 
Statement and Investment Strategy Statement as requested. This is 
included in the 'Direction – What are you trying to achieve?' section. These 
documents have been reviewed by an Aon actuary and investment 
consultant respectively. 

The review does include consideration, at a high level, of the legal 
requirements relating to governance, for example, the requirement to 
publish certain policies and strategies under LGPS legislation. Although it 
includes some legal elements, these are presented by us in our capacity as 
pension consultants and not as legal experts, and as such nothing in this 
report should be considered as legal advice.   

Research 
The information upon which this review has been based has been gathered 
in a number of ways: 

▪ Desk-top review of key reports, strategies and policies governing the 
scheme and web information.  The documents considered are listed in 
Appendix A. 

 Contact us 
We hope the information contained 
within this report is useful to 
Gloucestershire County Council in 
considering how best to govern the 
Fund in the future. As you can see, 
the findings are positive in most 
places. 

We look forward to answering any 
questions in relation to the report, 
and particularly any areas where 
we have highlighted that 
improvements could be made. 

Information 
We would like to thank the 
officers and members of the PC 
and PB for their assistance 
throughout this review. 

Page 104



 Governance Review | Introduction 
 
 

 
Aon  7 
 

▪ Effectiveness questionnaires were provided to all PC and PB members to 
gather their views on areas such as the length of the meetings, how 
topics are presented, whether the members feel confident when making 
decisions, whether the members understand risk and strategy, and their 
general engagement in matters.  The results of the questionnaire are 
summarised in Appendix B. 

▪ Our observations from attending PC and PB meetings in March 2021. 

▪ Informal discussions with Matthew Trebilcock, Head of Pensions at the 
Fund, in relation to information found as part of the desktop review of 
current practices and procedures. 

Page 105



Governance Review | Governance Framework 
 
 

   
8  Aon 
 

Governance Framework 

This section describes Aon’s best practice framework against which this review was 
conducted.  

There are some key benefits from having effective governance in place, including: 

▪ Robust risk management that can assist in preventing issues from arising, or at least reducing their impact 
should they arise 

▪ Ensuring resources and time are appropriately focussed 

▪ Timely decision making and implementation of change 

▪ A clear view of how the Fund is being operated for the Pension Committee (or equivalent). 

At Aon, we have a number of beliefs when it comes to achieving good governance including: 

▪ Direction – having clear strategies and policies that also meet legislative requirements are fundamental 

▪ Delivery – having a clear plan for implementing the Fund's strategies and policies, together with appropriate 
monitoring as to whether they are being achieved, and good risk management ensure effective and efficient 
delivery 

▪ Decisions – having an appropriate governance structure, involving the right people, with the right attitude and 
the appropriate skills and knowledge is key. 

These beliefs are shown in the following diagram and described in more detail below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 106



 Governance Review | Governance Framework 
 
 

 
Aon  9 
 

Aon governance framework 
 

Direction – What are you trying to achieve? 

Legislation and guidance The Fund's strategies and policies should be in line with legislative 
requirements and any related professional guidance. 

Strategies and policies  The Fund's strategies and policies should clearly set out the aims, principles, 
protocols and environment for how the Fund is managed. The strategies and 
policies: 

 should be wide ranging covering all key areas including funding, 
investments, finance, administration, communications and governance itself 

 should be clearly articulated, to provide a framework within which those 
managing the Fund are able to operate  

 should provide the focus for all future decisions and plans   

 should be agreed by those responsible for governing the Fund. 

Delivery – How do you meet your aims? 

Business Planning  The Fund should have an approved business plan, with associated budget, 
setting out required activities in the forthcoming period. Those activities: 

 should be driven by the Fund's strategies and policies  

 will include activities driven by changes in overriding legislation. 

Performance 
Measurement 

Those responsible for governing the Fund should be provided with appropriate 
performance information.  Measurements should: 

 demonstrate whether the Fund's aims are being achieved 

 cover the full range of key areas (e.g. investments, funding, governance, 
communications and administration) 

 demonstrate whether the Fund's business plan is being achieved 

 be updated in accordance with appropriate timescales 

 be presented in a manner that is easy to follow and understandable to those 
governing the Fund 

 assist in identifying changes to the Fund's business plan, strategies, polices 
and aims. 

The Fund should also be considering compliance against The Pensions 
Regulator's Code of Practice. 

Risk Management  Effective risk management is critical to minimise the impact and/or probability 
of unfortunate events and to maximise the realisation of opportunities. It 
should be: 

 aligned with the Fund's aims 

 a key consideration in decision making 

 systematic or structured 

Page 107



Governance Review | Governance Framework 
 
 

   
10  Aon 
 

 an integral part of the Administering Authority's processes and procedures 
on a daily basis. 

Decisions – Do you have effective decision making? 

Governance structure There is no one 'correct' governance structure. The Administering Authority's 
structure should: 

 have clear terms of reference 

 have a clearly documented scheme of delegation 

 allow decision making at the appropriate level 

 allow quick decision making where appropriate 

 include appropriate representation from stakeholders 

 ensure there is sufficient diversity of thought/approach amongst those 
tasked with making decisions  

 involve well-presented information/reports 

 allow sufficient time for discussion where necessary 

 have good quality (committee) administration (e.g. issuing papers in good 
time) 

 involve a process for managing conflicts 

 provide transparency to stakeholders where appropriate. 

Behaviour A good governance structure will not be effective unless it involves the right 
people with the right attitude. Individuals should: 

 have a high level of attendance at meetings and training 

 demonstrate integrity in relation to their Fund role 

 be engaged and provide appropriate challenge 

 be accountable for the decisions made 

 highlight any potential conflicts they may have 

 for a Chairperson, manage the meetings fairly without any bias to individuals 
or self and enable all attendees to express their views or opinions openly 

 prepare adequately for meetings. 

Skills and knowledge A critical element is the need for those managing the Fund to have the 
appropriate level of knowledge and skills. Administering Authorities should: 

 clearly articulate the knowledge and skills requirements in a Fund policy 

 provide ongoing training in an effective and suitable manner to meet those 
requirements 

 regularly review whether knowledge aspirations are being met 

 ensure they rely appropriately on officers and advisers to provide expert 
knowledge. 

 

 

Page 108



 Governance Review | Governance Framework 
 
 

 
Aon  11 
 

RAG rating 
Throughout this report we have included comments which we hope are useful to the Administering Authority in 
highlighting areas of good practice but also identifying areas for potential improvement. To provide some greater 
clarity on the intention of our comments and allow these areas to be quickly identified, we have included 
graphics to illustrate whether they are: 

▪  positive – meets legal requirements, national guidance and good practice. 

▪  neutral – meets legal practice, in the main, but could be improved to meet good practice or national 

guidance. 

▪  negative – requires improvement as it does not appear to meet legal requirements or practices we 

consider key to good governance.  

Throughout this report we have provided comments in relation to the results of the Effectiveness Questionnaires 
and also from our observations from attending the March 2021 PC and PB meetings to help explain how we 
have reached our conclusions. 

Expected Changes to Governance in the LGPS 
We are going through a period of fundamental change in the LGPS driven by changes made by Government or 
other bodies.  There are three specific areas that are expected to impact on the governance of the LGPS that 
we have tried to have some regard to within our review, particularly as many of the expected requirements align 
with Aon's governance framework.  We have highlighted throughout the report within our comments many of the 
specific elements of these changes, which will allow the Administering Authority to make progress in these 
areas in advance of final guidance or regulations.  We recommend that the PC and PB familiarise themselves 
and continue to monitor these developments.   Further information on the three areas is as follows: 

Scheme Advisory Board – Good Governance report 
The SAB published its final report on the Good Governance project in February 2021 and have made a formal 
request to MHCLG and other bodies to implement the recommendations from the project. SAB will be identifying 
and promoting best practice in the LGPS to assist in taking forward the recommendations made. In addition to 
this, MHCLG would need to implement some of the changes identified either by amending regulations or via 
statutory guidance. It may be some months before there are further developments due to other national 
priorities.   

The Pensions Regulator's New Code 
There are a number of key requirements relating to the management and operations of public service pension 
schemes which are outlined in TPR's Code of Practice Number 14 - Governance and Administration of Public 
Service Pension Schemes ("TPR's Code of Practice").  Some of the aspects of the Code are driven by 
overriding legislation and the Fund is expected to meet the standards and practice within the Code, even though 
the Code itself is not a statement of the law.  

TPR recently consulted on a new single consolidated code of practice ("New Code") which is expected to 
replace Code of Practice 14 later this year.   

TPR's New Code brings together 10 existing codes of practice, including Code of Practice 14 (Governance and 
Administration of Public Service Pension Schemes), into a single modular (on-line) code which will apply to all 
UK pension schemes. At the time of writing the New Code is in draft given it is being consulted on.   

Page 109



Governance Review | Governance Framework 
 
 

   
12  Aon 
 

CIPFA's Knowledge and Skills Code and Framework 
Working with Aon, CIPFA is refreshing its knowledge and skills framework, bringing together and updating 
content from previous documents: 

▪ The Pensions Finance Knowledge and Skills Framework – Technical Guidance for Pensions Practitioners in 
the Public Sector (published 2010) and  

▪ The Pensions Finance Knowledge and Skills Framework – Technical Guidance for Elected Representatives 
and Non-executive Members in the Public Sector (published 2010).   

It will also be publishing a new Code of Practice based on the Code of Practice on Public Sector Pensions 
Finance Knowledge and Skills (published 2013). 

The new Framework will apply to PC members and Senior Officers and is expected to reflect developments 
such as the Pensions Regulator's involvement in LGPS, Pooling, MIFID II and the increasing focus on 
Responsible Investment.  It is also expected to better link to other areas such as the Good Governance 
recommendations from the Scheme Advisory Board. 

At the time of writing, the date of publication has not yet been confirmed but is expected to be in June.     
 

Page 110



 Governance Review | Direction – What are you trying to achieve? 
 
 

 
Aon  13 
 

Direction – What are you 
trying to achieve? 

In this section, we consider whether the Fund has clear strategies and 
policies which meet the following requirements: 

▪ The Fund's strategies and policies should be in line with legislative 
requirements and any related professional guidance. 

▪ The Fund's strategies and policies should clearly set out the aims, 
principles, protocols and environment for how the Fund is managed. The 
strategies and policies: 

– should be wide ranging covering all key areas including funding, 
investments, finance, administration, communications and governance 
itself 

– should be clearly articulated, to provide a framework within which those 
managing the Fund are able to operate  

– should provide the focus for all future decisions and plans   

– should be agreed by those responsible for governing the Fund.  

In the table that follows, we summarise the key policies and strategies 
which we would expect to be in place for a well governed LGPS Fund, 
considering both legal requirements and best practice. Note that we have 
not considered the principles or methodology within these documents, 
given that this review is focussed on governance matters and not, for 
example, on the quality of actuarial or investment matters. We have, 
however, reviewed the Funding Strategy Statement and Investment 
Strategy Statement in a bit more detail and provide our comments on these 
documents below the table. 

We have indicated in the table whether the documents are;  

▪ legally required under the LGPS, or 

▪ expected in accordance with CIPFA, LGPS Scheme Advisory Board 
("SAB") or The Pensions Regulator's ("TPR") Guidance or Codes (many 
of which have some element of statutory backing), 

and we then consider whether they are currently in place for the Fund and 
whether they meet these legal requirements, or any requirements laid out 
in Guidance or Codes.   

We also consider the quality and structure of these policies and strategies.  
For example, it is important that the PC is fully engaged in the development 
of all strategies and policies, whilst receiving appropriate advice and 
expertise from the officers and advisers of the Fund as well as the PB. It 
must therefore be clear that strategies and policies are part of PC and PB 
business and are subject to ongoing review. 

Information 
When reviewing these policies 
and strategies, we consider 
both legal requirements and 
best practice. Note that we 
have not generally considered 
the principles or methodology 
within these documents, given 
that this review is focussed on 
governance matters. 

Page 111



 

 

G
overnance R

eview
 | D

irection – W
hat are you trying to achieve? 

 
 

 
14 

 
A

on 

Strategies and policies – meeting key requirements 

Strategy / Policy  Fund Version? / Version 
Date 

Legal or National 
Guidance Requirement 

Adherence to Legislation and Guidance Process, decision making or more general 
observations  

Funding Strategy 
Statement (FSS) 

Yes – Effective March 
2021 
 

LGPS Regulations 

CIPFA FSS Guidance    
 

 Meets requirements and appears to follow 
the CIPFA guidance.      

It is noted that we anticipate that the 
Administering Authority will next be reviewing 
the Strategy in tandem with the 2022 actuarial 
valuation and, as part of that exercise, will be 
updating it in line with the updated CIPFA 
guidance which is expected soon. 

 The FSS and actuarial valuation were considered 
by the PC at its March 2021 meeting.  

 It is also clear that they took appropriate advice 
from the actuary.   
 

Investment 
Strategy Statement 
(ISS)  

Yes - published March 
2021 

LGPS Regulations 

Compliance Statement 
against CIPFA guidance 
on the Myners Principles 
in the LGPS  

 Meets requirements in the Regulations 

 The latest Brunel Pool policies on socially 
responsible investing are made available on 
the Gloucestershire County Council website. 
Reference to this is also included in the ISS. 

 No Myners Compliance statement is readily 
available. Although this is no longer required by 
MHCLG guidance, CIPFA does continue to 
recommend that a statement of compliance 
should be developed and maintained. We 
understand that the Fund did previously have a 
Myners Compliance statement which used to 
form part of the Statement of Investment 
Principles (now superseded by the ISS) and 
was contained in earlier versions of the annual 
report. 

 The ISS sets out who the PC have taken advice 
from in preparing the ISS, but it does not appear to 
clearly set out if any and which appropriate persons 
have been consulted on the ISS as required by the 
Regulations. 

Governance Policy 
Statement and 
Governance 
Compliance 
Statement 

Yes – updated version of 
Governance Policy 
Statement to February 
2020. 

Latest version of 
Governance Compliance 
Statement is dated July 
2017. 

LGPS Regulations  

Compliance Statement 
against Secretary of 
State guidance 

 The Governance Policy Statement / 
Governance Compliance Statement provides 
the information that is required by the Local 
Government Pension Scheme Regulations 
2013. 

 

 We note that the Governance Policy Statement 
was reviewed in February 2020. However, the 
Compliance Statement is dated July 2017. We 
would generally expect these to be reviewed in 
conjunction with each other. In addition, the 
Governance Policy Statement states that the 
Compliance Statement is included as an appendix 
to the main document, but no appendix is included. 
We can find both documents on the website, but it 
may be easier for readers to include these within 
the same document. We understand that an 

P
age 112



 

 

 
G

overnance R
eview

 | D
irection – W

hat are you trying to achieve? 

 A
on 

 
15 

Strategy / Policy  Fund Version? / Version 
Date 

Legal or National 
Guidance Requirement 

Adherence to Legislation and Guidance Process, decision making or more general 
observations  

updated Compliance Statement has been drafted 
by the Administering Authority, but this has not 
been finalised and approved by the PC. 

We note that as part of the SAB Good Governance 
review one of the recommendations is that each 
administering authority must publish an annual 
governance compliance statement that sets out 
how they comply with the governance requirements 
for LGPS funds as set out in the MHCLG guidance 
that will be published.  Therefore, in due course, 
when that guidance is published, the existing 
compliance statement will need to be reviewed to 
ensure it is in line with the new guidance.  

Communications 
Policy 

Yes – August 2018 LGPS Regulations  Meets all requirements.  We would expect the policy to have been 
approved by the PC, but this is not set out in the 
policy itself. We recommend that the approval 
process and date is clearly set out in the policy. 

 We understand that a review of this policy was 
due to be undertaken in 2019/20 but this did not 
take place. However, we further understand that 
this will be reviewed following the outcome of this 
governance review. As part of that review we also 
recommend considering your approach to diversity, 
equality and inclusion ("D, E & I") in how you 
communicate with your stakeholders. 

Administering 
Authority 
Discretionary Policy  

Yes – September 1999 LGPS Regulations – 
basic element only 

 The only Administering Authority 
Discretionary Policy dates from September 
1999, and therefore is based on very out of 
date LGPS regulations. We therefore 
recommend that this policy is updated to refer 
to the current Regulations and approved by the 
PC as soon as possible. Once updated we 
recommend that this policy is included on your 
website. 

 There are a range of discretionary provisions in 
the LGPS regulations, such as the charging of 
interest on late contributions or how to determine 
who should receive a death grant, which strictly do 
not have to be included in the published 
Discretionary Policy statement.  It is best practice to 
have a fuller policy which allows all or most 
discretions to be approved by the PC or, given its 
focus on low risk matters, by officers if delegated 
powers are provided.  It should, however, be 
worded appropriately to ensure that it does not 
fetter future discretion in relation to these powers. 

P
age 113



 

 

G
overnance R

eview
 | D

irection – W
hat are you trying to achieve? 

 
 

 
16 

 
A

on 

Strategy / Policy  Fund Version? / Version 
Date 

Legal or National 
Guidance Requirement 

Adherence to Legislation and Guidance Process, decision making or more general 
observations  

Administration 
Strategy 

Yes - Effective from April 
2017 

LGPS Regulations, (as 
an optional strategy) 

 Meets all requirements. 

 Whilst having an Administration Strategy is 
currently optional, we note that a 
recommendation within the SAB Good 
Governance review is that each administering 
authority should publish an Administration 
Strategy, and MHCLG have been asked to 
make this a legal requirement. 

 The Regulations do not set out specific 
timescales for reviewing the Administration Strategy 
but given that this was last reviewed 4 years ago 
the Administering Authority may wish to consider an 
appropriate time to review this document. 

Risk Management 
Policy & Strategy / 
Risk register  

Risk Management Policy - 
no 

Risk register – Yes, March 
2021 

CIPFA Guidance  No explicit Risk Management Policy in place. 
We are aware that both the ISS and FSS have 
sections relating to risk management, but these 
will focus on specific risks relating to 
investments and funding respectively. We 
recommend that the Fund sets up its own Risk 
Management Policy clearly setting out the risk 
philosophy of the Fund and the process for 
monitoring and managing risk in the Fund. This 
policy should cover all the key areas set out in 
the CIPFA guidance. 

 A Risk Register is available and meets most 
best practice elements and we are pleased to 
see that this covers governance and regulatory 
risks, along with financial risks.  

 

Annual report and 
accounts 

Yes – 2019/20 LGPS Regulations 

CIPFA Guidance 
"Preparing the Annual 
Report" 

CIPFA accounting 
guidance 

 Meets all LGPS Regulatory requirements. 

Please note that, due to the detailed nature of 
CIPFA’s accounting guidance, we have not 
considered adherence to their guidance. We 
expect this will have been considered by the 
Fund’s auditors. 

 

  This was considered and approved at the 
December 2020 PC. 

Knowledge and 
Skills/Training 
Policy 

Yes – April 2021 

Draft Fund Training Plan 
2021/2022 – 2022/2023 
provided 

CIPFA & SAB 

TPR Code of Practice 
 Training Strategy recently put in place and it 
appears that all key elements are considered. 

 The policy includes requirements for the PC, 
PB, Fund officers and Participating Employers.  

 

P
age 114



 

 

 
G

overnance R
eview

 | D
irection – W

hat are you trying to achieve? 

 A
on 

 
17 

Strategy / Policy  Fund Version? / Version 
Date 

Legal or National 
Guidance Requirement 

Adherence to Legislation and Guidance Process, decision making or more general 
observations  

Conflicts of Interest 
Policy  

No SAB – required for PB 
only 

 

 Not in place for the PB. We understand that 
the Fund currently relies on the Council's 
Conflicts of Interest Policy. 

 Although not (yet) explicit in any legislation or 
guidance, it would be good practice to have a wider 
Fund Conflicts of Interest Policy applying to all 
stakeholders, and this is mentioned as part of the 
CIPFA annual report guidance.  This should 
highlight differences between the Council's 
requirements in relation to declarations for elected 
members and officers as well as ensuring other 
parties (observers and advisers) are fully aware of 
expectations.  We also note that a recommendation 
within the SAB Good Governance review is for a 
Fund Conflicts of Interest Policy to be required by 
statutory guidance. 

Breaches of the 
Law Procedure 

Yes, no obvious date of 
policy but we understand 
that this was last reviewed 
in 2016. 

Pensions Act 2004 

TPR Code of Practice 
 Meets requirements   The policy does not include an effective date / 

date it was last reviewed. We understand that this 
was last reviewed in 2016. We note that the policy 
does state that it will be reviewed and approved by 
the PC at least annually, but we are unsure whether 
this has taken place. 

 We understand that a breaches log is in place, 
but we have not had sight of this to verify its 
suitability (and given this is a requirement within 
The Pensions Regulator's Code of Practice we 
have highlighted this point as an immediate 
improvement point). We recommend that this 
breaches log is regularly updated and taken to PC 
and PB for information. 

Employer 
(admission / exit / 
bulk transfer) Policy 

 None – good practice 
only 

 Not in place. Some funds put in place 
admission, exit and bulk transfer policies to 
provide greater detail and expand on some of 
the areas in the FSS. We have had a very high-
level look through your FSS and note that it 
appears that the Fund's policies on new 
employers, exits and bulk transfers are 
included in the FSS. However, you may wish to 
consider whether you are comfortable 

N/A 

P
age 115



 

 

G
overnance R

eview
 | D

irection – W
hat are you trying to achieve? 

 
 

 
18 

 
A

on 

Strategy / Policy  Fund Version? / Version 
Date 

Legal or National 
Guidance Requirement 

Adherence to Legislation and Guidance Process, decision making or more general 
observations  

continuing with this approach or whether to 
have separate policies on this.  

Data Improvement No Data Improvement 
Policy or Plan currently in 
place 

TPR Code of Practice  We understand that the Fund do the 
common / scheme specific scoring through 
Aquila Heywood but currently no formal data 
improvement policy or plan is in place. Having 
a clearly set out data improvement plan is 
critically important, but ideally having a Data 
Improvement Policy is good practice too. 

 

Business Continuity 
Policy/Plan 

Nothing Fund specific Expected in TPR New 
Code 

 The Fund currently relies on the Council's 
approach to Business Continuity. We 
recommend that it is best practice for the Fund 
to have its own Business Continuity Policy / 
Plan and we note that we expect this to be 
included in the TPR's New Code. We 
understand that a Fund Business Continuity 
Policy is currently being prepared. 

For security purposes we would not expect these 
documents to be made publicly available. 

 

Cyber Strategy Nothing Fund specific TPR Guidance and 
expected in TPR New 
Code 

 The Fund currently relies on the Council's 
approach to Cyber Security. We recommend 
that the Fund considers developing a Fund 
specific Cyber Policy / Strategy. 

For security purposes we would not expect these 
documents to be made publicly available. 

 

 
  

P
age 116



 

 

 
G

overnance R
eview

 | D
irection – W

hat are you trying to achieve? 

 A
on 

 
19 

General comments on Strategies and policies  
 The Fund has the key policies in place and generally they appear to meet the main requirements set out in legislation and guidance. We note that some 
of these policies have been set up over the last year or so, e.g. the Fund's Training Strategy. This is pleasing to see but it is important that the Fund now 
ensure that appropriate procedures are put in place to ensure adherence to these policies.  

 It is worth highlighting that finding the various policies set out above was not particularly easy. We generally had to do a Google search on the name of 
the policy rather than being able to find these easily through the website. We note that the Fund does not have its own dedicated website and information 
about the Fund is contained on the Gloucestershire County Council website. Certain information about the Fund is contained on this page but it is fairly 
limited / not easily found via the links on that page. The Fund may wish to consider setting up its own website, or at least ensure that the Fund's section on 
the Council's website is easy to find, distinguishable from the Council, e.g. by having its own branding, and has clear links to all of the Fund's policies and 
strategies. We would note that a Fund having its own website is good practice and is becoming increasingly more common practice across the LGPS. It is 
then best practice to include a Fund policies and strategies section which includes links to the Fund's latest policy documents. 

 Some of the policies do not appear to have been reviewed for a few years.  We are pleased to see in the Fund's business plan (see further comments 
on this in the next section) that a review of the Fund's policies is planned for Q2 – Q4 2021/22.  However, we recommend that the Fund's business plan 
more explicitly clarifies the timescale for reviewing each individual policy or strategy to ensure that these policies are kept under regular review. We have 
included some comments in the table above that could potentially improve the policies that the Fund should consider as part of their review. 

Document structure / key contents 
As a general principle we also recommend that any strategy or policy document should include the following elements in addition to the main 
contents/purpose of the document: 

▪ Introduction including any relevant legislation and guidance 

▪ The Fund's aims / objectives in this area 

▪ What measurement / monitoring will be carried out in relation to those aims / objectives 

▪ The key risks relating to the strategy and how they are being managed / monitored 

▪ Who was consulted on the drafting of the strategy / policy 

▪ When / how it was approved  

▪ The effective date of the strategy / policy 

▪ When it will next be reviewed 

▪ The roles and responsibilities of the key parties responsible for delivering the strategy (e.g. PC, officers, fund managers, advisers etc.). 

In addition, we recommend that the latest version of all of these key documents is made available on the Fund / Council website. We show in the following 
tables whether or not these elements are contained in the Fund's key documents, where we consider them appropriate. 

P
age 117



 

 

G
overnance R

eview
 | D

irection – W
hat are you trying to achieve? 

 
 

 
20 

 
A

on 

Strategies and policies – document structure 
Strategy / Policy Elements FSS ISS Governance Communications Discretionary Administration 

Introduction including any relevant legislation and 
guidance 

Yes Yes Yes No Yes Yes 

The Fund's aims / objectives Yes Yes Yes No No Yes 

Measurement / monitoring requirements Yes (part of risks) Yes Yes Yes No Yes 

Key risks and how they are being managed / 
monitored 

Yes Yes No No No Yes 

Who was consulted Yes No Yes No Yes Yes 

When / how it was approved Yes Yes Yes No Yes Yes 

Effective date Yes Yes Yes Yes No Yes 

When it will next be reviewed Yes Yes No No No Yes 

The roles and responsibilities of the key parties Yes No Yes Yes Yes Yes 

On website Yes Yes Yes Yes No Yes 
 

Strategy / Policy Elements Risk Training Conflicts Breaches Employer 

Introduction including any relevant legislation and 
guidance 

No policy in place Yes No policy in place Yes No policy in place 

The Fund's aims / objectives N/A Yes N/A Yes N/A 

Measurement / monitoring requirements N/A Yes N/A Yes N/A 

Key risks and how they are being managed / 
monitored 

N/A Yes N/A No N/A 

Who was consulted N/A No N/A Yes N/A 

When / how it was approved N/A No N/A Yes N/A 

Effective date N/A Yes N/A No N/A 

When it will next be reviewed N/A Yes N/A 

Policy states annual 
review but does not 

appear to have 
been done 

N/A 

The roles and responsibilities of the key parties N/A  Yes N/A Yes N/A 

On website N/A Yes N/A Yes N/A 
 

P
age 118



 

 

 
G

overnance R
eview

 | D
irection – W

hat are you trying to achieve? 

 A
on 

 
21 

 As you can see from the tables above, many of the policies follow good practice by incorporating these key elements. Further, most of the key policies 
are available on the Council's website (although note our comments above about ease of finding these policies). We recommend that within the review of 
the Fund's policies that the structure of each policy is reviewed to ensure all the key elements identified above are incorporated.   

 

P
age 119



Governance Review | Direction – What are you trying to achieve? 
 
 

   
22  Aon 
 

Adherence to The Pensions Regulator Code of Practice 
In addition to the LGPS regulations, CIPFA and SAB guidance, there are a number of key requirements relating 
to the management and operations of public service pensions schemes which are outlined in TPR's Code of 
Practice Number 14 - Governance and administration of public service pension schemes ("TPR's Code of 
Practice").  

TPR recently consulted on a new single consolidated code of practice ("New Code") which is expected to replace 
Code of Practice 14 later this year.   

TPR's New Code brings together 10 existing codes of practice, including Code of Practice 14 (Governance and 
Administration of Public Service Pension Schemes), into a single modular (on-line) code which will apply to all UK 
pension schemes. At the time of writing the New Code is in draft given it is being consulted on but some key 
points for the Fund to be aware of that are new include (this is not exhaustive list but is intended to highlight some 
potential areas of work for the Fund once the new Code is in place):  

 Administration modules: There are seven new administration modules for the public sector schemes, and 
these cover all the main operational procedures. Most of the requirements here were already set out in the 
existing Code of Practice but a key requirement is making sure everything is appropriately documented by the 
Fund. For example, documenting policies for maintaining IT systems is likely to be an area that is new to the 
Fund. In addition, a new module on 'Cyber controls' now elevates this area to Code (from existing guidance) 
and will require the Fund to ensure cyber security measures and controls are in place as part of your internal 
controls.  

 Governing Body modules: This includes a new module called 'Recordings of meetings and decisions made'. 
There may be some points of detail in existing policies which need to be reviewed by the Fund, for example 
documenting any decisions taken outside of meetings within the minutes of the next meeting. There is a "best 
practice" module 'Remuneration policy', which recommends that there is a written and published 
remuneration policy covering key personnel involved in running the scheme, which is reviewed at least every 
3 years (ideally annually). Another best practice module is 'Continuity planning' which sets out the Fund 
should have its own continuity plan to document the key actions that would be undertaken under a range of 
events, to ensure data and administration are not disrupted.  

 Communications and disclosure modules: There are new requirements for the Fund here on the principles for 
member communications (accurate, clear, concise), use of technology, and accessibility, as well as steps for 
mitigating the risk of scams. 

The Administering Authority should carry out an evaluation against the New Code's requirements in due course 
and address areas of partial compliance and non-compliance in a timely manner. It should also evaluate 
compliance on a regular basis. We are not exactly sure of timings at this stage but note that the consultation on 
the new Code closed on 26 May 2021. 

As a matter of best practice, we would expect all administering authorities to carry out a regular review of their 
approach against: 

 the legal requirements underpinning the TPR Code of Practice, with a view to ensuring that these are being 
adhered to, and 

 the guidance contained within the Code, to consider whether the guidance should be adhered to or an 
alternative and justifiable approach should be taken. 

This will also be an area of particular interest to the PB as it is part of their statutory responsibility to assist in 
ensuring compliance with the TPR's Code of Practice. The Pensions Regulator carries out regular surveys of 
public service pension schemes' compliance with the Code and has stated that it expects all schemes to have 
assessed themselves against the law and its code of practice.  

Page 120



 Governance Review | Direction – What are you trying to achieve? 
 
 

 
Aon  23 
 

 We understand that currently no formal check against the TPR's Code of Practice has been undertaken. 
Although this check has not been carried out, it is worth highlighting that, as part of our review, we have 
recognised a number of areas that demonstrate compliance with the TPR's current Code of Practice including the 
Fund having a Training Strategy and a Policy for Reporting Breaches of the Law. Given the new Code of Practice 
is expected to be released fairly shortly, we recommend carrying out a check against the requirements of the New 
Code as soon as it is released. In the interim, a high-level review against its requirements would be advantageous 
in identifying any potential areas of concern to allow development work to be planned. If you require any 
assistance with the review against the New Code's requirements or would like any further information about the 
New Code, then please let us know. 

Additional comments on Funding Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy 
Statement 
As requested, we have reviewed the FSS and ISS in slightly more detail and we set out our comments on these 
policies below. These reviews were independently carried out by a qualified actuary (for the FSS) and investment 
consultant (for ISS) within Aon to ensure the appropriate expertise.  This extends our review from considering 
whether these policies meet legal requirements and any requirements laid out in Guidance or Codes, to also 
considering whether they include items that we typically see included in these strategies for other LGPS funds 
and also include current topical items. However, please note that we have kept our review at a high level, and we 
have not reviewed each part of these strategies in detail. 

Funding Strategy Statement 

 The FSS appears to include all the key sections that we would expect to be included and is generally well set 
out and easy to follow. 

Our comments on current hot topics for LGPS funds in relation to funding are as follows: 

 We note that the Fund has a policy in relation to exit credits, albeit that this is included in a separate 
standalone Exit Credit Policy that is referred to in the FSS, rather than being included in the FSS itself (or within a 
fund's admissions and exit policy if they have one) which in our experience is the more common approach. It is ok 
to have this as a separate standalone policy, but the Fund should ensure that this policy is reviewed alongside 
any review of the FSS (we note that the current Exit Credit Policy is dated September 2020 whereas the FSS is 
dated March 2021). 

 We note that the FSS includes the Administering Authority's policy in relation to employer flexibilities that were 
introduced into the LGPS regulations in September 2020. To be able to use these flexibilities, Funds are required 
to have a policy on this in their FSS. We note however, that on 2 March 2021 MHCLG published statutory 
guidance to assist LGPS administering authorities in implementing their policies on employer flexibilities. More 
detailed guidance was also prepared by the Scheme Advisory Board to be read in conjunction with MHCLG's 
statutory guidance. It is not clear from the information included in the FSS that the MHCLG guidance has been 
followed and we note that the FSS states that it was issued to participating employers for consultation in February 
2021 before being finalised in March 2021 so it is possible that the MHCLG guidance was published after the 
Fund's policies in this area were written.  We recommend that the Fund reviews their current policies in relation to 
employer flexibilities to ensure that they contain the information set out in the MHCLG guidance. As an example, 
one of the employer flexibilities relates to spreading exit payments. Whilst this is mentioned in the FSS, the 
MHCLG guidance sets out a number of matters that the policy should set out, including how the administering 
authority will consider the appropriate length of time for an exit payment to be spread, including its view on the 
maximum length of any spreading period, the evidence an administering authority would expect to require from a 
fund employer to consider the spreading of an exit payment and the indicative timetable for a review (amongst 
others).  Similar details of matters to be included in the Fund's policies in relation to reviewing employer 
contribution rates between Fund valuations and Deferred Debt Agreements are included in the MHCLG guidance. 

 

Page 121



Governance Review | Direction – What are you trying to achieve? 
 
 

   
24  Aon 
 

Investment Strategy Statement 

 The ISS appears to include all the key sections that we would expect to be included and is generally well set 
out and easy to follow, although please note our comment in the table above about documenting the consultation 
process. 

A current hot topic in relation to investment is Responsible Investment (RI), including Environment, Social and 
Governance considerations. A member of our specialist RI team has reviewed the ISS and has made the 
following observations: 

 The Fund’s articulation of its RI approach is generally good. We note that it is good to see the Fund's 
investment beliefs at the back of the ISS refer to RI and climate change and indicate that this has been thought 
about in some depth.  

 We set out below some observations on how we believe the Fund's policy in relation to RI could be improved 
but we would emphasise that these are simply enhancements to the current policy rather than wholesale 
revisions. We are pleased to see that both of these points are included in the Fund's Business Plan 2021-22, but 
we include these comments below as we feel that these are critical areas that should be reflected in the ISS and 
their technical nature means that they require careful consideration.  

▪ Stewardship – the ISS notes that the UK Stewardship Code was significantly revised and extended in 2020 and 
will be reviewing its policy towards being a signatory. We recommend that once the Fund has reviewed its 
policy in this area that the Fund outline in the ISS how it will apply the principles of the Stewardship Code 
(whether or not the Fund becomes a signatory). We note that this is covered in the 2016 LGPS (Management 
and Investment of Funds) Regulations where the statutory guidance to the regulations states that administering 
authorities are encouraged to consider the best way to engage with companies to promote their long-term 
success, either directly, in partnership with other investors or through their investment managers, and explain 
their policy on stewardship with reference to the Stewardship Code. 

▪ Climate change – we note that the ISS includes a good level of detail in relation to climate change, albeit the 
majority is from the Pool. Looking ahead a little, we expect MHCLG to introduce legislation requiring LGPS 
Funds – at Fund level – to report on climate-related risks, under the TCFD (“Taskforce on Climate-related 
Financial Disclosures”) framework. This should therefore be an area the Fund focuses on.  We note that there 
has been an informal consultation thus far, which Aon were party to, and we expect a formal consultation in the 
not too distant future. If you require any further information in relation to the TCFD framework at this stage, then 
please let us know. 

 We note that the exercise of voting rights is delegated to the Brunel Pension Partnership and to appointed 
non-pool managers, which is fine. The ISS notes that voting activity will be published online.  Our observation is 
that raw voting data in itself doesn’t necessarily provide a complete picture – i.e. it may not be clear from the 
number of votes whether this is good or bad. Therefore, if the PC are just seeing these raw numbers it may be 
difficult for them to judge how successfully their managers are acting on asset stewardship. What we find can be 
more informative is to use highlighted case studies of where ‘significant votes’ have been cast, for example 
dissenting against company management, supporting a shareholder resolution, etc. The Fund might therefore 
consider how it presents this data and how it reflects upon it to consider the efficacy of its policies and approach.  
We note that at the March PC, members of the PC did ask for greater clarity around the information provided 
which highlights it can be difficult to understand the complete picture. 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 122



 Governance Review | Delivery – How do you meet your aims? 
 
 

 
Aon  25 
 

Delivery – How do you 
meet your aims? 

In this section we consider whether the Fund: 

▪ has a business plan in place 

▪ are provided with appropriate performance measurement information  

▪ has effective risk management processes and policies in place 

Business Planning 
A Fund's business plan should set out all planned activities in the 
forthcoming period. Those activities: 

▪ should be driven by objectives of the Fund's strategies and policies  

▪ will include activities driven by changes in overriding legislation. 

 The Fund has an annual business plan in place, and it is available on 
the Council's website. The 2021/22 business plan was approved at the 
March 2021 PC meeting and was also presented to the PB at their March 
2021 meeting. We note that the minutes of the PB meeting state that a 
work plan will now be developed to reflect activities at a high level. The 
minutes also state that the PB commended the Pensions team on their 
efforts and stated it was evident that a huge amount of work was being 
undertaken in order to give a clear direction of travel going forward. 

 The Business plan clearly sets out the aims and objectives for the 
management of the Fund and includes high level details of ongoing 
activities and key challenges and influences. The Plan then provides details 
of the key tasks / work plan for 2021/22 setting out the key tasks for each 
quarter and it also includes a training plan.  

 The key tasks and priorities within the business plan do include a large 
number of areas that we would consider business as usual (such as 
production of annual benefit statements and monitoring fund performance 
from an investment perspective).  We find it can be helpful to separately 
identify new requirements (which might include significant changes to 
existing requirements) from those that are business as usual, so the impact 
on resources is much clearer.  For example, an area we would expect to be 
included is TPR's New Code. 

 We also recommend that the business plan be in relation to a three year 
rolling period (albeit years two and three would not need to be split into 
quarters).  This will assist in longer term awareness; for example, being 
clearer when policies or strategies need to be reviewed, or when advisers’ 
contracts are due for retender.  It can also help with understanding the 
resource implications on longer term initiatives, such as implementing 

Page 123



Governance Review | Delivery – How do you meet your aims? 
 
 

   
26  Aon 
 

changes to investment strategy (including responsible investment policy) or 
the McCloud rectification work.  

 We note that the Business Plan for 2021/22 refers to a Risk 
Management Policy amongst a list of the Fund's policies. As mentioned in 
the previous section we are not aware that such a policy currently exists, 
although it may be planned that this is picked up as part of the review of the 
Fund's policies which is scheduled to take place this year. 

Performance Measurement 
Those responsible for governing the Fund should be provided with 
appropriate performance information. Measurements should: 

▪ demonstrate whether the Fund's aims are being achieved 

▪ cover the full range of key areas (e.g. investments, funding, governance, 
communications and administration) 

▪ demonstrate whether the Fund's business plan is being achieved 

▪ be updated in accordance with appropriate timescales 

▪ be presented in a manner that is easy to follow and understandable to 
those governing the Fund 

▪ assist in identifying potential changes to the Fund's business plan, 

 At the March PC meeting, a quarterly update report was presented by 
Matthew Trebilcock, Head of Pensions, which included an update on the 
Fund's investment performance and strategy, funding position and fund 
administration. There was praise from members of the PC regarding the 
information provided from Matthew and it was noted that this was a 
significant improvement on the previous information provided.  

 We were pleased to see that funding and administration were covered 
in the quarterly update report, in addition to investment, as we understand 
that historically a lot of focus at PC has been given to the investment 
performance of the Fund. Whilst investment is obviously important it is also 
critical that the PC are also provided with information in relation to 
monitoring of other areas such as funding, governance, administration and 
communication matters. This ensures that the PC is provided with sufficient 
information to allow them to identify successes or issues in the running of 
the Fund, such as delays in paying or notifying scheme benefits, resourcing 
issues or concerns with employer covenant arrangements. 

This point was also highlighted within the responses to the questionnaires, 
with all respondents stating that sufficient time was spent on investment, 
whereas a number of respondents stated that a bit more time could be 
spent on funding, administration, governance and communications.  

Following the implementation of the updated quarterly update report it is 
important that the PC ensure that they take sufficient interest in all aspects 
of the running the Fund and that funding, administration, governance and 
communications are given appropriate time at each meeting. 

In general, we recommend that administering authorities review their wider 
monitoring arrangements to ensure all of the Fund's aims and objectives as 

Page 124



 Governance Review | Delivery – How do you meet your aims? 
 
 

 
Aon  27 
 

articulated in the key strategies and policies are subject to ongoing 
monitoring at appropriate timescales. We would expect this to include 
areas such as: 

▪ regular reporting of turnaround times and more qualitative measures in 
relation to the performance targets set out in the administration strategy 

▪ regular consideration of funding matters, such as funding levels, 
employer covenants and cash-flows, specifically focussed on the key 
objectives of the funding strategy statement 

We would also expect ongoing monitoring reports to share information such 
as: 

▪ identified breaches of the law (both those reported to TPR and those 
simply recorded by the Fund)  

▪ monitoring progress against the Fund's budget including expected 
income and expenditure 

▪ monitoring progress against the Fund's training strategy and plans 

▪ monitoring of key tasks included within the annual business plan. 

It is possible to contain much of this information within a summary 
scorecard or another simple method of indicating at a high level any areas 
that are not meeting the requirements (but equally allowing PC members to 
easily identify how well the Fund is also doing). We note that a number of 
the above areas are included in the Fund's updated quarterly update report.  

Risk Management 
Effective risk management is critical in minimising the impact and/or 
probability of undesirable events and in maximising the realisation of 
opportunities. Risk Management should be: 

▪ aligned with the Fund's aims 

▪ a key consideration in decision making 

▪ systematic or structured 

▪ an integral part of the Administering Authority's processes and 
procedures on a daily basis. 

 As already mentioned, the Fund does not have a specific risk 
management policy in place, although it does have a Fund specific risk 
register which is included within the quarterly PC meeting packs. The risk 
register includes financial, legislative and regulatory, fraud, service 
continuity and governance amongst the risk categories.  Areas of risk 
management are included within the ISS and FSS, but we recommend that 
the Fund should have a specific Risk Management Policy in place with 
appropriately documented internal controls. This is a key element of the 
day to day management of the Fund and is expected to be in place 
according to: 

▪ CIPFA's guidance to managing risk in the LGPS (which particularly 
highlights that there is a great deal more to risk management in the LGPS 
than simply investment risk) 

▪  CIPFA's Myners LGPS guidance 

▪ The Pensions Regulator's Code of Practice. 

Page 125



Governance Review | Delivery – How do you meet your aims? 
 
 

   
28  Aon 
 

 As part of the Risk Management Policy, the Administering Authority 
may want to consider reviewing how their risks are considered by 
establishing a target risk rating.  This can be particularly effective given 
that retaining an element of risk can sometimes be advantageous from a 
pension fund perspective, and therefore it is important not to try to reduce 
all risks to the lowest rating.  This approach is referred to in CIPFA's 
guidance to managing risk in the LGPS.  
 It is worth highlighting that the responses to the questionnaire do 
appear to show that the majority of the PC members feel they understand 
the key risks to the Fund and feel that the risk register which is discussed 
at each quarterly meeting is useful in monitoring and managing the key 
risks to the Fund. 
 

Page 126



 Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making? 
 
 

 
Aon  29 
 

Decisions – Do you have 
effective decision making? 

In this section we consider whether the Fund: 

▪ has an appropriate governance structure 

▪ has people with the appropriate level of knowledge and skills 

▪ has people with appropriate behaviours needed to make the governance 
effective. 

Appropriate governance structure 
There is no one 'correct' governance structure.  The Administering 
Authority's structure should: 

▪ have clear terms of reference 

▪ have a clearly documented scheme of delegation 

▪ allow decision making at the appropriate level 

▪ allow quick decision making where appropriate 

▪ include appropriate representation from stakeholders 

▪ ensure there is sufficient diversity of thought/approach amongst those 
tasked with making decisions 

▪ involve well-presented information/reports 

▪ allow sufficient time for discussion where necessary 

▪ have good quality (committee) administration (e.g. issuing papers in good 
time) 

▪ involve a process for managing conflicts 

▪ provide transparency to stakeholders where appropriate. 

These elements are considered in this section.  

The function of the PC 
 The Gloucestershire County Council Constitution (part 3.4) states that: 
"The purpose of the Pensions Committee is to give advice on the proper 
management of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund and carry out the 
function of the Council as Administering Authority." 

The Constitution then sets out the key duties of the PC and how the PC 
membership is made up (see comments on this below). 

 In relation to the key duties these are also included within the Fund's 
Governance Policy Statement although we note that one duty set out in the 
Constitution is not currently included within the Terms of Reference set out 
in the Governance Policy Statement.  

 

Page 127



Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making? 
 
 

   
30  Aon 
 

This is as follows: 

"To undertake such tasks as the Committee thinks appropriate to progress 
implementation of investment pooling, and to take such decisions and do 
all other things deemed necessary in order to promote the interests of the 
County Council with respect to investment pooling, which without limitation 
shall include agreeing and authorising any documentation, contracts, terms 
of reference, financial expenditure or investment that may be required 
consequential upon the County Council’s participation in the Brunel 
Pension Partnership." 

We recommend that the Governance Policy Statement is updated to 
ensure that it is consistent with the latest wording in the Constitution as part 
of its next review. 

 We note that the duties of the PC set out in the Constitution are 
relatively wide ranging.  However, one observation we do have is that the 
majority of the duties are investment focused, and there is limited reference 
to duties relating to administration, communication and governance 
matters. We recognise this is covered by point 3 of the duties of the PC in 
part 3.4 of the Constitution, which refers to considering any other matter 
relevant to the proper operation and management of the Fund. However, 
this could be made more explicit, and you might want to consider including 
a number of other explicit non-investment duties as well. For example, 
there is no explicit mention of areas such as agreeing and monitoring the 
Administration Strategy, Communications Policy or the Fund's business 
plan and budget (other than the PB's).  This latter point is a key 
recommendation in the SAB Good Governance review.  We therefore 
recommend a review of the duties of the PC as set out in the Constitution.  

The function of the PB 

 We note that the responsibilities of the PB are clearly stated in the 
Council's Constitution, the Governance Policy and are consistent with the 
LGPS regulations.  We note that the Terms of Reference includes all the 
key points that we would expect to see included, subject to our comments 
below about the number of meetings each year which the Terms of 
Reference currently states will be no less than twice per annum. 

Clearly documented Scheme of Delegation 
 The Council’s Scheme of Delegation is clearly set out in Section 5 of 
Part 3 of the Constitution. As with all Councils, the Constitution includes 
elements such as Financial regulations. There are very few specific 
mentions in relation to pension fund matters and therefore we assume 
some of the generic areas contained within those elements apply equally to 
the pension fund management. The specific mentions that do exist are very 
broad – for example, the Executive Director of Corporate Resources is 
responsible for “the functions, duties or powers of the Pensions Committee” 
in consultation with the Chair of the Pensions Committee for all decisions 
with financial implications over £250,000, and also “to operate the Local 
Government Superannuation Regulations, including the exercise of 
discretion under those Regulations”.  We recommend revisiting these two 
points to ensure they are understood and clear (for example, the point 
relating to exercising discretion under the regulations should refer to the 

Page 128



 Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making? 
 
 

 
Aon  31 
 

correct regulations, be clear about it being administering authority 
discretions, and also be aligned with the Discretionary Policy).  

There is also reference to the Assistant Director of Legal Services being 
the adjudicator for disputes under the Local Government Pension Scheme.  
This needs to be updated to clarify whether this is in relation to Stage 1 or 
Stage 2 of the Internal Dispute Resolution Procedure for the Fund. 

We acknowledge that on a day to day basis many of the operational 
aspects within these procedure rules will be delegated to officers such as 
the Head of Pensions. As this is a high-level review, we have not 
considered this onward delegation, how it is formally delegated or any 
financial controls relating to it, but you might want to consider whether a 
more pensions specific Scheme of Delegation with a bit more explicit detail 
on specific responsibilities would be useful for the Fund.  This could be 
approved on an ongoing basis by the PC, and included as part of the 
Fund's Governance Policy. 

We note that one of the recommendations of the SAB Good Governance 
review is that each administering authority must have a single named 
officer ("the LGPS senior officer") who is responsible for the delivery of all 
LGPS related activity for that fund. Further details of the core requirements 
of the LGPS senior officer are included in the SAB Good Governance 
report albeit these are still subject to MHCLG's confirmation within statutory 
guidance. We recommend that once the MHCLG publishes its statutory 
guidance setting out details of how funds should implement the proposals 
of the SAB Good Governance review that the Fund reviews its Constitution 
and sets out within this who the LGPS senior officer is. However, without 
attempting to pre-empt any such review, it would seem to us that in the 
case of the Gloucestershire Pension Fund, the Head of Pensions is by far 
the most likely role to be appropriate for this LGPS Senior Officer position. 

Appropriate representation 
 It is good practice for Administering Authorities to allow some 
representation for scheme members and employers.  

The Constitution states that the PC is made up of: 

– Seven County Councillors – with voting rights 

– One voting district council representative  

– One non-voting scheme member representative  

We understand that the number of County Councillors has recently been 
increased from 6 to 7.  We note that the Governance Policy Statement 
currently refers to 6 County Councillors so this should be updated to reflect 
the change in the Constitution. 

We further note that the Constitution refers to a non-voting scheme 
member representative, whereas the Governance Policy Statement states 
that this representative also represents pensioners and deferred members. 
We suggest that this is clarified in the Constitution as part of a review of the 
Constitution that we have recommended.  

▪ The PB is made up of: 

– Chair (not a Gloucestershire County Councillor) 

– Three employer representatives 

– Three scheme member representatives  

Page 129



Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making? 
 
 

   
32  Aon 
 

– One of the employer or member representatives should be a County 
Councillor appointed annually at a meeting of Full Council. 

 We observe that whilst there is a reasonable range of stakeholders 
across these two bodies it is noticeable that the PC has limited 
representatives from outside of Gloucestershire County Council. The Fund 
has over 200 active employers and we suggest that it is worth considering 
whether the PC could have greater representation from other employers in 
the Fund. This could include the other borough councils, colleges, 
universities, admission bodies, academies / multi academy trusts (noting 
that there are a large number of these participating in the Fund) or a 
specific sub-set (for example, non-local authority employers).  We note that 
on other LGPS funds a number of Pension Committees have more than 
one employer representative, and that they are nominated by the 
employers who participate in the fund (other than the main local 
authorities).  The SAB Good Governance review has recommended that all 
funds be required to produce and publish a policy on the representation of 
scheme members and non-administering authorities on committees, 
explaining their approach to voting rights for each party.   

It is also worth recognising that expanding the membership of the PC could 
also assist with the diversity, equality and inclusion aspects of the PC.  It 
was interesting that within the questionnaire responses there was a belief 
that the current PC has a lack of diversity in its members. It was noted that 
whilst individual knowledge and backgrounds of the PC members appear to 
be diverse, the gender and BAME balance is poor. In addition, it was noted 
that there are no pensioner representatives on the current PC.   

Whilst recognising that there is no single ‘correct’ structure, and noting that 
political factors should not be relevant in PC meetings as pensions is a 
non-executive function and there is an overriding fiduciary duty to scheme 
members (albeit also noting the fact that PC membership must reflect the 
political make-up of the County Council as a whole), we recommend that 
the PC increases the number of employer representatives from one to two, 
and also considers increasing the number of scheme member 
representatives from one to two as well. To maintain the appropriate 
representation from the administering authority, we recommend that the 
chair and vice-chair are elected from, and voted on by, the County 
Councillor members only. These additional non-County Councillor roles 
could be either voting or non-voting on all other matters brought to the 
Committee. We also note that, as always, this is subject to ensuring that 
the Council’s Democratic Services are comfortable that the proposed 
changes are fully compliant with their understanding of how the PC should 
be constituted. 

Sufficient diversity of thought/approach amongst those tasked 
with making decisions 
 We have not specifically considered this as part of this review but given 
the increasing focus on diversity, equality and inclusion (and also we note it 
is included in TPR's draft New Code), we think this is an area the Fund 
should consider further for both the PC and PB (and also within the officer 
teams).   Diversity is not just about gender or race, and so it is important to 

Page 130



 Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making? 
 
 

 
Aon  33 
 

also consider wider aspects such as diversity of thought and approach to 
decision making.  We believe this is an area the Fund should consider 
further as part of a skills analysis (perhaps linked to the training needs 
analysis we recommend later in this report). 

Appropriate level of decision making and quick decision 
making where appropriate 
It is important that decisions are made at the appropriate level and that the 
governance structure is flexible enough to ensure that decisions can be 
made in a timely manner.  

 The PC is the main body with responsibility for making decisions for the 
Fund and as part of this review, we have not identified any concerns 
around how decisions are made at the PC.  The questionnaire responses 
are generally positive around the way that decisions are made. 

 However as mentioned previously, you might want to consider whether 
to develop a more pensions specific Scheme of Delegation with more 
explicit detail on specific responsibilities would be useful for the Fund.  This 
could be approved on an ongoing basis by the PC, and included as part of 
the Fund's Governance Policy.  Examples of what this might include would 
be how urgent matters are decided between meetings or responses to 
Consultations which also do not fit with meeting cycles, and what 
information is captured to report back to the next PC meeting. 

Pension Committee 

 We observed that the PC meeting was well chaired, and this was 
echoed in the responses to the questionnaire where all respondents stated 
that the meetings are well chaired. However, we note that this was the last 
meeting for the current chair so it will be important that the new chair is 
given appropriate support to ensure that the meetings continue to be as 
efficient and effective.  

 We note that the responses to the questionnaire were generally positive 
in relation to the efficiency of the meetings and the way that decisions are 
made. All respondents stated that the level of discussion at the meetings 
was about right. Two out of the five respondents did state that sometimes 
they feel there is insufficient opportunity to ask questions or raise concerns 
but none of them stated that they feel inhibited about asking questions at 
the meetings so perhaps the insufficient opportunity relates to a lack of 
time. All respondents stated that the recommendations are appropriately 
discussed ahead of making a decision. This is consistent with what we 
observed at the March meeting. 

Pension Board 

 We observed that the PB meeting was well chaired, and this was 
echoed in the responses to the questionnaire where all respondents stated 
that the meetings are well chaired.  

 However, we observed very limited participation from the PB members 
at the meeting we attended. We noted that half of the members did not 
speak during the meeting and another member only spoke once. This 
meant that only a limited number of members contributed to the meeting. 
We recognise that this was the first meeting for a number of members, and 
they hadn't received induction training in advance of the meeting. We would 
therefore expect participation to be a bit less engaging at this meeting than 
would ’normally’ be the case.  We therefore suggest that the Chair monitors 
this with a view to encouraging greater interaction, because if this 

Page 131



Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making? 
 
 

   
34  Aon 
 

continues to happen regularly at PB meetings even after members have 
undertaken appropriate training, this would raise concerns about the 
engagement of the PB and the appropriateness of any decisions being 
made by the PB. 

 The responses to the questionnaire were generally positive in relation to 
the efficiency of the meetings. However, we note that only 3 of the 7 PB 
members completed the questionnaire so it is possible that the results of 
the questionnaire do not fully reflect the views of the whole PB. This is also 
indicative of the lack of engagement shown in the meeting itself, and 
suggests that not all PB members are as enthusiastic about their role as we 
would ideally like – we recommend that ways to improve PB engagement / 
commitment should be considered further.  

 In the questionnaire responses all three respondents stated that they 
are given sufficient opportunity to ask questions although one respondent 
did state that meetings are sometimes dominated by certain individuals. 

 We are aware that some PB members have attended PC meetings in 
the past. We strongly encourage PB members to continue to attend PC 
meetings, and that they take the opportunity to ask (appropriate) questions 
within those meetings. We also recommend that PB minutes (or a short 
summary report) are taken to PC meetings for information / consideration. 

 We note that the PB meeting was a public meeting. Legally, the PB 
meetings do not have to follow local authority requirements, and as such 
we wondered whether consideration could be given to having non-public 
PB meetings as we thought that the formalities of a public meeting may 
have put off some members from fully participating in the meeting.  We 
observe that for some other LGPS Funds non-public PB meetings have a 
greater level of engagement. 

Well-presented information/reports 
Pension Committee 

 Information and reports are provided to the PC by the officers and 
various advisers. As mentioned in the previous section the quarterly update 
report presented by the Head of Pensions has recently been updated. 
Positive comments on this report were made within the PC and within the 
responses to the questionnaire, and our view is also that the information 
and reports are well constructed and presented. In addition, when 
observing the PC in March 2021, we were pleased to see a high level of 
interaction between PC members, officers and advisers. 

 This view is backed up by the findings of the questionnaire, with the 
majority of responses saying that all officers and advisers were 
understandable, and that the information presented within the reports or 
with reports was "about right". However, we feel that it is worth pulling out a 
couple of points made in the questionnaires. These are as follows: 

 One respondent stated that it would be helpful to have more executive 
summaries of the information provided, with more detailed information 
provided behind them, enabling readers to more quickly review the 
reports whilst still being able to delve deeper if required. 

 Two out of the five respondents stated that they sometimes don't 
understand the information provided by Officers in relation to 
Governance.  As mentioned later, we are recommending a training 
needs analysis be carried out to identify specific areas where there is 

Page 132



 Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making? 
 
 

 
Aon  35 
 

lack of knowledge, and this should be considered as part of an ongoing 
training plan. 

 Two out of the five respondents stated that they feel that they could do 
with seeing Officers involved in administration / operations more often, 
which comes back to the points made earlier about PC meetings 
historically being too focussed on investment matters at the expense of 
other areas. 

 The responses to the questionnaire were generally positive in relation to 
how well the PC meetings have moved to being virtual. 

 We note that a number of responses to the questionnaire state that 
communication from the Brunel Pension Partnership is poor. The 
responses included a view that generally there was lack of communication 
from the Brunel Pension Partnership and a separate response stated that 
when the PC are provided with information from BPP via a presentation 
there can be a lack of opportunity to ask questions.  

Pension Board 

 At the March meeting that we observed, the Head of Pensions provided 
a clear and concise summary of pension fund updates and presented the 
reports extremely well. This had quite a strong focus on investments but did 
cover administration and current pension hot topics as well. 

 We recommend that non-investment topics are given sufficient time and 
focus by the PB. This is of particular importance for the PB given that their 
key role, as set out in their Terms of Reference, is to ensure compliance 
with the LGPS regulations and any other legislation and guidance relating 
to the governance and administration of the fund.  The PB do not legally 
have any responsibility in relation to investment matters (albeit it is 
recognised that there is a role in relation to governance of all matters 
including investments). 

Sufficient time for discussion  
Pension Committee 

 Based on the meeting we observed and the responses to the 
questionnaire, there generally appears to be appropriate time to discuss all 
the items on the agenda in an appropriate level of detail.   

 However, we do note that in the responses to the questionnaire it was 
noted that certain areas could be looked at in more detail if more time was 
available, including monitoring of the Brunel Pension Partnership and also 
environmental issues and their impact of investment. In relation to the latter 
point we note that Responsible Investment Reporting and a review of the 
Fund's Responsible Investment Policy forms a key part of the Fund's 
2021/22 business plan so we assume that sufficient time will be given to 
this very topical and complex area in future meetings. 

Pension Board 

 We note that the PB currently meet only twice a year and the meetings 
generally last around 2 hours. Although this is in line with the minimum 
number of meetings set out in their Terms of Reference, our personal view 

Page 133



Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making? 
 
 

   
36  Aon 
 

is that (and based on what we see at other LGPS Funds) we do not think 
that this is sufficient, and may help to explain the apparent lack of 
engagement of the PB members. TPR has also publicly stated that they 
recommend that there are four PB meetings a year.  We note however, that 
in the March 2021 meeting it was proposed that the PB moves to quarterly 
meetings. There was an action from the meeting to see how this could be 
best implemented. We would strongly support this change. We recommend 
that the PB also considers whether it would be useful to also extend the 
length of the meetings, although we do note that the three respondents of 
the survey did state that they thought the length of the meetings was about 
right. It might therefore be better to focus on the move to quarterly 
meetings for now, and if that doesn’t appear to help then the meeting 
length could be extended at a later date if necessary. 

Good quality (committee) administration  
 In common with most local authorities, the Administering Authority 
appear to be very good at administration with: 

▪ all reports being issued at least five working days in advance of meetings, 

▪ minutes signed off as a true record by the PC, 

▪ well laid out reports with clear recommendations, and 

▪ meeting agenda, reports and minutes available on the Council's website. 

Although the reports are all issued at least five working days in advance of 
meetings, we recommend considering any large reports or significant 
matters are, where possible, communicated earlier than this to ensure 
appropriate time for consideration. This was mentioned in the responses to 
the questionnaire. 

Managing conflicts of interest 
Pension Committee 

Each Gloucestershire County Council elected member and any co-opted 
member is required to declare and register any pecuniary and non-
pecuniary interested using methods the County Council has provided, as 
well as removing themselves from positions of influence when an interest is 
apparent.  

However, there will be examples whereby a member does not have a clear 
pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest as defined by the Council's Code of 
Conduct, but instead has a personal or professional conflict of interest that 
needs to be managed appropriately (for example, having separate 
responsibility for an employer who participates in the Fund). 

In this example, there may be circumstances where it is necessary for PC 
members (administering authority elected members) to balance their 
employing authority responsibilities (e.g. maintaining local service 
provision) against their administering authority responsibilities (e.g. 
ensuring appropriate payments by all employers into the Fund). This could 
potentially extend to political views whereby some councillors may have 
different views than other councillors from differing political parties, for 
example, in relation to investment in local infrastructure or environmental, 
social and governance (ESG) matters. The potential for interests that could 

Page 134



 Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making? 
 
 

 
Aon  37 
 

conflict with Fund matters, and this ultimate responsibility, should always 
be recognised and managed appropriately. A Fund Conflicts of Interest 
Policy could ensure this point is clear to all involved. It is, however, worth 
highlighting that this would not necessarily require individuals to be 
removed from meetings and/or decision making. 

 We note that the Fund does not currently have a Conflicts of Interest 
Policy in place. As mentioned earlier in the policy review section of this 
report, although this is not (yet) explicit in legislation, we believe that it 
would be good practice to have a Fund specific Conflicts of Interest Policy 
applying to all stakeholders, and this is mentioned as part of the CIPFA 
annual report guidance.  This should highlight differences between the 
Council's requirements in relation to declarations for elected members and 
officers as well as ensuring other parties (observers and advisers) are fully 
aware of expectations. 

We note that one of the key recommendations of the SAB Good 
Governance review is that each Fund must produce and publish a Conflicts 
of Interest Policy. 

 Responses to the questionnaire in relation to conflicts of interest were a 
bit mixed. Two of the five respondents stated that they understood conflicts 
of interest in relation to pension fund matters and it has been clearly 
explained to them, two of the five respondents stated that they understood 
conflicts of interest in relation to pension fund matters but it has not been 
specifically explained to them and one respondent stated that he didn't 
understand conflicts of interest in relation to pension fund matters as it has 
not been explained to him. We recommend specific training on this to 
ensure all members have the correct level of understanding in this area. 

 Clearly there are some positive elements in relation to the existing 
arrangements and it was pleasing that in the March 2021 meeting we 
observed that a member of the PC did declare a potential conflict of interest 
in relation to an agenda item and this was well managed by the Chair.  

However, we believe this is an area that could be improved upon, 
particularly in relation to potential conflicts of interest that are Fund specific 
and may not therefore be highlighted through the Council's Conflict of 
Interest Policy. The CIPFA Guidance for LGPS Funds in Preparing the 
Annual Report refers to the information contained within the Fund's 
Governance Compliance Statement including their "policy and processes 
for managing any conflicts of interest". It is also a key area of interest for 
both the Scheme Advisory Board and in The Pension Regulator's 
Guidance, albeit more focussed on PB members.   

Clearly this is not a legal requirement but, as mentioned earlier in this 
report, we encourage the Administering Authority to develop a Fund 
specific policy outlining how conflicts of interest will be managed and dealt 
with at a Fund level. This could include reference to: 

▪ the Council's Code of Conduct 

▪ how it relates to co-optees and observers 

▪ examples of Fund specific potential conflicts of interest  

Page 135



Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making? 
 
 

   
38  Aon 
 

▪ how conflicts of interest (and potential conflicts of interest) will be 
managed 

▪ guidance for officers and advisers of the Fund to also adhere to. 

 

Pension Board 

 The Terms of Reference for the PB states that the principles included in 
the County Council's Member Code of Conduct applies to all members of 
the PB and states that the County Council's Conflicts of Interest policy shall 
apply to members of the PB. This is a requirement for PBs within Scheme 
Advisory Board guidance and in The Pensions Regulator's Code.  
However, as stated above we recommend that the Fund has its own 
Conflicts of Interest policy that applies to all stakeholders. This should 
include the PB. 

We recommend that this policy is complemented by periodic training in 
relation to Fund specific conflicts of interest, as mentioned above, as well 
as being compulsory for new PC and PB members as well as Fund officers. 

Transparency to Stakeholders 
As with all public services, it is important that stakeholders have 
appropriate access to Fund information, including regarding the 
governance of the Fund. In this regard the Administering Authority's 
activities are appropriately driven by local authority legislation, for example: 

▪ the requirement to provide public access to meetings (except for exempt 
items), and 

▪ the requirement that all reports, agendas and minutes are to be published 
(except for exempt information). 

In addition, the LGPS regulations require each Administering Authority to 
produce and publish an annual report and accounts providing key financial 
information, management information and strategies. This requirement is 
enhanced by the (non-statutory) CIPFA Guidance for LGPS Funds in 
Preparing the Annual Report.   

 Our observations are that the Administering Authority demonstrates 
compliance with all of these requirements as well as stakeholder 
involvement being enhanced through the PC and PB membership.     

 As mentioned earlier in this report we recommend that the Fund 
considers setting up its own website rather than occupying part of the 
Council’s website. This would make it easier for stakeholders to obtain 
information about the Fund, and when considering this, the Fund should 
consider good practice relating to diversity, equality and inclusion. This 
website could then include clear links to the following information relating to 
the governance of the Fund: 

▪ all of the Fund's key strategies and policies 

▪ the Annual Report and Accounts 

▪ links to PC reports, agendas and minutes. 

Page 136



 Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making? 
 
 

 
Aon  39 
 

Generally, there are few items that are considered exempt from the public 
at PC meetings, such as items related to manager monitoring and 
employer updates. We are observing less manager monitoring papers 
being exempt at PCs, and so recommend that the Council continues to 
review whether this is necessary. Any proposed change may require the 
Council to speak to any consultants preparing this information to help them 
understand the legal requirements around when papers should be exempt. 

Skills and knowledge 
A critical element of good governance is the need for those managing the 
Fund to have the appropriate level of knowledge and skills. The current 
requirements relating to training of PC members and officers of LGPS 
Funds are included in the following documents: 

▪ CIPFA Code of Practice on public sector pensions finance knowledge 
and skills 

▪ CIPFA Knowledge and Skills Framework – Elected representatives and 
non-executives 

▪ CIPFA Knowledge and Skills Framework - Officers 

As mentioned previously, new versions of these CIPFA documents are due 
to be released imminently.  In addition, Scheme Advisory Board's Guidance 
and The Pensions Regulator's Code of Practice, (albeit focussed on PB 
knowledge and skills legal requirements), highlight the need for the 
Administering Authority to have appropriate policies and procedures in 
place to ensure a high level of knowledge and skills. 

Though adhering to the CIPFA documents is not statutory, the Code is a 
professional standard and therefore should be complied with.  The 
frameworks are considered good practice.  There is increasing acceptance 
of the need for high levels of knowledge as well as increasing scrutiny of 
this by PC members and officers. The key elements of the CIPFA 
requirements are that Administering Authorities: 

▪ clearly articulate the knowledge and skills requirements in a Fund policy 

▪ provide ongoing training in an effective and suitable manner to meet 
those requirements 

▪ regularly review whether knowledge aspirations are being met 

▪ ensure that they rely appropriately on officers and advisers to provide 
expert knowledge. 

These elements are considered in this section. Our focus within this section 
is on the requirements relating to PC and PB members.   

In addition, we note that a recommendation of the SAB Good Governance 
review is to introduce a requirement for key individuals within the LGPS, 
including LGPS officers and PC members, to have the appropriate level of 
knowledge and understanding to carry out their duties effectively. Within 
this recommendation there are then some further details including a 
requirement for s151 officers to carry out LGPS relevant training as part of 
their CPD requirements, and for administering authorities to publish a 

Page 137



Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making? 
 
 

   
40  Aon 
 

policy setting out their approach to the delivery, assessment and recoding 
of training plans. 

Before drilling down into the detail though, it is worth highlighting that the 
results of the questionnaire do show that some respondents consider their 
role on the PC to be difficult and stressful at times. This highlights the 
importance of providing good quality ongoing training.  

Clearly articulated knowledge and skills requirements in a 
Fund policy 

 As mentioned in the policy review section, the Administering Authority 
has a Training Strategy that was very recently put in place in April 2021. 
This sets out the Fund's policy in relation to training covering the PC, PB, 
Fund officers and participating employers. We were very pleased to see 
that this strategy has been recently implemented. It will be important to 
ensure that the policy is fully bedded in over time, and fully bought into by 
all members. The officers will then need to keep track of the training 
undertaken and ensure that the Training Strategy is kept under regular 
review. We note that a Training Plan for 2021/2022 to 2022/23 has been 
drafted. 

Pension Committee 

 The responses to the questionnaire in relation to training were largely 
positive. Four of the five respondents stated that they are either given 
sufficient training or almost given sufficient training with one or two areas 
requiring more training. One respondent has just become involved in the 
PC and hasn't been provided with any training yet, but we assume that a 
plan is in place for this member to be given appropriate training. The areas 
highlighted where some more training may be required are as follows: 

 Update on legislative changes (the response noted that sometimes 
there can be a bit of a time lag between legislative changes being 
made and training on them being provided) 

 Refresher on investment theory (the response suggested that the 
option of a yearly refresher would be helpful) 

 Risk register (the response stated that it would be useful to get some 
training on the individual items rather than just the importance of having 
one) 

 Employer responsibilities. 

Pension Board 

 The responses to the questionnaire in relation to training were mixed. 
One respondent stated that they feel that they are given sufficient training, 
one respondent stated that that feel that they are almost given sufficient 
training but one or two areas could do with more training, whilst one 
respondent who was relatively new to the PB stated that no training has 
been provided since the member has joined the PB.  The lack of training 
was highlighted by a PB member at the March 2021 meeting that we 
observed. 

Page 138



 Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making? 
 
 

 
Aon  41 
 

 We have been provided with a spreadsheet summarising the training 
sessions attended by members of the PC, PB and Officers. For the PB 
members no training is shown after 2018. We are unsure if this is because 
no training for PB members has taken place since 2018 or that these 
records are not up to date. Either way we recommend that this is reviewed 
to ensure that sufficient training is provided to PB members. It is also 
important to ensure that not only is the training being monitored, but that it 
ties in with the relevant competencies.   

Providing ongoing training in an effective and suitable manner 
to meet those requirements 
We believe it is important to provide a wide range of training opportunities 
to PC and PB members via a range of different approaches. For example, 
in addition to ensuring that PC members are aware of all the key elements 
of managing the Fund, we believe it is important that they have the 
opportunity to learn about areas that the Administering Authority may not 
currently be focussed on. A key skill of a good PC member is to be able to 
identify where information is not provided in reports, and therefore to be 
able to ask questions relating to alternative options that are not under 
consideration (i.e. turning the unknown unknowns into known unknowns).   

Pension Committee 

 It was noted in the responses to the questionnaire that training 
opportunities over the past 12 months were a bit limited due to the 
pandemic, which is understandable. Face to face training sessions were 
generally seen as the most useful training method, but the respondents 
were generally positive to most methods of providing training. We note that 
over the past 12 months, four out of the five respondents had made use of 
internal training (and the one other respondent is a new member) but only 
one member had attended either an external training session, conference, 
on-line training or telephone conference briefing. We appreciate that it has 
been difficult over the past 12 months but we are aware of a number of 
conferences and external training sessions that have taken place virtually 
so it is important to ensure that all PC members feel that they are given 
sufficient information and opportunity to attend these sessions. 

Pension Board 

 Similar views were generally provided by the PB with respondents 
stating that training opportunities over the past 12 months have been 
limited due to the pandemic. One respondent stated that training sessions 
were previously provided alongside PC but that these have not happened 
for a while. 

Both 

 The draft Training Plan appears to include a good number of training 
opportunities and ensures that the training covers the CIPFA requirements, 
is in line with the Fund's business plan and covers current issues including 
the SAB Good Governance review, ESG and Responsible Investment 
compliance and the latest developments within the Brunel Pension 
Partnership.  

Page 139



Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making? 
 
 

   
42  Aon 
 

 We note that, in common with many other LGPS Funds, the focus of the 
draft Training Plan is on PC and PB members, rather than officers. Clearly 
officers' skills sometimes need to be at quite a different level than PC and 
PB members. We note that officers are included in the Fund's Training 
Strategy and we recommend that officers also regularly attend external 
events which we consider to be useful to maintaining appropriate 
knowledge.   

We further note that in the Training attendance spreadsheet that we have 
been provided with the only officer shown is Matthew Trebilcock. We 
recommend that training records of all Fund officers is included in this 
spreadsheet. 

Regularly review whether knowledge aspirations are being met 

 The draft Training Plan does attempt to focus the planned future 
training on areas such as the CIPFA knowledge and skills framework, the 
Business Plan and other current important topics, and in this regard is a 
huge improvement in how the Fund focusses its training. However, as 
mentioned above, it is not just about planning future training – it is also 
critically important to ensure that historic and ongoing training is monitored 
and assessed accordingly (across all PC members, PB members and 
Officers) to: 

 ensure it is understood which competencies each person has got, and  

 to clearly highlight areas where any knowledge gaps lie  

so that future training sessions can be appropriately targeted to fill those 
gaps.  We strongly recommend that a training needs analysis is completed 
to identify where any knowledge gaps lie so that future training sessions 
can be appropriately targeted to fill those gaps as well as any 
competencies that have not been previously covered. 

Rely appropriately on officers and advisers to provide expert 
knowledge 
Given very few PC members are pension professionals, it would generally 
be risky for PC members to make decisions on their own purely based on 
the training given to them. The Administering Authority therefore provides a 
wide range of experts for the PC members to tap into; officers, consultants 
and an independent investment adviser, as well as also engaging with 
Fund Managers to utilise their expertise. 

Pension Committee 

 We observed that the input from the Head of Pensions at the March 
2021 PC meeting was very positive with extremely useful and clear 
introductions to each report. As previously mentioned, the updated 
quarterly report was well received by members and this was echoed in the 
responses to the questionnaire. 

Page 140



 Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making? 
 
 

 
Aon  43 
 

 It is not clear to the extent that the PC have sight of other officers, e.g. 
Chief Finance Officer (S151 officer), Director of Finance, Head of 
Administration etc. One respondent to the questionnaire noted that the PC 
rarely have any direct contract or briefings from the Head of Administration 
of the Fund and feel like this may be useful.  

Behaviour 
A good governance structure will not be effective unless it involves the right 
people with the right attitude. Individuals should: 

▪ have a high level of attendance at meetings and training 

▪ demonstrate integrity in relation to their Fund role 

▪ be engaged and provide appropriate challenge 

▪ be accountable for the decisions made 

▪ highlight any potential conflicts they may have 

▪ for a Chairperson, manage the meetings fairly without any bias to 
individuals or self and enable all attendees to express their views or 
opinions openly  

▪ prepare adequately for meetings. 

These elements are considered in this section. Much of the information 
derives from observations of the PC and PB at the March 2021 meetings. It 
also captures particular themes from the Questionnaire completed by PC 
and PB members.   

Attendance at Meetings 
Pension Committee 

 The PC meeting in March 2021 was well attended with all but one PC 
member present. We have been provided with PC attendance records 
since 2010 and these demonstrate strong ongoing attendance historically 
as well. PC members should note that they are required to show high levels 
of attendance to both PC meetings and any training organised for them. 

Pension Board 

 The PB meeting in March 2021 was well attended. The attendance 
records appear to be incomplete for the 2019 and 2020 meetings, so we 
are unsure of the general level of attendance at these meetings. 

General Behaviour 
This element can be easily aligned with the General Principles of Public 
Life which are adopted by Gloucestershire County Council as part of their 
members' Code of Conduct. These principles are: 

1. Selflessness 

2. Integrity 

3. Objectivity 

4. Accountability 

5. Openness 

6. Honesty  

Page 141



Governance Review | Decisions – Do you have effective decision making? 
 
 

   
44  Aon 
 

7. Leadership 

and they also apply to co-opted members. 

There is always a danger that decisions are made by PC without full and 
appropriate discussion, debate and challenge. Equally there is a risk that 
too much time can be spent on matters of little importance/value.  

Pension Committee 

 From our observations at the PC meeting, we could recognise the 
above principles being applied by PC members and officers and felt that 
the balance of discussion was good. Some specific observations are: 

▪ Members demonstrated respect for officers and advisers asking 
questions and allowed appropriate time to hear their views, as well 
acknowledging the workloads of officers. 

▪ Almost all members contributed actively to the discussions and the 
discussions felt very well balanced. There seemed to be a very good 
level of understanding from all members. This was particularly the case 
on the investment side, and we have noted previously in this report that 
the PC should ensure that sufficient time and importance is given to other 
areas, including funding, administration, governance and 
communications. 

▪ Politics were kept out of the discussions to a large extent, which is 
important given that, as mentioned earlier, pensions is a non-executive 
function and there is an overriding fiduciary duty to scheme members. 

▪ Members showed good understanding of conflicts of interest and one 
member declared a potential conflict in relation to one agenda item. The 
Chairman considered this and concluded that there was no need for the 
member to leave the discussion at this point. This was handled very well 
by all parties. 

▪ The Chairman demonstrated strong chairing skills, although as noted 
previously the Chairman has now stepped down from his role. 

▪ The Chairman was clear in ensuring the recommendations were agreed 
prior to moving onto the next agenda item. 

 Given that the Chair of the PC is changing, along with a number of the 
PC members, it is important that the current high level of adherence to the 
key behaviours set out above continues to be monitored. 

Pension Board 

 From our observations at the PB meeting, we could recognise at times 
the above principles generally being applied by PB members. However, as 
mentioned previously a number of the members of the PB did not speak 
during the meeting and we were therefore concerned about the 
engagement of these members and also worried about the balance of 
discussions. We do think the PB could provide greater value to the Fund if 
this aspect is improved and the PB are reminded that their responsibilities 
include the behavioural aspects as highlighted above.  

  
 

 

Page 142



 Governance Review | Effectiveness Questionnaires 
 
 

 
Aon  45 
 

Effectiveness 
Questionnaires 

 

As part of any governance review, it is also extremely helpful to understand 
the views of those involved with the governance of the Fund. An 
effectiveness questionnaire was therefore given to all the PC members 
which focussed on the effectiveness of the PC. A separate questionnaire 
was also issued to PB members relating to the effectiveness of the PB.   

The questionnaires considered areas such as the length of the meetings, 
how topics are presented, whether the members feel confident when 
making recommendations or decisions and how well they feel they 
understand risk and strategy.   

The PC questionnaire was completed by 5 persons (out of a possible 8), 
and the PB questionnaire was completed by only 3 persons (out of a 
possible 7). Both completion figures were slightly disappointing, particularly 
the PB figure. We appreciate that the questionnaire is quite detailed, but we 
believe that to get the most out of this exercise the Fund needs to capture 
as much information as possible and obtain views from the vast majority of 
PC and PB members. 

The results of the questionnaire from those who did respond have been 
analysed and the results are included in Appendix B. We have also 
included a number of comments on this in the previous sections, and 
further observations are included within this section. These tend to relate to 
areas where similar comments have been received from multiple people, 
evidencing consistency in views. 

Pension Committee  
Overall, the responses from the PC were very positive about the level of 
discussion as well as the belief by all of respondents that the PC adds 
value. Also, there was a strong positive view about the Chair of the PC 
(albeit that individual has now retired from his position). 

There are a number of areas where common views were expressed and 
we suggest are considered part of any action plan arising from this report, 
include:  

▪ There was a view that sufficient time is not necessarily given to 
administration, communications, governance and funding, as there has 
been a tendency to focus on investment matters. 

▪ There was a view that the communication and involvement from the 
Brunel Pension Partnership could be improved. 

▪ There was a belief that the current PC has a lack of diversity in its 
members. It was noted that whilst individual knowledge and backgrounds 
of the PC members appear to be diverse, the gender and BAME balance 

Page 143



Governance Review | Effectiveness Questionnaires 
 
 

   
46  Aon 
 

is poor. In addition, it was noted that there are no pensioner 
representatives on the current PC. 

▪ Responses from PC members suggested there is a strong understanding 
of risk management, noting the risk register is discussed and reviewed at 
every PC meeting.  

▪ Two of the five respondents stated that they sometimes feel there is 
insufficient opportunity to ask questions or raise concerns at meetings.  
As noted above, there was a fairly low response rate to the questionnaire 
for PC members, which could also suggest a possible lack of 
engagement (which we appreciate could be due to a lack of time). We 
recommend that a focus is placed on ensuring all members are 
encouraged to actively participate in meetings and Fund related events.  

▪ Responses from PC members suggested there was limited opportunity to 
catch up when members missed a meeting, with three of the respondents 
stating that they did not think there was an opportunity to catch up and 
the other two respondents stating that they thought there was appropriate 
opportunity to catch up but that they didn't tend to utilise that opportunity. 

▪ Responses from PC members suggested that a lack of time to properly 
absorb and process the large amount of information provided is a 
concern, and there was a suggestion that a better way to gain secure 
access to the information at home would be very helpful.  

▪ Responses from PC members suggested that training opportunities had 
been limited over the past 12 months. There was suggestion that a 
programme of refresher training would be very helpful. 

Pension Board 
With the limited number of responses to our questionnaire it is difficult to 
draw accurate conclusions from our questionnaire. However, based on the 
3 responses received we believe the overall view from PB members is 
positive about their role on the PB and engagement at meetings and 
accessibility of information.  

There are a number of areas where common views were expressed and 
we suggest are considered as part of any action plan arising from this 
report, including:  

▪ Some of the respondents noted that training could be increased, 
particularly for new members, with PB members noting that training has 
reduced over the past 12 months, presumably due to the pandemic. It 
was further noted that there were some concerns about the level of 
training provided in advance of reports being submitted. 

▪ Based on the number of responses to our questionnaire, we are 
concerned that the engagement of the PB is low. We did ourselves 
observe a lack of engagement by many PB members at the meeting.  We 
therefore recommend that a focus is placed on ensuring all members are 
encouraged to actively participate in meetings to aid the PB in its role. 

 

 

Page 144



 Governance Review | Effectiveness Questionnaires 
 
 

 
Aon  47 
 

▪  

Conclusions 
Our overall conclusion is that the governance of the Fund is of a good 
standard in many areas, meets legal requirements in the matters we 
have considered, and in a number of areas the Administering Authority 
is demonstrating best practice. We note that significant improvements 
in relation to the governance of the Fund appear to have been made 
over the past year or so with a number of policies being put in place 
over this period, including a Training Strategy and Risk Register, along 
with enhancements to the reports provided to the Pension Committee 
and the Fund's Business plan. 

We have made a number of recommendations for further 
improvements that could be made, and these are set out in the 'At a 
glance…' section at this start of this report.  

We recommend that the Administering Authority considers and 
discusses the recommendations set out in this report. We further 
recommend that an action plan is developed in relation to implementing 
these recommendations, in order that progress can be monitored on an 
ongoing basis. 

We look forward to answering any questions in relation to the report, 
and particularly any areas where we have highlighted that 
improvements could be made. 

Finally, we would like to thank the officers and members of the PC and 
PB for their assistance throughout this review. 

Page 145



Governance Review | Further information 
 
 

   
48  Aon 
 

 

Further information 
 
 

Page 146



 Governance Review | Appendix A – Reference Material 
 

 
Aon  49 
 

Appendix A – Reference 
Material 

This appendix lists the various documents that were 
considered as part of this Governance Review. 

▪ Investment Strategy Statement (ISS) (March 2021) 

▪ Funding Strategy Statement (FSS) (March 2021) 

▪ Governance Policy Statement (February 2020) 

▪ Governance Compliance Statement (July 2017) 

▪ Communications Policy Statement (August 2018)  

▪ Pension Administration Strategy (April 2017) 

▪ Gloucestershire County Council Constitution (October 2020) 

▪ Terms of Reference Pension Committee 

▪ Terms of Reference Pension Board 

▪ Risk register (March 2021) 

▪ Draft Pension Fund Training Plan (2021/2022 – 2022/2023) 

▪ Training Strategy (April 2021) 

▪ Policy for Reporting Breaches of the Law (not dated but we understand it 
was last reviewed in 2016) 

▪ Administering Authority Discretions (September 1999)  

▪ Actuarial valuation report as at 31 March 2019 (dated March 2020) 

▪ Business Plan 2021-22 

▪ Pension Committee and Pension Board meeting papers  
 

Page 147



Governance Review | Appendix B – Effectiveness Questionnaires 
 

   
50  Aon 
 

Appendix B – 
Effectiveness 
Questionnaires 

We show below the results of the effectiveness questionnaires. The results 
are split between the PC questionnaire and the PB questionnaire. The bars 
in the graphs below are colour coded to highlight particularly positive or 
negative answers. A key is provided on each page.   

 

 
 

Page 148



 

 

 
G

overnance R
eview

 | E
ffectiveness Q

uestionnaires 

 A
on 

 
51 

Pension Committee: Effectiveness of meetings 

 

 

 

P
age 149



 

 

G
overnance R

eview
 | E

ffectiveness Q
uestionnaires 

 
 

 
52 

 
A

on 

Pension Committee: Accessibility, Format and Usefulness of Information 

 

P
age 150



 

 

 
G

overnance R
eview

 | E
ffectiveness Q

uestionnaires 

 A
on 

 
53 

 

P
age 151



 

 

G
overnance R

eview
 | E

ffectiveness Q
uestionnaires 

 
 

 
54 

 
A

on 

Pension Committee: Knowledge and Understanding 

 

P
age 152



 

 

 
G

overnance R
eview

 | E
ffectiveness Q

uestionnaires 

 A
on 

 
55 

Pension Committee: Administration of Meetings 

 P
age 153



 

 

G
overnance R

eview
 | E

ffectiveness Q
uestionnaires 

 
 

 
56 

 
A

on 

Pension Committee: Governance Structure 

 

P
age 154



 

 

 
G

overnance R
eview

 | E
ffectiveness Q

uestionnaires 

 A
on 

 
57 

Pension Committee: Vision for the Future 

 

P
age 155



 

 

G
overnance R

eview
 | E

ffectiveness Q
uestionnaires 

 
 

 
58 

 
A

on 

 

Pension Committee: Compliance 

 

P
age 156



 

 

 
G

overnance R
eview

 | E
ffectiveness Q

uestionnaires 

 A
on 

 
59 

Pension Committee: Business Planning 

 

Pension Committee: Risk management 

 

P
age 157



 

 

G
overnance R

eview
 | E

ffectiveness Q
uestionnaires 

 
 

 
60 

 
A

on 

Pension Committee Summary and final comments 

 

 

P
age 158



 

 

 
G

overnance R
eview

 | E
ffectiveness Q

uestionnaires 

 A
on 

 
61 

Pension Board: Effectiveness of Meetings  

 

 

 

0 1 2 3

Do you find the length of the Pension Board meetings:

Do you find the level of discussion at the meetings:

Do you feel the meetings are ever rushed?

Do you feel meetings revisit old ground, having the same discussions more than once?

Do you feel you are given sufficient opportunity to ask questions or raise concerns at
meetings?

Do you ever feel inhibited about asking questions or raising concerns at meetings?

Do you feel any questions you ask or concerns you raise are, on the whole, sufficiently
considered and dealt with?

On the whole, are the meetings chaired well?

Do you feel the meetings are dominated by certain individuals?

Do you feel there are key areas of business that are not being considered by the Board
which should be?

Is there appropriate opportunity to catch up when you've missed a meeting?  Do you
utilise this opportunity?

Do you feel you have appropriate opportunity to ask for specific items to be added to the
agenda?

Within the last two years, has the effectiveness of the meetings (as defined by the
questions in this section):

Pension Board: Effectiveness of Meetings 

Good Acceptable Concern Don't Know

P
age 159



 

 

G
overnance R

eview
 | E

ffectiveness Q
uestionnaires 

 
 

 
62 

 
A

on 

Pension Board: Accessibility, Format and Usefulness of Information 

 

P
age 160



 

 

 
G

overnance R
eview

 | E
ffectiveness Q

uestionnaires 

 A
on 

 
63 

Pension Board: Knowledge and Understanding 

 

P
age 161



 

 

G
overnance R

eview
 | E

ffectiveness Q
uestionnaires 

 
 

 
64 

 
A

on 

Pension Board: Administration of Meetings 

 

Pension Board: Governance Structure 

 

P
age 162



 

 

 
G

overnance R
eview

 | E
ffectiveness Q

uestionnaires 

 A
on 

 
65 

Pension Board: Pension Fund Compliance 

 

Pension Board: Pension Fund Business Planning 

 

 

P
age 163



 

 

G
overnance R

eview
 | E

ffectiveness Q
uestionnaires 

 
 

 
66 

 
A

on 

Pension Board: Risk management 

 

Pension Board: Summary and further comments 

 

P
age 164



 Governance Review | Effectiveness Questionnaires 
 
 

 
Aon  67 
 

  
 
 

 
Daniel Kanaris 
Senior Consultant 

0117 900 4447  
daniel.kanaris@aon.com 
  

 

 
Karen McWilliam 
Partner 

07711016707 
karen.mcwilliam@aon.com 
  

 

 
Scott Campbell FIA 
Senior Consultant 

0117 900 4412  
scott.campbell.2@aon.com 
  

  
 

 

 

Aon plc (NYSE:AON) is a leading global professional services firm providing a broad range of risk, 
retirement and health solutions. Our 50,000 colleagues in 120 countries empower results for clients by 
using proprietary data and analytics to deliver insights that reduce volatility and improve performance. 

 

Copyright © 2021 Aon Solutions UK Limited. All rights reserved. aon.com. Aon Solutions UK Limited is authorised 
and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Registered in England & Wales No. 4396810. Registered office: 
The Aon Centre | The Leadenhall Building | 122 Leadenhall Street | London | EC3V 4AN. This document and any 
enclosures or attachments are prepared on the understanding that they are solely for the benefit of the addressee(s).  
Unless we provide express prior written consent no part of this document should be reproduced, distributed or 
communicated to anyone else and, in providing this document, we do not accept or assume any responsibility for any 
other purpose or to anyone other than the addressee(s) of this document. In this context, “we” includes any Aon 
Scheme Actuary appointed by you. To protect the confidential and proprietary information included in this document, 
it may not be disclosed or provided to any third parties without the prior written consent of Aon Solutions UK Limited. 
 

 

 

   

Page 165

http://www.aon.com/


This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 167

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 179

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 185

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 187

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 Minutes -
	8 Gloucestershire Pension Fund Quarterly Update - Part 1
	Agenda Item 8 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 1 - Appendix 1
	Agenda Item 8 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 1 - Appendix 2
	Agenda Item 8 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 1 - Appendix 3
	Agenda Item 8 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 1 - Appendix 4

	9 Risk Register
	Agenda Item 9 - Risk Register - Appendix 1

	10 Governance Review
	Agenda Item 10 - Governance Review - Appendix 1
	At a glance…
	Direction – What is the Fund trying to achieve?
	Delivery – How does the Fund meet its aims?
	Decisions – Does the Fund have effective decision making?

	Introduction
	Purpose and Scope
	Research

	Governance Framework
	Aon governance framework
	RAG rating
	Expected Changes to Governance in the LGPS
	Scheme Advisory Board – Good Governance report
	The Pensions Regulator's New Code
	CIPFA's Knowledge and Skills Code and Framework


	Direction – What are you trying to achieve?
	Strategies and policies – meeting key requirements
	General comments on Strategies and policies
	Document structure / key contents

	Strategies and policies – document structure
	Adherence to The Pensions Regulator Code of Practice
	Additional comments on Funding Strategy Statement and Investment Strategy Statement

	Delivery – How do you meet your aims?
	Business Planning
	Performance Measurement
	Risk Management

	Decisions – Do you have effective decision making?
	Appropriate governance structure
	The function of the PC
	( We note that the duties of the PC set out in the Constitution are relatively wide ranging.  However, one observation we do have is that the majority of the duties are investment focused, and there is limited reference to duties relating to administr...
	The function of the PB
	( We note that the responsibilities of the PB are clearly stated in the Council's Constitution, the Governance Policy and are consistent with the LGPS regulations.  We note that the Terms of Reference includes all the key points that we would expect t...
	Clearly documented Scheme of Delegation
	Appropriate representation
	Sufficient diversity of thought/approach amongst those tasked with making decisions
	Appropriate level of decision making and quick decision making where appropriate
	Well-presented information/reports
	Sufficient time for discussion
	Good quality (committee) administration
	Managing conflicts of interest

	Transparency to Stakeholders
	Skills and knowledge
	Clearly articulated knowledge and skills requirements in a Fund policy
	Providing ongoing training in an effective and suitable manner to meet those requirements
	Regularly review whether knowledge aspirations are being met
	Rely appropriately on officers and advisers to provide expert knowledge
	( It is not clear to the extent that the PC have sight of other officers, e.g. Chief Finance Officer (S151 officer), Director of Finance, Head of Administration etc. One respondent to the questionnaire noted that the PC rarely have any direct contract...
	Behaviour
	Attendance at Meetings
	General Behaviour


	Effectiveness Questionnaires
	Pension Committee
	Pension Board

	Appendix A – Reference Material
	Appendix B – Effectiveness Questionnaires
	Pension Committee: Effectiveness of meetings
	Pension Committee: Accessibility, Format and Usefulness of Information
	Pension Committee: Knowledge and Understanding
	Pension Committee: Administration of Meetings
	Pension Committee: Governance Structure
	Pension Committee: Vision for the Future
	Pension Committee: Compliance
	Pension Committee: Business Planning
	Pension Committee: Risk management
	Pension Committee Summary and final comments
	Pension Board: Effectiveness of Meetings
	Pension Board: Accessibility, Format and Usefulness of Information
	Pension Board: Knowledge and Understanding
	Pension Board: Administration of Meetings
	Pension Board: Governance Structure
	Pension Board: Pension Fund Compliance
	Pension Board: Pension Fund Business Planning
	Pension Board: Risk management
	Pension Board: Summary and further comments



	12 Exempt Minutes
	13 Gloucestershire Pension Fund Quarterly Update - Part 2
	Agenda Item 13 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 2 - Appendix 1
	Agenda Item 13 - Gloucestershire Pension Fund Update - Part 2 - Appendix 2




